
Kermit Williams, District 7 
President 
Randy Carter, District 4 
President Pro Tern 

PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

✓ 
,_;,; I, f 

'-.t-t~,/' 

Patrice Waterman, District 1 
Don Woodward, District 2 
Mary Pietila, District 3 
Gloria Miller, District 5 
Dr. Doris Taylor Burks, District 6 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of a family-friendly community that is a great place to live, work and play. " 

Call to order 

Invocation 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembers 

FORMAL MEETING 
February 5, 2019 

6:00P.M. 
69°1 Session of the 10th Council 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Minutes 

1. Meeting of January 29, 2019 

Closed Session 

Garland S. Doyle 
Interim City Clerk 

2. Resolution to go into Closed Session regarding Pontiac City Council vs Deirdre Waterman, as Mayor of the 
City of Pontiac, and Nevrus Nazarko, as Director of the City of Pontiac Finance Department 

Subcommittee Reports 

3. Public Works- January 23, 2019 

Special Presentation 

4. Rehmann Robson- Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Recognition of Elected Officials 

Agenda Address 

Agenda Items for Consideration 



Resolutions from January 22, 2019 

Community and Economic Development 
5. Resolution Requesting the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to Review 140 South 

Saginaw Street. 

6. Resolution Concurring with the Provisions of a Brownfield Plan Adopted by the Oakland County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority for 140 South Saginaw Street. 

New Resolutions 

Planning Commission 
7. Resolution to Concur with the Planning Commission's Recommendation to Deny the Carter/City Council 

Zoning Text Amendment of City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to include Medical Marihuana Facilities within 
the City of Pontiac. 

8. Resolution to Approve the Revised Planning Commission's Recommendation for the Zoning Text Amendment 
of City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to include Medical Marihuana Facilities within the City of Pontiac as an 
Emergency Ordinance pursuant to Pontiac City Charter Provision 3 .112( e ), to include uses of Medical 
Marihuana Facilities in Overlay Districts and to Regulate the Proliferation of Medical Marihuana Facilities 
within the City of Pontiac and Thereby Ensure the Health and Safety of its Residents and Shall be Given 
Immediate Effect. 

Controller 
9. Resolution to Establish the Medical Marihuana Facility Permit Application Fee at Five Thousand Dollars 

($5000.00). (Information forthcoming) 

City Council 
10. Resolution for Mayor to Provide Monthly Check Register to City Council. 

Public Comment 

Mayor, Clerk and Council Closing Comments 

Adjournment 





January 29, 2019 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

68th Session of the Tenth Council 

A Study Session of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order in City Hall, Tuesday, 
January 29, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. by Council President Kermit Williams. 

Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Members Present: Carter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Williams and Woodward. 
Members Absent: Waterman. 
Mayor Waterman was present. 
Clerk announced a quorum. 

19-23 Excuse Councilperson Patrice Waterman for personal reasons. Moved by 
Councilperson Woodward and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Williams, Woodward and Carter 
No: None 
Motion Carried. 

19-24 Amend the agenda to remove items #4 & #5 (resolution approving a 2018- 2019 
budget amendment for City Clerk and Elections for obtaining a professional expert to assist in the 
medical marihuana facilities ordinance and resolution approving engagement letter between the 
City Clerk of Pontiac and Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone P.L.C. to provide professional 
expert assistance to the interim City Clerk in performing his duties and responsibilities required 
under medical marihuana facilities ordinance) from the agenda. Moved by Councilperson Woodward 
and second by Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Williams, Woodward, Carter and Miller 
No: None 
Motion Carried. 

19-25 Approve the Agenda as amended. Moved by Councilperson Miller and second by 
Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

1 



January 29, 2019 

Ayes: Taylor-Burks, Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller and Pietila 
No: None 
Motion Carried. 

19-26 Approve minutes of January 22, 2019. Moved by Councilperson Woodward and 
second by Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller, Pietila and Taylor-Burks 
No:None 
Motion Carried. 

Special Presentation on Medical Marihuana - Vernon Gustafsson, Planning Manager and Mayor 
Waterman 

Twenty-one (21) individuals addressed the body during public comment. 

Councilman Don Woodward left meeting around 7:30 p.m. 

19-27 Motion to recommend the City Planning Commission review the potential to include 
a maximum of four Provisioning Centers in each Overlay District (Downtown, Cesar Chavez and 
Walton Blvd) as well as the remaining eight Provisioning Centers in conforming parcels outside 
those Overlay Districts. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and second by Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Williams, Carter, Miller, Pietila, and Taylor-Burks 
No:None 
Motion Carried. 

Council President Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 8:45 p.m. 

2 

GARLAND S. DOYLE 
INTERIM CITY CLERK 





City of Pontiac 

Pontiac City Council 

Whereas, Section 8 (e), MCL 15.268, permits a public body "[to] consult with its attorney regarding trial 

or settlement strategy in connection with specific pending litigation, but only if an open meeting would 

have detrimental financial effect on the litigation or settlement position of the public body": and, 

Whereas, the Pontiac City Council believes that an open meeting would have a detrimental financial 

effect on the litigating or settlement position of the City. 

Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Pontiac City Council recesses into closed session for the purpose of 

consulting with its attorney regarding settlement strategy in the litigation case for Pontiac City Council 

vs. Deirdre Waterman, As Mayor of the City of Pontiac, and Nevrus, as Director of the City of Pontiac 

Finance Department. 





DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS SUB-COMMITTEE NOTES 

January 23, 2019 

In attendance: 
Council members: Chairperson Doris Taylor- Burks, Don Woodward and Kermit Williams 
Deputy Mayor: Jane Bais-Disessa 
DPW Director: John Balint 

Start time: 4:00 pm 
AGENDA 

I. Budget Rollovers 

Phoenix Center Litigation (not discussed, resolved) 
The appropriations in the General Fund required an increase of $3,550,000 due to the payment 
executed on 11/15/2018. 

A. General Fund 
1. $3,526- Computer equipment for DPW department budgeted, but not expended 
There was $13,000 allocated for tablets. Two positions have not been filled, the Deputy DPW 
Director and the Right Away Instructor, so two tablets were not purchased. 

2. $101,310-Tele-Van transportation services not expended 
It was questioned as to whether the service is paid for by SJ\tlART and the only cost for the City, 
is the compensation for a driver. There is no plan in place; however, the intent is to provide a 
bigger program and to provide transportation for both seniors and the youth. Traditionally the 
program has only been for seniors. The rollover item will be sent to the Community Development 
subcommittee for discussion. 

3. $20,000- Grass cutting expenditures budgeted, but not expended 
DPW held back money owed to the contractors for grass cutting. Twenty five (25%) percent was 
reduced from the bills for May and June, which have not been paid. There has not been a meeting 
yet, to determine the actual amount that has to be paid. 

Question: How much would it cost to pay Advance for an extra leaf pick-up? Considering that 
there is still an abundance ofleaves(bags) throughout the City that still need to be picked-up. The 
cold weather came later this year. If the cost is feasible, it was requested to have an additional 
pick-up. 

So far, there may be a savings with the cost of snow removal, to be determined. 

B. Local Street Fund 

1. $121,151-ACT 51 funding from FY 18 recognized in FY 19 (60 day rule) 
Received 60 days after fiscal year from MDOT. ACT 51 funding has to be rolled over for road 
maintenance. This would assist with major patches on streets for a permanent frn:. 

1 



• Flashing light on Auburn, having a crossing designed, sight distance study being done now. 
Can funds be used for the location at Bloomfield on the River and Telegraph? There is a planning 
meeting and a design ready to go. They will do additional street lights and we will pay the energy 
costs. Rapid, flashing beacons and a brighter corridor. LED's are used and are equivalent to 500 
watts. 

S. Edith is still dark. There was an assessment and it was determined that there was enough light. 
A request was made to go back out again for another assessment. 

2. $106,775- Non-motorized construction and sidewalk repair 
No CDBG funds used. There is a savings and expanding the project. Two weeks or less. The 
process does not affect the structural stability and has helped tremendously. Paddock and Pike, 
NE corner. 

Is there money for right-of-way tree removal? There is money. Doubled budget for major and 
local. Master plan for trees is eight to ten years. If you cut down trees, expenses will go up and the 
actual cost of tree cutting is more than tree removal. There hasn't been tree trimming in over 
twenty years. In April, there will be a master plan for trees. A consultant is devising a map into ten 
sections and from that point, the City will take three random squares and trim trees within the 
squares. The cost will determine whether the Master Plan will be eight (8) or ten (10) years. 

• The money for local street repairs is in the general fund. Question: whether block grant money 
can free-up some money? Crestwood and Ailene were the last two. 

3. $970,160- Kettering Road Repair 
Bid and ready to go. 

4. $610,000- Jessie road repair 
frwin is not that bad and was replaced with Jessie. 

• Steed Park in Master Plan that will be completed in April. The City has 27-30 parks, more 
parks than money to maintain. At some point, there should be some discussion regarding 
getting rid of some of the parks. Obviously, parks that receive state and federal dollars cannot 
be sold. The Executive will at some point work with the State to review a map which will 
reflect the parks and vacant lots in order to determine if some can be sold or re-purposed. 

• Some discussion regarding re-purposing property and creating a municipal complex. Should 
funds be put into buildings that cannot be retrofitted to accommodate the needs of the City? 

• City Hall was constructed before the ADA implemented certain requirements; therefore, the 
cost of making some changes lil,:e an elevator would be quite considerable. A study was 
conducted of the building and 2.3 million will be needed in 3-5 years. A new elevator could 
cost approximately $500,000 and new controls would be required which cost approximately 
$120,000. 

5. $170,436- additional funding as needed for road repairs 

C. Youth Recreation Fund 
1. $70,000- Vehicle purchase budgeted, but not expended 

2 



Referred to Community Development for further discussion. 

D. Cemetery Fund 
1. $4,828-Grass cutting expenditures budgeted, but not expended 
Covenant putting money into a perpetual fund and the former Finance Director started putting 
money into the fund. 

E. Senior Activities Fund 
1. $204,600- Ruth Peterson roof repair 
The money is a carry over. 
Question: is there a need for two senior centers? There should only be one senior center, but for 
now, the money will be kept for the repair until a future decision is made to consolidate. 

F. Cable Fund 
1. $722,351-Video equipment 
The rollover is sent to the cable subcommittee for further discussion. However, it was explained 
that the Council appropriated $63,000 for new chairs to replace the old chairs in the Council 
Chambers. The former Cable Director discussed being able to transform the Chambers into a 
studio, so that the Council could host television shows etc. Also, the Cable department was under 
the Council prior to the Emergency Manager and since the Emergency Manager, Cable is now 
under the Executive. City Hall will receive new windows and the cost is approximately $500,000. 
It was questioned whether new windows will impact the lighting when filming in the chambers. 
To be discussed further at the cable subcommittee along with the uniformity of the chairs, colors, 
etc. 

G. Capital Improvement Fund 

1. $290,000- City Hall parking lot repair 
The lot is being milled. There is a lot of unused space and a determination should be made if areas 
can be re-purposed. A study will be conducted to determine if there are too many spaces or if green 
spaces can be created Consideration is also give to the light polls with the electrical, so there will 
be a review of different layouts. 

2. $1,117,000-Building additions and improvements to City Hall and Courthouse 
$90,000 will be expended at the Courthouse to adhere to the requirements of the Indigent Defense 
Fund which is aside from the money allotted in the City's budget. 

3. $25,000-repairs for Ottawa Park Cemetery 
A new boiler is needed. 

4. $25,000-repairs for Oak Hill Cemetery 
Electrical lighting is needed. 

5. $80,000- Police station improvements 
Security system and boiler are needed. 

3 



Additional issues: 

• Joslyn Road 
There is a complaint that because the light on Perry has been removed, there is difficulty leaving 
a subdivision. It was determined from a study, that the light was not necessary and that is why the 
light was removed. The study ranked in the tenth percentile. 

• Skate Park in Oakland Park 
There was some discussion regarding ·the skate park in a Master Plan meeting. 
Question: is Oakland Park is the right place for the skate park? Assurances requested. In the 
summer, there is a lot of use. The proponents of the skate park argue that the park is not up to 
date and would like to see it updated and look like a pool that has been drained of water. Will 
review further and have the representative from Oakland University at the next meeting. 

Adjourned: 5:05 pm 

4 





m n Rehmann Robson 

1600 W. Big Beaver Rd. 
2nd Floor 
Troy, MI 48084 
P: 248,952.5000 
F: 248.952.5750 
rehmann.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 

December 19, 2018 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Pontiac 
Pontiac, Michigan 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Pontiac (the "City") as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and have 
issued our report thereon dated December 19, 2018. We did not audit the financial statements of the 
General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA, and the Police 
and Fire Retirement System. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report 
thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion on the financial statements and th1s report, insofar as 
they relate to the General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System 
VEBA, and the Police and Fire Retirement System, are based solely on the report of other auditors. 
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated October 4, 2018, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express opinions about whether the financial statements that have 
been prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City solely for the 
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you. 

We have provided a finding regarding internal control over financial reporting and compliance noted 
during our audit in a separate letter to you dated December 19, 2018. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in 
our engagement letter and in our meeting about planning matters on September 24, 2018. 

I\ member of 

CPAs & Consultants Wealth Advisors Corporate lnvestigatorn ·Nexia 
lnt.P.rn;,tionill 



Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm has complied with all relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence. 

Qualitative Aspects of the City's Significant Accounting Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

As described in Note 21 to the financial statements, the City changed accounting policies related to other 
postemployment benefit plans by adopting Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB 
Statement) No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than 
Pensions. The cumulative effect of the accounting change as of the beginning of the year is reported in 
the Statement of Activities. 

No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform 
you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of 
significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management's current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management's current 
judgments. 

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements were: 

• Management's estimate of the useful lives of depreciable capital assets is based on the length 
of time it is believed that those assets will provide some economic benefit in the future. 

• Management's estimate of the accrued compensated absences is based on current hourly 
rates and policies regarding payment of sick and vacation banks. 

• Management's estimate of the allowance for uncollectible receivable balances is based on 
past experience and future expectation for collection of various account balances. 

• Management's estimate of the insurance claims incurred but not reported is based on 
information provided by the entity's third-party administrators and subsequent claims 
activity. 

• The assumptions used in the actuarial valuations of the pension and other postemployment 
benefits plans are based on historical trends and industry standards. 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined that they 
are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the 
applicable opinion units. 

Page 2 



Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of 
the audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate 
them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also 
communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each 
applicable opinion unit. In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, 
corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit 
procedures. The significant misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by 
management are described in the Schedule of Findings and Responses issued in connection with our 
report on internal control over financial reporting. 

The schedule of adjustments passed is included with management's written representations in 
Attachment B to this letter, and summarizes uncorrected financial statement misstatements whose 
effects in the current and prior periods, as determined by management, are immaterial, both individually 
and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole and each applicable opinion unit. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to the City's financial statements or the auditors' report. No such 
disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in Attachment 
B to this letter. 

Management's Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings. or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and 
regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks 
of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the 
City's auditors. 

Page 3 



Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 

Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, as 
described by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary information in 
relation to the financial statements as a whole and to report on whether the supplementary information 
is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. We made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and 
the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards 

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are continually changing in order to promote the 
usability and enhance the applicability of information included in external financial reporting. While it 
would not be practical to include an· in-depth discussion of every upcoming change in professional 
standards, Attachment A to this letter contains a brief overview of recent pronouncements of the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and their related effective dates. Management is 
responsible for reviewing these standards, determining their applicability, and implementing them in 
future accounting periods. 

This information is intended solely for the use of the governing body and management of the City of 
Pontiac and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

Page 4 



CITY OF PONTIAC 

IAttachment A ~ Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards I Regulations 
For the June 30, 2018 Audit 

The following pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) have been released 
recently and may be applicable to the City in the near future. We encourage management to review the 
following information and determine which standard(s) may be applicable to the City. For the complete 
text of these and other GASB standards, visit www.gasb.org and click on the "Standards 8: Guidance" tab. If 
you have questions regarding the applicability, timing, or implementation approach for any of these 
standards, please contact your audit team. 

GASB 83 Ill Certain Asset Retirement Obligations 
Effective 06/ 1512019 (your FY 2019) 

This standard addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations--legally 
enforceable liabilities associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset. We do not expect this 
standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 84 1!111 Fiduciary Activities 
Effective 12/ 1512019 (your FY 2020) 

This standard establishes new criteria for determining how to report fiduciary activities in governmental 
financial statements. The focus is on whether the government is controlling the assets, and who the 
beneficiaries are. Under this revised standard, certain activities previously reported in agency funds may be 
reclassified in future periods. Due to the number of specific factors to consider, we will continue to assess 
the degree to which this standard may impact the City. 

GASB 85 II Omnibus 2017 
Effective 06/15/2018 (your FY 2018) 

This standard includes a variety of small technical revisions to previously issued GASB statements. We do 
not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 86 11111 Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues 
Effective 06/15/2018 (your FY 2018) 

This standard provides guidance for reporting the in-substance defeasance of outstanding debt obligations 
using existing resources. Qualifying transactions will remove both the assets placed into trust and the 
related debt obligation from the government's statement of net position. We do not expect this standard to 
have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 87 1111 Leases 
Effective 12 I 15 I 2020 (your FY 2021) 

This standard establishes a single model for reporting all leases (including those previously classified as 
operating and capital). Lessees will now report offsetting intangible lease assets and lease liabilities equal 
to the present value of future lease payments. Lessors will report offsetting lease receivables and deferred 
inflows of resources. 

A1 



CITY OF PONTIAC 

• /Attachment A- Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards I Regulations 
For the June 30, 2018 Audit 

GASB 88 1111 Certain Disclosures Related to Debt 
Effective 06/15/2019 (your FY 2019) 

This standard provides guidance on note disclosures related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct 
placements. It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information 
related to debt. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 89 11111 Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period 
Effective 12/15/2020 (your FY 2021) 

This standard eliminates the requirement for governments to capitalize interest during the construction 
period for business-type activities. As this simplifies the accounting for interest, early implementation is 
encouraged. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 90 11 Majority Equity Interests 
Effective 12/15/2019 (your FY 2020) 

This standard addresses situations in which a government acquires a majority of the equity interest in a 
legally separate organization, and whether such holdings should be reported as an investment or a 
component unit. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

111111111111 



CITY OF PONTIAC 

1Attachment A~ Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards/ Regulations 
For the June 30, 2018 Audit 

GASB 88 Ill Certain Disclosures Related to Debt 

Effective 06/15/2019 (your FY 2019) 

This standard provides guidance on note disclosures related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct 
placements. It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information 
related to debt. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 89 Ill Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period 

Effective 12/15/2020 (your FY 2021) 

This standard eliminates the requirement for governments to capitalize interest during the construction 
period for business-type activities. As this simplifies the accounting for interest, early implementation is 
encouraged. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 90 11111 Majority Equity Interests 

Effective 12/15/2019(yourFY2020) 

This standard addresses situations in which a government acquires a majority of the equity interest in a 
legally separate organization, and whether such holdings should be reported as an investment or a 
component unit. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

11111111111111111!1 

A2 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

!Attachment B m Management Representations 
For the June 30, 2018 Audit 

Following are the written representations that we requested from management. 

B1 



December 19, 2018 

Rehmann Robson 
675 Robinson Road 
Jackson, Ml 49203 

ATER.lVJ.A.l\l 

Jv.lAYOR 

(:]lTY 01•' POJ\TTJAC: 

This representation letter is provided In connection with your audit of the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component 
units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Pontiac, M;chigan 
(the "City"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 20181 and the related notes to the financial 
statements, for the purpose of expressing opinions on whether the basic financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows, where 
applicable, and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund and each major special 
revenue fund of the City in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted for governments in 
the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items 
are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, In the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm that, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately 
informing ourselves as of December 19, 2018: 

Financial Statements 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated 
October 4, 2018, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of the various 
opinion units referred to above in accordance with U.S. GMP. We have reviewed, approved, and 
taken responsibility for the financial statements and related notes. 

2. We have reviewed and approved the various adjusting journal entries that were proposed by you for 
recording in our books and records and reflected in the financial statements. 

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

47450 Woodward Avenue Pontiac, Michigan '183,,12 
Direct: (248) '1.58-3181 • Appointrnents: (248) 7.58-3326 • Fax: (248) '/ .58-3292 

E>mail: DWaterman@pontiac.mi.us wwv.r.pontiac.mi.us 
https: / /wwvv.facebookcom/pontiacmayor / 



Rehmann Robson 
Page 2 of 4 

4. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control to prevent and detect fraud. 

5. Significant assumptions used by us in mal<ing accounting estimates, including those measured at fair 
value, are reasonable. 

6. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. For the purposes of this letter, related parties 
mean members of the governing body; board members; administrative officials; immediate families 
of administrative officials, board members, and members.of the governing body; and any companies 
affiliated with or owned by such individuals. 

7. The effects of uncorrected misstatements summarized in the attached schedule and aggregated by 
you during the current engagement are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the 
applicable opinion units and to the financial statements as a whole, 

8. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and 
disclosed In accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

9. With regard to items reported at fair value: 
a. The underlying assumptions are reasonable and they appropriately reflect management's intent 

and ability to carry out its stated courses of action. 
b. The measurement methods and related assumptions used in determining fair value are 

appropriate in the circumstances and have been consistently applied. 
c. The disclosures related to fair values are complete, adequate, and in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 
d. There are no subsequent events that require adjustments to the fair value measurements and 

disclosures included In the financial statements. · 
10. All component units, as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, are included and other joint 

ventures and related organizations are properly disclosed. 
11, All funds and activities are properly classified. 
12. All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements

and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments, and GASB Statement 
No. 37, Basic Financial Statements-and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local 
Governments: Omnibus, for presentation as major are identified and presented as such and all other 
funds that are presented as major are considered important to financial statement users. 

13. All components of net position and fund balance classifications have been properly reported. 
14. Alt revenues within the statement of activities have been properly classified as program revenues, 

general revenues, contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent 
fund principal. 

15. All expenses have been properly classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement 
of activities, and allocations, if any, have been made on a reasonable basis. 

16. All interfund and intra-entity transactions and balances have been properly classified and reported. 
17. Deposit and investment risks have been properly and fully disclosed. 
18, Capital assets, including infrastructure assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and if applicable, 

depreciated. 
19. All required supplementary information is measured and presented within the prescribed guidelines. 
20. We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used to measure pension and other 

postemployment benefit liabilities and costs for financial accounting purposes are appropriate in the 
circumstances. 



Rehmann Robson 
Page 3 of 4 

Information Provided 

21, We have provided you with: 
a. Access to all information, of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements of the various opinion units referred to above, such as 
records, documentation, meeting minutes, and other matters; 

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and 
c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to 

obtain audit evidence, 
22. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 

statements. 
23, We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may 

be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 
24. We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves: 

a. Management; 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

25. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity's financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, vendors, regulators, or others, 

26. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements and we have not consulted legal counsel 
concerning litigation or claims. 

27. We have disclosed to you the Identity of the entity's related parties and all the related party 
relationships and transactions of which we are aware, 

28, There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with or 
deficiencies in accounting, internal control, or financial reporting practices. 

29. The government has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities. 

30. We have disclosed to you all guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the government is 
contingently liable, 

31. We have identified and disclosed to you the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements that could have a direct and material effect on financial statement amounts, including 
legal and contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds. 

32. There are no: 
a, Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations, or provisions of contracts or grant 

agreements whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as 
a basis for recording a loss contingency, including applicable budget laws and regulations. 

b. Unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised are probable of assertion and must 
be disclosed in accordance with GASB-62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 f ASB and A/CPA Pronouncements, 

c, Other llab1llties or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by 
GASB-62, 

33. The government has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances 
on such assets nor has any asset or future revenue been pledged as collateral, except as disclosed to 
you. 

34. We have complied with al\ aspects of grant agreements and other contractual agreements that would 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. 

35. We have disclosed to you all significant estimates and material concentrations known to management 
that are required to be disclosed in accordance with GASB-62, Significant estimates are estimates at 
the balance sheet date that could change materially within the next year. Concentrations refer to 



Rehmann Robson 
Page 4 of 4 

volumes of business, revenues, available sources of supply, or markets or geographic areas for which 
events could occur that would significantly disrupt normal finances Within the next year. 

Supplementary Information in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole 

36. With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements: 
a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of the supplementary information in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
b. We believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior 

period. 
d. We believe the significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or 

presentation of the supplementary information, and the basis for our assumptions and 
interpretations, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. 

Required Supplementary Information 

37. With respect to the required supplementary information accompanying the financial statements: 
a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of the required supplementary 

information In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

b. We believe the required supplementary information, including its form and content, is measured 
and fairly presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior 
period. 

d, We believe the significant assumptions or Interpretations underlying the measurement or 
presentation of the required supplementary information, and the basis for our assumptions and 
interpretations, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

.Schedule of Adjustments., .......... .--. (SOAP) 
For the June 30, 2018 Audit 

In accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we have prepared the following schedule of proposed audit 
adjustments, which we believe are immaterial both individually and in the aggregate. We are providing this schedule 
to both management and those charged with governance to receive their assurance that they agree that the amounts 
listed below are not material to the financial statements, either individually or in the aggregate, and do not need to 
be recorded. 

Effect of Passed Adjustment - Over(Under)Statement 

Assets I 
! Beginning I Expenses/ 

Liabilities Equity j Revenues i Expenditures 

Parking fund 
$ $ (28,368) $ $ $ (28,368) 

Misstatement as a percentage of 
total liabilities • parking fund 0.000% -3.737% 0.000% 0.000% -3.737% 

Agency fund 
Open bond listing variance $ (15,300) $ (15,300) $ $ $ 

B2 





MEMORANDUM 

To: 

From: 

Through: 

Meeting: 

Honorable City Council 

Rachel Loughrin 
Economic Development Director 

Jane Bais-DiSessa 
Deputy Mayor 

January 08, 2019 

Regarding: Request for Brownfield Plan Approval and the approval of two concurring 
Resolutions for 140 South Saginaw Street (Former IRS Building) 
Parcel Number 64-14-32-235-001 a Mixed-Use Development 

140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC respectfully requests the approval of a brownfield plan for the remediation 
and renovation of a property located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac. The property is part of the interior 
of the Woodward Loop and is comprised of 1.3 acres. It is a predominant architectural feature in the 
downtown, has been vacant for 10 years and is tax reverted, meaning, it currently does not produce any tax 
revenue for the City of Pontiac. 

The historic record shows that the property originally consisted of multiple parcels and that the northern and 
eastern areas were used for gasoline and service station purposes from the mid-1920' s to the 1950' s. In 1972 
the multiple parcels were combined and the seven-story 145,000 square foot building was constructed. 

The current very poor condition of the property is an impediment to its redevelopment. The property is 
contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ Generic Residential Clean-up Criteria which qualifies it 
for 'facility' status. This means that this brownfield request for the remediation of this property falls within the 
requirements of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, PA 381 of 1996. Exceeding the GRCC 
requirements means that the site is contaminated and requires the mitigation of numerous environmental 
conditions such as petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination, asbestos containing materials, lead
based paint, several types of hazardous mold, and electrical equipment that may contain polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PCB's). 

The proposed renovations will include not only the mitigation of the environmental concerns within the 
building, but also those that affect the parcel itself. The building and improvements will be used to encapsulate 
the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination and act as engineering controls to 
prevent contact with the soil, soil vapor and groundwater contamination. Appropriate environmental measures 
will be implemented to prevent exposure of hazardous materials to human health, safety and the environment. 
The developer is in the process of undertaking additional Due Care Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
activities to assess soil, groundwater and vapor phase contamination as part of the redevelopment process. 



The estimated amount of investment for environmental due diligence, soil mitigation and infrastructure 
improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, building renovation, and addition of 
fixtures will exceed $16,047,100.00. This large amount of capital investment will be necessary to completely 
renovate the seven-story commercial building, provide maintenance for the adjacent parking lot, and provide 
continuous and on-going maintenance for the engineering controls. In addition, virtually all interior mechanical 
components of the building will need to be replaced. 

In light of the recently approved settlement of the Ottawa Towers Phoenix Center lawsuit, the clean-up and 
renovation of this building will not only help add value to the area that surrounds the Phoenix Center but will 
also provide revenue to the city in the form of paid parking for the 400 jobs that will be created or moved into 
the city as an element of this mixed-use/office development. 

These permeant jobs will have a typical annual salary of $62,400.00 creating a new project related payroll of 
$24,960,000 that will be taxed by the city at a rate of either .5 percent or 1 percent, depending on the residency 
status of the employee. In addition, this project will create 90 temporary construction jobs for a total project 
related temporary payroll of $13,384,800.00. This amount will also be taxed at the city's income tax rate as 
appropriate. 

This brownfield request is for an estimated total of 18 years and will collect $3,064,660. Following the 
completion of the project, the tax revenue will increase from zero to $245,081 per year. 

Of the $3,064,660 to be captured $1,412,802 will be captured from the city's portion of the taxes paid by 
this new development project. The rest will be captured from the other taxing jurisdictions. 

The Administration recommends the approval of this request as it will rid the city of another contaminated and 
blighted property, will provide 400 new tax paying jobs and will help to provide parking revenue for the 
Phoenix Center garage. The developer will hold a workforce symposium here in Pontiac where they will discuss the 
positions available and help local Pontiac residents find work on their project. 



Resolution Requesting the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to Review the 
140 South Saginaw Street 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac has a Brownfield project known as 140 South Saginaw Street that it would like 
to have reviewed and processed by the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority; 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac has a Brownfield Authority but desires to have the Oakland County Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority handle the 140 South Saginaw Street; 

WHEREAS the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority was created by Oakland County 
pursuant to MCL 125.2651 et seq. to assist jurisdictions like the City of Pontiac; 

WHEREAS the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority is prepared to assist the City of Pontiac 
by reviewing the proposed 140 South Saginaw Street, provided that the City of Pontiac acknowledges certain 

rights that the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority has, to wit: 

• OCBRA intends to collect an administrative fee of $5,000.00 per year for the length of the Brownfield 
plan; and 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac will have the opportunity to provide public comment on any Brownfield plan 
(including the amount of the administrative fee to be collected) before it is finally adopted by the OCBRA 

and/or the Oakland County Board of Commissioners; 

NOW BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac requests that the OCBRA undertake review of 
the 140 South Saginaw. 



Proposed Mixed-use Office Development 
Brownfield Plan 

For the 

Southwest Corner ofW. Judson Street and S. Saginaw Street 
140 S. Saginaw Street 

Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 48342 

' OAKIAND . 
( Q u N T y M I ~ tfl(AN 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Pre ared for 

140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC 
c/o Walbridge 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 300 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
Attn: Mr. Adorno Piccinini, Asst. V.P./Associate 
Broker, Real Estate Development/ Asset 
Management 
T (313) 442-1298 
F (313) 234-0614 
M (313) 466-9117 
E apiccinin1(a)walbrnlge_com 
W www.walbrid e.com 

Mr. Nicholas G. Maloof, RPG 
President and General Counsel 
Associated Environmental Services, LLC 
6001 North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
T (248) 203-9898 
F (248) 647-0526 
M (248) 250-2525 
E ngm@assoliatedenvironmental.nel 
W www.associatedenvironmcntal.net 

Plan Preparation Date: Apl'il 20, 2018 (Revised on June 6, 2018 per Authority Approval on May 7, 2018) 

Approved by the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority on: May 7, 2018, Final August 21, 2018 

Approved by the County Commission on: 



Environmental Services 

Land Development 

Real Estate Consulting 

6001 North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 

June 6, 2018 

Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
2100 Pontiac Lake Road 
Building 41 W 
Waterford, MT 48328 
Attn: Mr. Brad Hansen 

Associated Environmental Services, LLC Project No. 2017011601.01 

ASSOCIATED 

SERVICES·LLC 

RE: Proposed Mixed-use Office Development Brownfield Plan for the property located at the southwest corner of W. 
Judson Street and S. Saginaw Street. Commonly known as 140 S. Saginaw Street in Pontiac, Oakland County, 
Michigan 48342 

Dear Mr. Hansen: 

Pursuant to the revisions and clarifications requested by the OCBRA Board when approving this Plan on May 7, 2018, 
enclosed is the revised and updated Brownfield Plan for the above referenced redevelopment. Note that, as requested by 
OCBRA, this version of the Brownfield Plan: (1) does not include the Simple Interest calculation included in the 
original version; and (2) includes a flat $5,000.00 annual Administrative Fee. The property is tax reverted and have 
been unoccupied for an estimated ten years or more. The property bas been identified as containing soil contamination 
exceeding the MDEQ Generic Residential Criteria (GRCC) and therefore qualifies a "faci lity" in accordance with Part 201 
of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended. Therefore, this 
Brownfield Plan is based on a "facility" status determination. 

As we discussed, please review the attached Brownfield Plan, Tables and Attachments and provide your feedback regarding 
the proposed project and capture of Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) to reimburse both the Oakland County Local Site 
Remediation Revolving Fund (LBRF) and 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC for eligible activities. The Plan incorporates: 
( I) the estimated cost and expenses of the eligible activities; (2) the estimated value of new construction investment into 
the City of Pontiac; and (3) the estimated capture of Tax Increment Revenue (TJR) from the both Local and State taxing 
jurisdictions. 

The intent of this Brownfield Plan is to present the proposed project, outline the substantial new investment in the City of 
Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan and describe the eligible activities on behalfof the developer, 140 South Saginaw 
Partners, LLC, which bas the property under contract via a Purchase Agreement with Oakland County. 

Should you have any questions or comments, please contact the undersigned at (248) 203-9898. 

Sincerely, 
ASSOCIATED ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, LLC 

Nicholas G. Maloof, RPG 
Project Manager 

NGM/bd 

Tel: 248-203-9898 / Fax; 248-647-0526 
email: associatedenv@comcast.net 
web: www.assoclatedenv1ronmental.net 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE .................................................................................... 1 

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN ...................................................... 2 

III. DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT ............................................................................................. 2 

IV. THE PROPERTY ADDRESSED IN THIS PLAN IS ELIGIBLE PROPERTY ................. 7 

V. BROWNFIELD PLAN REQUIREMENTS OF M.C.L. § 125.2663(1) ............................. l 1 
A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues ............................ 11 

B. Brief Summary of the Eligible Activities ..................................................................... 14 

C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues ............................ 15 

D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality ..................... 15 

E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness ................................................... 16 

F. Duration of Brownfield Plan ......................................................................................... 16 

G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jurisdictions. 17 

H. Legal Description, Property Map and Personal Property ............................................. 17 

I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families ................................................. 17 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons ..................................................................... 17 

K. Provisions for Relocation Costs .................................................................................... 17 

L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan's Relocation Assistance Law ....................... 18 

M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund .................. 18 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent. ................ 18 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A 
Attachment B 
Attachment C 
Attachment D 

Legal Description of Eligible Property 
Site Plan/General Concept Plan 
Estimated Eligible Activities and Tax Increment Revenues 
Executive Summary of Phase I ESA Report and Phase II ESA 
Report Data Tables with BEA Description of Site Conditions and 
Determination of "facility" Status 

Page i ofi 



PROJECT SUMMARY* 

Project Name: Proposed 140 S. Saginaw Street project being 
developed by 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC 
("Developer") c/o Walbridge LLC 

Estimated Eligible Developer Reimbursable Costs: $3,064,660.00 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF/Developer Principal Payback: 15 Years 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF/Developer Interest Payback: 0 Years1 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF Capture: 1 Partial and 3 Full Years 

Estimated Total Years to Complete All Capture: 18 Years 

Estimated Investment (Construction Costs plus Eligible Activities) by Developer: 
$16,047,100.00 

Annual Tax Revenue Before Project: Taxes - Local and School Tax ID# 64-14-32-235-001 

Estimated 2018 Tax $245,081 
Estimated Current Tax Revenue $0.00 
Estimated Tax Revenue Increase $245,081 

Estimated Total Annual Local Tax Revenue Eligible for Capture After Project: $211,141.00 in 
Year 1 (the I'' year of fully completed project. See Table 3 
of the TIR Tables in Appendix C for a complete breakdown 
between the districts) 

Estimated TIR Capture for Developer Principal: 
Estimated Developer Interest Capture: 
Estimated BRA Administrative Capture: 
Estimated State BRF Capture: 
Estimated Capture for BRA LBRF: 

Estimated Total TIR Capture: 

1 Interest is not being supported by OCBRA or City of Pontiac 

$3,064,660.00 
$ 0.001 

$ 90,000.00 
$ 229,184.00 
$ 869,476.00 

$4,253,319.00* 

* Due to the calculation decimal point rounding operations of the TIR Tables, the totals of some estimated values may not 
match exactly 

Page i ofi 



Project Overview 

The property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street (the "Property"), which is part of the interior of the 
Woodward Loop thoroughfare, the area that makes up the downtown district of the City of Pontiac. The 
Property is comprised of one legal parcel that is approximately 1.3 acres in size and its predominant 
architectural feature is a tax reverted and unoccupied seven-story building formerly used for commercial 
purposes. The Property is a prominent feature and southern gateway into downtown Pontiac. 

The proposed project being developed by 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC (the "Developer") would 
completely transform the Property by mitigating known environmental issues, rehabilitating 
infrastructural elements, and completing renovating the seven-story commercial building into a state-of
the-art mixed-use office development (the "Project"). Once completed, the proposed Project would 
return one of Pontiac's key architectural assets to the tax rolls, create jobs and activate a largely vacant 
part of downtown Pontiac serving as a catalyst for additional development. These goals also are 
supported by "Congress for New Urbanism (CNU) - Legacy Charrette "Vision for Revitalized and 
Transit Ready Downtown Pontiac" Published Spring 2016 ("CNU Report''), as that report specifically 
includes the Property in District 4, the southern gateway to downtown Pontiac. 

The proposed Project would requires mitigation of numerous environmental conditions on the Property, 
including: petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination, asbestos containing materials, lead
based paint, several types of hazardous mold, and electrical equipment that may contain polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PCBs). 

The historic record shows that the Property initially consisted of multiple parcels, and that the northern 
and eastern areas were used for gasoline and service station purposes from the mid- l 920s through the 
1950s. The scope of the environmental impact due to this past use is not clear-more investigation will 
be necessary to determine the full scope of impact. In 1972, the multiple parcels were combined, and 
the seven-story 145,000 square foot building currently on the Property was constructed. The Property 
has been vacant for over a decade and is currently tax reverted property owned by Oakland County. 

A Phase I ESA conducted in accordance with ASTM E1527-13 and All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) 
requirements was conducted by Atwell, LLC on behalf of the Developer. As prospective owner of the 
Property, the Developer intended to explore the possibility of redeveloping the Property for mixed-use. 
Atwell' s Phase I ESA identified several previous environmental assessments filings with the both the 
applicable state (MDEQ) and federal (EPA) environmental agencies. 

The MDEQ records showed two past Baseline Environmental Assessments (BEAs): Filed by LFR 
Levine Frank (LFR) dated November 11, 2005 and McDowell and Associates (McDowell) dated April 
22, 2008. Also, the Property held an EPA RCRA Non-Generator Facility classification between 1991-
2005. 

Taken together, these records indicate that: (1) US Ts were historically present on the Property; (2) 
historic uses of the Property warranted subsurface investigation (which revealed soil/groundwater 
contamination; further testing was recommended); and (3) the Property was a listed RCRA Facility 
between 1991 and 2005. 

Page i ofiv 



In addition, a Phase II ESA Subsurface Investigation conducted by Hillman Environmental Group dated 
October 6, 2004 indicates that the subsurface soil and groundwater at the Property are impacted by 
elevated concentrations of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) and metals exceeding the MDEQ 
Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) and therefore the site qualifies as a "facility" under Part 
201 of the NREPA, P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended. 

Developer has undertaken, and is in the process of undertaking, Additional Due Care Phase II 
Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) activities to assess soil, groundwater and vapor phase 
contamination as part of the redevelopment process. 

The Property also would qualify as "functionally obsolete1" as well as "blighted2" under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. P.A. 3 81 of 1996, as amended, due to the generally poor condition of the 
Property, aspects of the infrastructure, as well as mechanical aspects of the building itself, as stated in a 
Property Condition Assessment Report prepared for the Developer by Atwell, LLC under date of 
November 30, 2015. 

The Project will serve to revitalize the City of Pontiac's downtown district by reducing vacancy in the 
heart of the City. The seven-story commercial building on the Property is a key architectural feature of 
Pontiac's downtown district and is generally one of the first images visitors see as they approach Pontiac 
via northbound Woodward Avenue. The project will also significantly increase the tax base of the City 
of Pontiac by placing a blighted and vacant piece of prime real estate back on the tax rolls, as well as 
providing employment opportunities for many of the local residents. 

The eligible activities described in this Brownfield Plan are related to the specific activities necessary to 
complete the proposed re-development. The Developer is seeking reimbursement through Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) for specific Brownfield activities that pose a substantial impediment to the 
redevelopment of the Property and the development of the Project. 

The Project will involve a complete renovation of the seven-story commercial building. In addition, the 
building and improvements will be used to encapsulate the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and 
heavy metal contamination and act as engineering controls to prevent contact with the soil, soil vapor 

1 Under MCLA §125.2652(s) "Functionally obsolete" means, "that the property is unable to be used to adequately perform the function for which it was intended due to a 
substantial loss in value resulting from factors such as overcapacity, changes in technology, deficiencies or superadequacies in design, or other similar factors that affect 
the property itself or the property's relationship with other surrounding property." 

2 Under MCLA §125.2652(c) "Blighted' means property that meets any of the following criteria as determined by the governing body: 
(i) Has been declared a public nuisance in accordance with a local housing, building, plumbing, fire, or other related code or ordinance. 
(ii) Is an attractive nuisance to children because of physical condifion, use, or occupancy. 
(iii) Is a fire hazard or is otherwise dangerous to the safety of persons or property. 
(iv) Has had the utilities, plumbing, heating, or sewerage permanently disconnected, destroyed, removed, or rendered ineffective so that the properly is until 
for its in/ended use. 
(v) Is tax reverted property owned by a qualified local governmental uni/, by a county, or by /his slate. The sale, lease, or transfer of lax reverted properly by a 
qualified local governmental unit, county, or this stale after /he property's inclusion in a brownfield plan shall no/ result in the loss to the properly of the status 
as blighted properly for purposes of this act. 
(vi) Is property owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track authority, whether or not located within a qualified local governmental unit. Property 
included within a brownfield plan prior to the dale it meets the requirements of this subdivision to be eligible property shall be considered to become eligible 
property as of the date the property is determined to have been or becomes qualified as, or is combined with, other eligible property. The sale, lease, or 
transfer of the property by a land bank fast track authority after the property's inclusion in a brownfield plan shall not result in the loss to the property of the 
status as blighted property for purposes of this act. 
(vii) Has substantial buried subsurface demolition debris present so that the property is unfit for its intended use. 

Page ii ofiv 



and groundwater contamination. Appropriate environmental measures will be implemented to prevent 
exposure of hazardous materials to human health, safety, and the environment. 

The renovation activities will be undertaken after completion of the necessary soil mitigation activities, 
infrastructure improvements and site preparation activities. 

Estimated Amount of Investment 

The Developer estimate that total investment for the environmental due diligence, soil mitigation 
infrastructure improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, building 
renovation, and addition of fixtures will exceed $16,047,100.00 comprised of a minimum of 
$12,982,500.00 of Construction Costs plus an estimated $3,064,600.00 of Eligible Activities. This 
capital investment will be necessary to completely renovate the Property's seven-story commercial 
building, provide maintenance for the adjacent parking lot, and provide continuous and on-going 
maintenance for the engineering controls, as necessary. 

The interior of the building is in such a state of disrepair that a total renovation will be necessary to make 
the Property suitable for use. According to a Property Condition Assessment prepared by Atwell, 
virtually all interior mechanical components of the building will need to be replaced. 

Full-time Jobs 

According to Developer, the proposed redevelopment will create up to an estimated 400 new Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) jobs within the City of Pontiac described as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number of Total Annual Duration Total Project 
Operation Classification Hourly Hours Annual Direct Payroll Related of Jobs Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary Jobs to Project Created by (salary/wages 
(Weekly) Related to Project only) 

Project 
(Average 
11er year) 

Project Office workers, $30.00 40 $62,400.00 400 $24,960,000.00 Permanent $24,960,000.00 
Completion building 

management, 
grounds 
keeping, 
security and 
other jobs 

New 400 $24,960,000;00 $24,960,000.00 

Total Estimated Jobs and Project Payroll 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 
(Annually) 

Page iii ofiv 



The proposed job creation will benefit the City of Pontiac as the current reported U3 unemployment rate 
for Pontiac is 8.1% as of September 2017 compared to 4.7% for Michigan overall, 5.1% for the 
Detroit/Dearborn/Livonia SMSA and 4.1 % nationally as of January 2018. 

Construction Related Jobs 

According to the General Contractor for Developer, in addition to the full-time jobs created by the 
project, the proposed redevelopment will create up to 90 FTE construction jobs within the City of Pontiac 
comprised as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number Total Duration of Total Project 
Construction Classification Hourly Hours Annual of Jobs Annualized Jobs in Years Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary Related Payroll Related Created by (sala1-y/wages & 
(Weekly) to Project to Project Project (in benefits only) 

(Average years based 
per year) on# months 

construction) 

Site Construction $55.00 40 $114,400.00 90 $10,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Preparation Tradesmen and 

affiliated 
& Vertical workers 
Construction 

Construction 90 $10,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Phase Total 

Brownfield Incentives 

This Plan has been prepared to provide for Tax Increment Financing, from Local and State School Tax 
Capture, for reimbursement of eligible activities necessary to redevelop the Property. This Plan also 
incorporates collection ofTIR by the Oakland County Local Remediation Revolving Fund (LBRF) after 
repayment to Developer for the eligible activities. The eligible activities including but not limited to 
Phase I ESA, Phase II ESA, BEA, 7a Due Care Plan, Additional Due Care Phase II ESA activities, 
remediation and engineering controls, Post-development 7a Due Care Plan, Brownfield and Act 381 
Work Plan preparation and development related Hazardous Materials (Asbestos, Lead Paint, Mold, 
PCBs, etc.) Abatement, Demolition, Site Preparation and Infrastructure. The Developer will advance 
the entire cost of the eligible activities being performed on the Property under this Plan. All TIR 
generated by the Property through the Plan will be used to (1) reimburse Developer for all eligible 
activities, (2) pay up to 10% of the TIR toward BRA Management Fees and up to five (5) years of Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) TIR Capture. Developer reserves the right to apply for additional 
incentives including Oakland County and MDEQ Grants & Loans, Oakland County PACE, Community 
Revitalization Program (CRP) grants & loans and other programs/ sources that may lessen the total TIR 
required to be captured. 

Page iv ofiv 



I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

Oakland County, Michigan has established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority pursuant to 
the provisions of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, M.C.L. §125.2651 et seq. Based 
upon a referral from the City of Pontiac to the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority (hereinafter the "Authority"), this Brownfield Plan ("Plan") applies to the proposed 
Mixed-use Office Redevelopment Project within the boundaries of the City of Pontiac, Oakland 
County, Michigan (the "Project"). The proposed Project is being developed by 140 South Saginaw 
Partners, LLC ("Developer"), c/o Walbridge, LLC; Attn: Mr. Adorno Piccinini. 

The Property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street in Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 48342 
and is generally located west of S. Saginaw Street, no11h of Whittemore Street, east of Woodward 
Avenue, and South ofW. Judson Street ("Property"). The Property is comprised of one tax parcel 
identified as Tax Parcel No.: 63-14-32-235-001. 

Historic records show that the northern and eastern portions of the Propetiy were used for gasoline 
and automotive service station purposes between the mid-1920s through the 1950s. The parcels 
comprising the Property were combined in 1972, at which point a seven-sto1y commercial building 
was constrncted. The Property has been vacant and unoccupied for over a decade as of early-2018 
and is currently tax reverted and owned by Oakland County. Developer has entered into a Real 
Estate Purchase Agreement and a Development Agreement with Oakland County to acquire and 
redevelop the Property. 

As part of the redevelopment process, the Developer conducted preliminary environmental due 
diligence activities comprised of a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), Asbestos, Lead 
Based Paint and Mold Assessment and Property Condition Assessment (PCA). 

Based on the results, the Property is contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ Generic 
Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC). In addition, two prior BEAs were filed with the MDEQ: 
McDowell and Associates (dated April 22, 2008) and LFR Levine Frank (dated November 11, 
2005). 

The parcel information obtained from Oakland County Records is outlined below: 

Parcel Address Parcel N um her Facili er Part 201? 
140 S. Sa inaw 64-14-32-235-001 Yes 

Please see Attachment A for Legal Description information and Attachment B for Location Maps 
and Aerial Site Plan/General Concept Plans. 

As the parcel qualifies as a "facility", the entire development is eligible for Tax Increment 
Financing (TIF) reimbursement of eligible activities as a "Brownfield" under P.A. 381 of 1996, as 
amended. See MCLA 125.2663(13)(1) Brownfield plan; provisions. 

It is anticipated that 2018 will be the base year of the Brownfield Plan with tax increment revenue 
("TIR") capture expected to commence in 2019. However, Developer reserves the right to delay 
capture as allowed under P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended. 

Page 1 of 18 



The purpose of this Plan, to be implemented by the Authority, is to satisfy the requirements for a 
Brownfield Plan as specified in the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, P.A. 381 of 1996, 
as amended, to authorize tax increment financing ("TIF") of eligible activities and the collection 
of tax increment revenue ("TIR"), and to authorize the application for Michigan Community 
Revitalization Program ("CRP") incentive and other available incentives for eligible properties, if 
available, at the option of Developer. 

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN 

All terms used in this Brownfield Plan are defined as provided in the following statutes, as 
appropriate: 

• The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Mich. Pub. Acts 381, M.C.L. 
§ 125.2651 et seq., as amended. 

• The Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 Mich. Pub. Acts 451, 
M.C.L. § 324.20101 et seq., as amended. 

III. DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

The property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street (the "Property"), which is part of the interior 
of the Woodward Loop thoroughfare-the area that makes up the downtown district of the City of 
Pontiac. The Property is comprised of one legal parcel that is approximately 1.3 acres in size and 
its predominant architectural feature is a tax reverted and unoccupied seven-story building 
formerly used for commercial purposes. The Property is a prominent feature and southern gateway 
into downtown Pontiac. 

The current very poor condition of the Property is an impediment to its redevelopment. The 
Property is contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ GRCC, in addition, the building 
interior and exterior envelope are in very poor condition with severe interior damage due to water 
intrusion, vandalism, the illicit removal of interior mechanical and plumbing systems, asbestos, 
mold and other hazardous materials, making it unusable in its current condition. Many of the 
building's metal fixtures have been removed illegally and haphazardly by trespassers. Incentives 
are necessaty to equalize the costs of re-developing the Property (versus developing a Greenfield 
site) and "level the playing field" to make redevelopment of the Property feasible. 

The proposed Project being developed by Developer includes the complete renovation of the 
building and building systems as well as the paved parking and landscaped areas. As part of the 
proposed Project, necessaiy remedial activities will be undertaken by Developer to install 
engineering controls to encapsulate the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal 
contamination and/or remove contaminated soils and groundwater to prevent contact with the soil, 
soil vapor and/or groundwater contamination to render the site safe for its intended use. 

Facility Status of Property 
Based on the Phase I ESA Report prepared by Atwell, LLC (Atwell) under date of December 4, 
2015, Atwell identified the following: 

Page 2 of 18 



• Information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that 
the subject site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. 
Prior to 1972, the subject site was developed with multiple structures (including filling 
stations, automobile repair businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at 
least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn Maps). 

• Several subsurface investigations (identified below) have been completed by other 
consultants to address the historical filling station operations at the subject site and north 
adjoining property. Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive 
ground penetrating radar (GPR) studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs were 
likely removed as part of site redevelopment activities. 

• During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review 
several previous environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: (1) BEA 
completed by McDowell & Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA 
completed by LFR Levine Fricke (LFR), dated November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface 
Investigation report completed by Hillman Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated 
October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants include: (1) 
historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern 
portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto 
repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the 1920s 
through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 
Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn 
Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified in soil and groundwater at 
concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several 
subsurface investigations. 

• Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the subject site qualifies 
as a "facility" as defined in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act (NREPA), 1994. 

According to the Atwell Phase I ESA, the, " ... testing completed during previous subsurface 
investigations did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile 
service/repair stations ... at each soil boring location; thus did not adequately address historical uses 
of the subject site." Additional soil, groundwater and soil vapor investigative activities will be 
required as part of pre-development due diligence activities for the Project to determine the full 
extent of the contamination and determine the specific remedial measures necessary to render the 
site safe for its intended use. 

In addition, appropriate environmental precautions will be implemented to prevent exposure of 
hazardous materials to human health, safety, and the environment during the renovation process. 

A. Community Impact / Public Benefit 

The public benefit of incentivizing the project include the revitalization of the City of Pontiac's 
downtown district. The proposed project involves a minimum capital investment of 
$16,047,100.00 including construction costs and Eligible Activities and will result in a dramatic 
increase to the City's tax revenue once the project is complete. In addition, a project on the scale 

Page 3 of 18 



of the Developer's proposal will offer employment opportunities for city residents, and likely 
attract new residents, which would boost to the City's housing market. 

The Project will serve to revitalize the City of Pontiac's downtown district by reducing vacancy in 
the heart of the City. The seven-story commercial building on the Property is a key architectural 
feature of Pontiac's downtown district and is generally one of the first images visitors see as they 
approach Pontiac via northbound Woodward Avenue. The project will also significantly increase 
the tax base of the City of Pontiac by placing a blighted and vacant piece of prime real estate back 
on the tax rolls, as well as providing employment opportunities for many of the local residents. 

The Property is a key architectural piece of the heart City of Pontiac, as well as the gateway of the 
City for northbound Woodward Ave. commuters, and yet has been vacant over a decade. The 
Developer's proposed Project is designed to revitalize the south end of the downtown district of 
the City of Pontiac and contribute to the character by enhancing the community's prestige overall, 
in addition to the multiple tax benefits the project will yield to the City. The proposed project 
places a high-profile, but difficult to develop, property back on the tax rolls, which will provide 
benefits to local residents. 

The proposed project will also contribute to a significant increase in the population density of the 
downtown area. This will be a key factor in both the Developer's ability to attract tenants, as well 
as the City's ability to attract new development. The proposed project, coupled with other 
redevelopment projects currently underway in downtown Pontiac, will not only provide 
revitalization to the individual properties, but to the downtown area as a whole. 

The proposed redevelopment project will be an integral component in the overall effort to build a 
more vibrant and developed downtown Pontiac-a goal that every resident can get behind. In fact, 
the Property is referenced in the "Congress for New Urbanism (CNU)- Legacy Charrette "Vision 
for Revitalized and Transit Ready Downtown Pontiac" Published Spring 2016 ("CNU Report''). 

According to the CNU Report, the Property is located in the area designated as "District 4: South 
District" by the CNU study, which describes the area as follows: 

• This District is comprised of two office towers, community buildings and vacant lots, cut
off from Downtown. 

• Development Proposals included infill business and residential development, new node 
and improved connections to Saginaw and Transpotiation Center. 

• The recommended development approach: Principally a private venture (private developer 
and private users). 

• The area has the potential to be a southern gateway into Downtown. 
• A mix of uses would be appropriate, including retail, offices, light industrial and some 

residential. 

Short-term goals are described as: 
• Improve pedestrian connections west to the Transportation Center and notih to Saginaw; 
• Facilitate easy vehicular access from Woodward Avenue into the District; and 
• Create a new node at the intersection of S. Saginaw and Whittemore St. 

Long-term goals are described as: 

Page 4 of 18 



• In conjunction with the reestablishment of Saginaw and downgrading of the Woodward 
Loop redirect traffic through the South District; and 

• Infill blocks with a mix of uses and building types, and retrofit existing buildings 

The proposed Project fulfills several of these short and long term goals simultaneously by 
revitalizing one of the two existing office towers in the District, using a private developer with 
both private capital and public funding (Brownfield TIF, etc.), improving the pedestrian 
connections to Saginaw Street and across Woodward A venue to the west to the existing 
Transportation Center and stimulating demand in the zoned Downtown District. 

Estimated Amount of Investment 

Developer estimates that total investment for environmental due diligence, soil mitigation 
infrastructure improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, and 
building renovations will exceed $16,047,100.00. The total of $16,047,100.00 is based upon 
Developer' preliminary construction budget, given the projected scope of the project (not including 
land cost). 

As projected by Developer, it is anticipated that the proposed new development will be 
constructed at an estimated cost that will exceed $16,047,100.00, comprised of a minimum of 
$12,982,500.00 of Construction Costs plus an estimated $3,064,600.00 of Eligible Activities. 
Allocated on a per square foot basis for the estimated 160,000 square foot building, the cost 
exceeds $97.62 per square foot, not including soft costs and currently unknown additional 
estimated environmental and site preparation costs. The estimated total investment of 
approximately $15,107,316.00 to re-develop the Property will result in an increase in the existing 
assessed and taxable values, as presented in the table below, as calculated by the millage rates 
provided by the Oakland County Equalization Office. 

Parcel Address Parcel Number 2018 Assessed 2018 Taxable 2020 Assessed 2020 Taxable 
Value1 Value1 Value (Developed as Value (Developed as 

Anticipated) 1 Anticipated) 1 

140 S. Saginaw 63-14-32-235-001 $0 $0 $12,982,500 $3,894,750 
TOTAl $0 $0 $12,982,500 $3,894,750 

1Values provided by the Oaldand County Eqnalizatiou on January 30, 2018 based on a December 31, 2018 re-valuation and are subject 
to fm·ther verification. 

Assessed Value: The Assessed Value Is determined by a property's marketvelue. The Assessed Value represents 50% of lhe Marl<et Value or True Cash Value. Sal by lhe assessor, lhe Assessed Value llilen 
multiplied by two will give an approximate market velue of lhe property. The assessor Is constitutionally required to set lhe assessed velue at 50%of lhe usual semng price or true cash value of lhe property. 
Assessed Value is generally lhe same es State Equalized Value unless an equalization factor has been applied by lhe county In llillch lhe property is localsd or lhe Slate. 

State Equalized Value (SEV): SEV Is lhe assessed value lhat has been adjusted following county and slate equa5zallon. The County Board of Commissioners and lhe Michigan Slata Tax Commission must raview 
local assassments and adjust (equalize) lhem if lhey are above or below lhe constitutional 50% level of assessmenl State Equalized Value Is generally one haK (1/2) of lhe property's True Cash Value. 

True Cash Value: Toe fair market value or lhe usual selling price of property. 

Taxable Value: A property's taxable value is lhe value used for determining lhe property ownar's tax !ability. Multiplying Iha Taxable Value by lhe local millage rate will determine your tax llabifity. Taxable Value 
Increases ~om year to year by lhe rate of inflation or 5% whichever Is lower. Transfers of ovmershlp and Improvements to lhe property will Increase lhe taxable value more lhan lhe rate of inflation but naver more 
lhan tl1e assessed value. Taxable value may not be Iha same as lhe property's True Cash Value, Assessed Value, or Slate EquaHzed Value, but may not be greater lhan Iha property's Assessed Value or Slate 
Equalized Valua. 

Note that in order to be conservative when calculating the estimated Tax Increment Revenue 
(TIR) payback period, AES further revised this value. The estimated 16 year Plan duration 
is based on the estimated investment being $12,982,500.00 and calculating a Taxable Value 
by taking fifty percent (50%) of the estimated investment and using a sixty percent (60%) 
valuation reduction factor to adjust for the Pontiac market. Based on that formula, 
($12,982,500.00/2)*0.6 = $3,894,750.00 was used to calculate the real prnperty taxes using 

Page 5 of 18 



City of Pontiac millage rates obtained from Oakland County Equalization. Based on the 
estimated new Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) and the total value of Eligible Activities, fixed 
BRA Management Fee of $5,000.00 annually and estimated Local Brownfield Revolving 
Fund (LBRF) capture, 16 years are needed to fully reimburse the Developer and allow 1 
partial and 3 years of LBRF capture. 

Full-time Jobs 

According to Developer, the proposed redevelopment will create up to an estimated 400 new Full 
Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs within the City of Pontiac described as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number of Total Annual Duration Total Project 
Operation Classification Hourly Hours Annual Direct Payroll Related of Jobs Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary Jobs to Project Created by (salary/wages 
(Weekly) Related to Project only) 

Project 
(Avernge 
per year) 

Project Office workers, $30.00 40 $62,400.00 400 $24,960,000.00 Permanent $24,960,000.00 
Completion building 

management, 
grounds 
keeping, 
security and 
other jobs 

New 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 

Total lr,stimated Jobs and Project Payroll 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 
(Annually) 

The proposed job creation will benefit the City of Pontiac as the current reported U3 
unemployment rate for Pontiac is 8.1 % as of September 2017 compared to 4. 7% for Michigan 
overall, 5.1 % for the Detroit/Dearborn/Livonia SMSA and 4.1% nationally as of January 2018. 

Construction Related Jobs 

According to the General Contractor for Developer, in addition to the full-time jobs created by the 
project, the proposed redevelopment will create up to 90 FTE construction jobs within the City of 
Pontiac comprised as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number Total Duration of Total Pro_jcct 
Construction Classification Hourly Hours Annual of Jobs Annualized Jobs in Years Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary Related Payroll Related Created by (salary/wages & 
(Weekly) to Project to Project Prnject (in benefits only) 

(Average years based 
per year) on# months 

construction) 
Site Construction $55.00 40 $114,400.00 90 $10,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Preparation Tradesmen and 

affiliated 
& Ve1tical workers 
Construction 
Construction 90 $10,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Phase Total 

Page 6 of 18 



IV. THE PROPERTY ADDRESSED IN THIS PLAN IS ELIGIBLE PROPERTY 

The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Public Act 381 of 1996, as amended, is: 

"AN ACT to authorize municipalities to create a brownfield redevelopment authority to facilitate 
the implementation of brownfield plans; to create brownfield redevelopment zones; to promote the 
revitalization, redevelopment, and reuse of certain property, including, but not limited to, tax 
reverted, blighted, or functionally obsolete property; to prescribe the powers and duties of 
brownfield redevelopment authorities; to permit the issuance of bonds and other evidences of 
indebtedness by an authority; to authorize the acquisition and disposal of certain property; to 
authorize certain funds; to prescribe certain powers and duties of certain state officers and 
agencies; and to authorize and permit the use of certain tax increment financing. " 

M.C.L. §125.2652(p) of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act defmes "eligible property" 
to include "property for which eligible activities are identified under a brownfield plan that was 
used or is currently used for commercial, industrial, public, or residential purposes, including 
personal property located on the property, to the extent included in the brownfield plan, and that 
is 1 or more of the following: 

(i) Is in a qualified local governmental unit and is a facility or a site or property as those 
terms are defined in part 213, historic resource, functionally obsolete, or blighted and 
includes parcels that are adjacent or contiguous to that property if the development of the 
adjacent and contiguous parcels is estimated to increase the captured taxable value of that 
property. 

(ii) Is not in a qualified local governmental unit and is a facility or a site or property as 
those terms are defined in part 213, and includes parcels that are adjacent or contiguous to 
that property if the development of the adjacent and contiguous parcels is estimated to 
increase the captured taxable value of that property." M.C.L. §125.2652(0). Eligible 
property includes "personal property located on the property." Id. 

(iii) Is tax reverted property owned or under the control of a land bank fast track authority. 

(iv) Is a transit-oriented development or transit-oriented property. 

(v) Is located in a qualified local governmental unit and contains a targeted redevelopment 
area. 

(vi) Is undeveloped property that was eligible prope1iy in a previously approved brownfield 
plan abolished under section 14(8). 

(vii) Eligible property does not include qualified agricultural property exempt under section 
7 ee of the general property tax act, 1893 PA 206, MCL 211. 7 ee, from the tax levied by a 
local school district for school operating purposes to the extent provided under section 
1211 of the revised school code, 1976 PA 451, MCL 380.1211. 

Page 7 of 18 



M.C.L. § 125.2652(r) "Facility" means that term as defined in section 20101 of the natural 
resources and environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.20101. 

M.C.L § 324.20101(s) "Facility" means any area, place, parcel or parcels of property, or 
portion of a parcel of property where a hazardous substance in excess of the concentrations 
that satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use (emphasis added) has been 
released, deposited, disposed of, or otherwise comes to be located. Facility does not include 
any area, place, parcel or parcels of property, or portion of a parcel of property where any 
of the following conditions are satisfied: 

(i) Response activities have been completed under this part or the comprehensive 
environmental response, compensation, and liability act, 42 USC 9601 to 9675, that 
satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(ii) Corrective action has been completed under the resource conservation and 
recovery act, 42 USC 6901 to 6992k, part 111, or part 213 that satisfies the cleanup 
criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(iii) Site-specific criteria that have been approved by the department for application 
at the area, place, parcel of property, or portion of a parcel of property are met or 
satisfied and hazardous substances at the area, place, or property that are not 
addressed by site-specific criteria satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted 
residential use. 

(iv) Hazardous substances in concentrations above unrestricted residential cleanup 
criteria are present due only to the placement, storage, or use of beneficial use by
products or inert materials at the area, place, or property in compliance with part 
115. 

(v) The property has been lawfully split, subdivided, or divided from a facility and 
does not contain hazardous substances in excess of concentrations that satisfy the 
cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(vi) Natural attenuation or other natural processes have reduced concentrations of 
hazardous substances to levels at or below the cleanup criteria for unrestricted 
residential use. 

M.C.L. § 125.2652(0) "Eligible activities" or "eligible activity" means I or more of the following: 
(i) For all eligible properties, eligible activities include all of the following: 

(A) Department specific activities. 
(B) Relocation of public buildings or operations for economic development purposes. 
(C) Reasonable costs of environmental insurance. 
(D) Reasonable costs incurred to develop and prepare brownfield plans, combined 
brownfield plans, or work plans for the eligible property, including legal and consulting 
fees that are not in the ordinary course of acquiring and developing real estate. 
(E) Reasonable costs of brownfield plan and work plan implementation, including, but not 
limited to, tracking and reporting of data and plan compliance and the reasonable costs 

Page 8 of 18 



incurred to estimate and determine actual costs incurred, whether those costs are incurred 
by a municipality, authority, or private developer. 
(F) Demolition of structures that is not a response activity. 
(G) Lead, asbestos, or mold abatement. 
(H) The repayment of principal of and interest on any obligation issued by an authority to 
pay the costs of eligible activities attributable to an eligible property. 

(ii) For eligible properties located in a qualified local unit of government, or an economic 
opportunity zone, or that is a former mill, eligible activities include: 

(A) The activities described in subparagraph (i). 
(B) Infrastmcture improvements that directly benefit eligible property. 
(C) Site preparation that is not a response activity. 

(iii) For eligible properties that are owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track 
authority, or a qualified local unit of government or authority, eligible activities include: 

(A) The eligible activities described in subparagraphs (i) and (ii). 
(B) Assistance to a land bank fast track authority in clearing or quieting title to, or selling 
or otherwise conveying, property owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track 
authority or the acquisition of property by the land bank fast track authority if the 
acquisition of the property is for economic development purposes. 
(C) Assistance to a qualified local governmental unit or authority in clearing or quieting 
title to, or selling or otherwise conveying, property owned by or under the control of a 
qualified local governmental unit or authority or the acquisition of property by a qualified 
local governmental unit or authority if the acquisition of the property is for economic 
development purposes. 

(iv) For eligible activities on eligible property that is included in a transformational brownfield 
plan, any demolition, constmction, restoration, alteration, renovation, or improvement of buildings 
or site improvements on eligible property, including infrastructure improvements that directly 
benefit eligible property. 

Under MCL § 125.2652(1), "Department specific activities" means baseline environmental 
assessments, due care activities, response activities, and other environmentally related actions that 
are eligible activities and are identified as a part of a brownfield plan that are in addition to the 
minimum due care activities required by part 201, including, but not limited to: 

(i) Response activities that are more protective of the public health, safety, and welfare and 
the environment than required by section 20107a, 20114, or 21304c of the natural resources 
and environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.20107a, 324.20114, and 
324.21304c. 
(ii) Removal and closure of underground storage tanks pursuant to part 211 or 213. 
(iii) Disposal of solid waste, as defined in part 115 of the natural resources and 
environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.11501 to 324.11554, from the 
eligible property, provided it was not generated or accumulated by the authority or the 
developer. 
(iv) Dust control related to construction activities. 
(v) Removal and disposal of lake or river sediments exceeding part 201 criteria from, at, 
or related to an economic development project where the upland propetty is either a facility 
or would become a facility as a result of the deposition of dredged spoils. 
(vi) Industrial cleaning. 

Page 9 of 18 



(vii) Sheeting and shoring necessary for the removal of materials exceeding part 201 
criteria at projects requiring a permit pursuant to pati 301, 303, or 325 of the natural 
resources and environmental protection act, 
1994 PA 451, MCL 324.30101 to 324.30113, MCL 324.30301 to 324.30328, or MCL 
324.32501 to 324.32515a. 
(viii) Lead, mold, or asbestos abatement when lead, mold, or asbestos pose an imminent 
and significant threat to human health. 

The Activities Identified In the Plan Are Eligible Activities. The eligible activities are identified in 
Section V(B) of this Plan. 

The Property Was Used for Commercial Purposes. Based on information gathered during the site 
investigation, interviews with appropriate parties, review of aerial photographs, review of Sanborn 
maps, review of historical address listings, and review of municipal records, the subject property 
was developed for commercial use sometime around 1926. Historical use includes gas 
station/service stations on the eastern and northern parts of the parcel. There is the known use, 
storage and handling of petroleum products and other hazardous materials at the eastern portion of 
the site including fuel oil ASTs, petroleum USTs and dispenser islands, and in-ground hydraulic 
hoists. Previous site assessment conducted at the site confirmed subsurface contamination at 
concentrations greater than the MDEQ Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) qualifying 
the subject site as a "facility" as that term is defined under Part 201. 

Information obtained from the historical records review shows that the Property initially consisted 
of multiple parcels, and that the northern and eastern areas were used for gasoline and service 
station purposes from the mid-l 920s through the 1950s. Uses identified for the subject site 
include: (1) historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and 
eastern portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto 
repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the 1920s through 
1950s; and (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; 
historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map. In 1972, the 
multiple parcels were combined, and the seven-story 145,000 square foot building currently on the 
Property was constructed. The Property has been vacant for over a decade and is currently tax 
reverted property owned by Oakland County. 

The Property has been deemed to qualify as a "facility" due to the presence of petroleum 
hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination exceeding the MDEQ GRCC. A copy of the Phase 
II ESA Report is attached as Attachment D. 

Based upon the foregoing, the Property identified by this Plan is therefore eligible under P.A. 381, 
as amended, for reimbursement of the planned activities. 

Page IO of18 



V. BROWNFIELD PLAN REQUIREMENTS OF M.C.L. § 125.2663 

M.C.L. §125.2663 requires several items to be included in a Brownfield Plan. These items are 
addressed below. 

A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues 

A description of the costs of the plan intended to be paid for with the tax increment revenues ... " M.C.L. 
§ 125.2663(2)(a). 

Cost Summary. The following summary lists potential costs based on initial preliminary due 
diligence and site investigation results. This plan seeks approval of the following activities, which 
include, but not limited to: (a) Phase I ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan; (b) Additional Due Care 
Phase II ESA activities; (c) Remediation/Soil Vapor Mitigation; (d) Asbestos, Lead and Mold 
Abatement; (e) Demolition; (f) Site Preparation and Infrastructure Related activities; (g) 
Brownfield Plan Preparation; (h) Health and Safety Plan Preparation; and (i) Response Activities. 
Please see Tables 1 and 2 for a detailed listing of eligible activities. All reimbursements are 
proposed to be obtained from tax increment revenues derived :from Local and State School Taxes. 

Tax increment revenues will be used to reimburse the Developer for the eligible activities 
generally described in (a) through (i), above, all eligible activities permitted under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. The activities would generally be implemented in a phased 
approach, in the following order: 

a. As much as $34,800.00 may be spent conducting Baseline Environmental 
Assessment (BEA) activities conducting due diligence for the project (Phase I ESA, Phase II ESA 
Consulting, BEA, Preliminary Section 7a Due Care Plan, and other environmental due diligence 
activities). 

b. As much as $2,800.00 may be spent preparing a Revised Section 7a Due Care Plan 
for the project; 

c. As much as $30,000.00 may be spent preparing the Brownfield Plan, Act 381 Work 
Plan and Supporting Documents plus Related Consulting, and integral documents, including 
applications, for the project. 

d. As much as $33,500.00 may be spent for completion of the Additional Due Care 
Phase II ESA Activities/Additional Due Care Phase II ESA Reporting Activities for the project; 

e. As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Pump & Treat of Contaminated 
Groundwater During Construction for the project; 

f. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for Soil Verification Sampling for the project; 

g. As much as $2,500.00 may be spent for Health & Safety Plan for the project; 

Page 11 of 18 



h. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent on Project Management activities managing the 
eligible activities; 

i. As much as $3,000.00 may be spent for Remediation related Soil Erosion Measures 
for the project; 

j. As much as $30,00.00 may be spent for Remediation - Greenspace Encapsulation 
Incremental Costs and related Engineering/Deed Restrictions/Institutional Controls for the project; 

k. As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Remediation-Encapsulation of Building 
and Parking Lot Areas Incremental Costs and related Engineering/Deed Restrictions/Institutional 
Controls for the project; 

l. As much as $35,000.00 may be spent for Soil Vapor Assessment and Pilot Test 
activities for the project; 

m. As much as $250,000.00 may be spent for Soil Vapor Barriers/Sub-slab 
Depressurization System and related engineering for the project; 

n. As much as $5,000.00 may be spent for Due Care related Engineering Control 
Work Plans, Engineering Specifications and Reports; 

o. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent for Hoist, Trench, and former equipment 
Removal Related Activities for the project; 

p. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for UST Removal and Closure Related 
Activities for the project; 

q. As much as $12,000.00 may be spent for UST Removal and Closure Observation 
Related Activities for the project; 

r. As much as $4,500.00 may be spent for Additional Response related Work Plans, 
Engineering, Specifications and Reports for the project; 

s. A contingency of $88,965.00 for MDEQ eligible activities approximating 15% of 
estimated project costs is established to address unanticipated conditions that may be discovered 
during the implementation of site activities as required under P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended. 

t. As much as $250,000.00 may be spent for Engineering, Design and Planning 
related to the HMEA, Hazardous Materials Abatement (ACM, LBP, Mold, PCBs, etc.), Air 
Monitoring, and Demolition activities and management; 

u. 
project; 

As much as $10,000.00 may be spent for Bid Specs and Bid Evaluation for the 

v. As much as $35,000.00 may be spent for Pre Demolition Hazardous Materials 
Environmental Assessment (HMEA) for the project; 

Page 12 of 18 



w. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent on site security that may include fencing, 
security guards or other necessary measures to help prevent site access during the Hazardous 
Materials Abatement activities; 

x. As much as $617,490.00 may be spent for Pre Demolition Asbestos, Lead and Mold 
(Hazardous Materials) Abatement for the project; 

y. As much as $977,245.00 may be spent for Demolition of Building (Interior and 
Exterior including demolition and disposal, utility disconnect and removal) for the project; 

z. As much as $61,000.00 may be spent for Demolition Engineering, Design and 
Management, Project Management, Bid Specs, Bidding and Bid Evaluation, and Health Safety 
Plan for the project; 

aa. 
project; 

bb. 
project; 

As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Utility Connection and Installation for the 

As much as $5,000.00 may be spent for Geotechnical Testing & Evaluation for the 

cc. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for Soil Mitigation Infrastructure related 
activities (testing) for the project; 

dd. A contingency of $306,860.00 for MEDC eligible activities approximating 15% of 
estimated project costs is established to address unanticipated conditions that may be discovered 
during the implementation of site activities as required under P.A. 3 81 of 1996, as amended. 

ee. Certain expenses incurred before approval of the Plan may be reimbursed, at the 
discretion of the Authority, including BEA and other due diligence related activities. Based on 
conversations, emails and meetings with Mr. Brad Hansen of the Authority, pre-plan approval 
expenses have already been incurred. The Authority has agreed that all eligible activities incurred 
prior to Plan approval shall be included in the Plan and for those eligible activities to be reimbursed 
by the Authority. 

ff. Reasonable and actual administrative and operating expenses of the Authority 
permitted to be reimbursed pursuant to Section 136(7) of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act or otherwise. For purposes of this Plan, the Authority has elected to collect an 
annual fixed Administrative Fee of Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($5,000.00) of the local 
TIR for the life of the Plan. 

Activities related to Geotechnically Non-viable Soil Removal, Parking Structure, and Site 
Preparation ( excavation, rough and finished grading, etc.) were removed from this Plan at the 
request of the Authority and, if such activities and costs are necessary for the Project, the 
Authority has requested Developer to prepare an amended Plan reflecting any such activities and 
costs for review and possible approval. 

Page 13 of 18 



All activities are eligible activities necessary to render the Property safe for its intended use as a 
Mixed-use Office Building are intended to be "eligible activities" under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. 

The estimated costs outlined in a-ff, above, may increase or decrease depending on the nature and 
extent of any unknown or unanticipated conditions on the Property. As long as the total costs, 
including being adjusted by the 15% contingency factor, have not exceeded the total estimated 
eligible activities amount of $3,064,660.00, the line item costs of the Eligible Activities outlined 
above may be adjusted between the Eligible Activities after the date this Plan is approved without 
the need for any additional approval from the City of Pontiac, Oakland County or the Authority, 
to the extent those adjustments do not violate the terms of any MDEQ or MEDC/MSF approved 
work plan, if any. If necessmy, this Plan may also be amended to add eligible activities and their 
respective costs. 

The actual cost of eligible activities in this Plan that will qualify for reimbursement from tax 
increment revenues (TIR) generated from the Property and shall be governed by the terms of the 
Reimbursement Agreement between the Developer and the Authority (the "Reimbursement 
Agreement"). No costs of eligible activities will be qualified for reimbursement except to the 
extent permitted by the Brownfield Plan in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Reimbursement Agreement. The Reimbursement Agreement and this Plan will dictate the total 
cost of eligible activities subject to payment, provided that the total cost of eligible activities 
subject to payment or reimbursement under the Reimbursement Agreement shall not exceed the 
estimated costs set forth above by more than 15% without requiring an amendment to this Plan. 
Developer estimates that it will incur up to $712,065.00 for MDEQ eligible activities and 
$2,352,595.00 for MEDC/MSF eligible activities, including the 15% contingency required under 
the statute. 

Capture of School Taxes. This Plan provides for the capture of taxes levied for school operating 
purposes (State Education Tax (SET) and School Operating Tax) from the Property. However, as 
the approval of School Tax Capture is at the discretion of the MDEQ and MEDC/MSF, all eligible 
activities shall be reimbursable from Local Taxes unless School Tax Capture is approved by the 
agency responsible for the eligible activity(ies), then reimbursement will be from a combination 
of both Local and School Taxes. 

B. Brief Summary of the Eligible Activities 

A brief summary of the eligible activities that are proposed for each eligible property ... " M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(b). 

The eligible activities will include the activities identified in a-ff, above, and are generally 
summarized as: (a) Phase I ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan; (b) Additional Due Care Phase II ESA 
activities; ( c) Remediation/Soil Vapor Mitigation; ( d) Site Preparation and Infrastrncture Related 
activities; (e) Brownfield Plan Preparation; (f) Health and Safety Plan Preparation; and (g) 
Additional Response activities. All reimbursements are proposed to be obtained from tax 
increment revenues derived from Local and State School Taxes 

Page 14 of 18 



C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 

An estimate of the captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for each year of the plan from the eligible 
property. The plan may provide for the use of part or all of the captured taxable value, including deposits in the local 
brownfield revolving fond, but the portion intended to be used shall be clearly stated in the plan. The plan shall not 
provide either for an exclusion from captured taxable value of a portion of the captured taxable value or for an 
exclusion of the tax levy of 1 or more taxing jurisdictions unless the tax levy is excluded from tax increment revenues 
in section 2(ss), or unless the tax levy is excluded from capture under section 15. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(c). 

See Attachment C for spreadsheets depicting estimated tax increment revenues for each year of 
the plan. Please note that these summaries are based on the renovation of one 145,000 square foot 
building and site improvements and the final projected value for tax purposes will depend upon 
the determination of the City of Pontiac and Oakland County Equalization Office. 

The final site plans, engineering drawings and permits are subject to approval by the City of 
Pontiac. This Plan will be interpreted to incorporate any required or requested changes to the final 
site plan, costs and expenses, etc. without necessitating any other approval or amendment to this 
Plan. 

The initial taxable value of the eligible property shall be based on the 2018 taxable value as 
base year for initial value, currently identified as follows: 

Parcel Address I Parcel Number 2018 Assessed Value1 

140 S. Saginaw I 64-14-32-235-001 $0 
TOTAI $0 

1Values provided by the Oakland County Equalization on Janual'y 30, 2018. 

D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality 

The method by which the costs of the plan will be financed, including a description of any advances made or 
anticipated to be made for the costs of the plan from the municipality. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(d). 

It is anticipated that the Authority will authorize the Plan to capture TIR from the project to 
reimburse the Developer for the actual costs of the eligible activities, as well as up to 5 years of 
TIR Capture for deposit into the LBRF. In addition, it is anticipated that the Authority will also 
collect a $5,000.00 annual fixed fee for Administrative Costs. 

The Developer, Authority and LBRF will be reimbursed for the eligible costs solely from tax 
increment revenues from the eligible property pursuant to the terms of the Reimbursement 
Agreement(s) and/or Loan Agreement(s) between the Developer, LBRF and Authority. The 
Authority will reimburse for the actual costs only. Although allowed under M.C.L. § 
125.2663(13b)(l l)-(14) Brownfield plan; provisions, payment of interest is not being supported 
by the Authority or City of Pontiac. 

The Authority's obligation to reimburse the eligible costs is subject to receipt of tax increment 
revenues. If there are insufficient tax increment revenues generated on the eligible property to 
reimburse for the cost of all of the eligible activities during the life of the Plan, the Authority shall 
not be obligated to reimburse the eligible costs beyond the amount of tax increment revenues which 
have been received. To the extent that TIR is not sufficient to pay for the eligible activities in any 

Page 15 of 18 



given year, the balance owing the Developer will be paid from TIR collected in subsequent years 
until the balance is paid in full with no time limit placed on the collection and payment of eligible 
activities, other than the statutory maximum. Should it be necessary, the Developer, LBRF or 
Authority may apply to amend the Plan at a later date to include additional eligible activities or to 
extend the TIR collection period or to amend the collection and deposit of TIR into the Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund ("LBRF") pursuant to Section 8 of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act (M.C.L. § 125.2658). The approval of any such Plan amendment is at the 
reasonable discretion of the Authority. 

E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 

The maximum amount of note or bonded indebtedness to be incurred, if any. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(e). 

No bonded indebtedness will be incurred by the City of Pontiac, Oakland County or the Authority 
in connection with this project. The repayment of eligible activities will be governed by the 
Reimbursement Agreement by and between the Developer and the Authority. 

F. Duration of Brownfield Plan 

A brownfield plan shall not authorize the capture of tax increment revenue from eligible property after the year in 
which the total amount of tax increment revenues captured is equal to the sum of the costs permitted to be funded with 
tax increment revenues under this act or 30 years from the beginning date of the capture of the tax increment revenues 
for that eligible property, whichever occurs first, except that a brownfield plan may authorize the capture of additional 
local and school operating tax increment revenue from an eligible property if 1 or more of the following apply: 

(a) During the time of capture described in this subsection for the purpose of paying the costs permitted 
under subsection (4) or section 13b(4). 
(b) For not more than 5 years after the date specified in subdivision (a), for payment to the local brownfield 
revolving fund created under section 8. M.C.L. § 125.2663(5). 

The brownfield plan shall include a proposed beginning date of capture. The beginning date of capture of tax increment 
revenues shall not be later than 5 years following the date of the resolution including the eligible property in the 
brownfield plan. The authority may amend the beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for a particular 
eligible property to a date not later than 5 years following the date of the resolution including the eligible property in 
the brownfield plan. The authority may not amend the beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for a 
particular eligible property if the authority has begun to reimburse eligible activities from the capture of tax increment 
revenues from that eligible property. Any tax increment revenues captured from an eligible property before the 
beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for that eligible property shall revert proportionately to the 
respective tax bodies. If an authority amends the beginning date for capture of tax increment revenues that includes 
the capture of tax increment revenues for school operating purposes, then the authority shall notify the department or 
the Michigan strategic fund, as applicable, within 30 days after amending the beginning date. M.C.L. § l 25.2663b(l 6). 

The duration of the Plan as proposed is estimated to be eighteen (18) years, with 2019 being 
the proposed start of capture. This duration is based on the estimated investment being 
$12,982,500.00 and calculating a Taxable Value by taking fifty percent (50%) of the estimated 
investment and using a sixty percent (60%) valuation reduction factor to adjust for the Pontiac 
market. Based on that formula, ($12,982,500.00/2)*0.6 = $3,894,750.00 was used to calculate the 
real property taxes using City of Pontiac millage rates obtained from Oakland County 
Equalization. Based on the estimated new Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) and the total value of 
Eligible Activities, estimated BRA Management Fee of $5,000.00 annually and estimated Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) capture, 18 years are needed to fully reimburse the 
Developer and allow 1 partial and 3 full years of LBRF capture. The Plan duration may exceed 
18 years if necessary to fully reimburse the approved eligible activities and LBRF capture. 

Page 16 of18 



G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jurisdictions 

An estimate of the impact of the foture tax revenues of all taxing jurisdictions in which the eligible property is located. 
M.C.L. § 125.26632)(g). 

See Attachment C for an estimate of the impact on all relevant taxing jurisdictions. 

H. Legal Description, Property Map and Personal Property 

A legal description of the eligible property to which the plan applies, a map showing the location and dimensions of 
each eligible property, a statement of the characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property, and a statement 
of whether personal property is included as pmt of the eligible property. If the project is on property that is fonctionally 
obsolete, the taxpayer shall include, with the application, an affidavit signed by a level 3 or level 4 assessor, that states 
that it is the assessor's expert opinion that the property is fonctionally obsolete and the underlying basis for that 
opinion. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(h). 

A legal description of the eligible property is included in Attachment A. Site maps are shown in 
Attachment B. 

The characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property are set forth in Section IV of this 
Plan. 

The eligible property will include personal property to be located within the new facility. 

I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families 

Estimates of the number of persons residing on each eligible property to which the plan applies and the number of 
families and individuals to be displaced. If occupied residences are designated for acquisition and clearance by the 
authority, the plan shall include a demographic survey of the persons to be displaced, a statistical description of the 
housing supply in the community, including the number of private and public units in existence or under construction, 
the condition of those in existence, the number of owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of 
turnover of the various types of housing and the range of rents and sale prices, an estimate of the total demand for 
housing in the community, and the estimated capacity of private and public housing available to displaced families 
and individuals. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(i). 

There are no persons residing at the property that would be redeveloped under the Plan and there 
will be no families or individuals displaced as result of development under the Plan. No occupied 
residences are involved in the development. 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 

A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by implementation of the plan. M.C.L. § 
125 .2663(2)0). 

No persons will be displaced as a result of implementation of the Plan. 

K. Provisions for Relocation Costs 

Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by implementation of the plan, and financial assistance and 
reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses incident to the transfer of title, in accordance 

Page 17 of 18 



with the standards and provisions of the federal uniform relocation assistance and real property acquisition policies 
act of 1970, Public Law 91-646. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(k). 

No persons will be displaced as result of this development, and therefore, no relocation costs will 
be incurred. 

L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan's Relocation Assistance Law 

A strategy for compliance with 1972 PA 227, MCL 213.321 to 213.332. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(1). 

No persons will be displaced as result of this development. 

M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund 

For not more than 5 years after the date specified ... for payment to the local brownfield revolving fund created under 
section 8. M.C.L. § 125.2663(5)(b). 

As discussed above, as allowed pursuant to Section 8 of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing 
Act (M.C.L. § 125.2658), the Authority has elected to capture up to four (4) years of TIR for 
deposit into the LBRF. 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 

Other material that the authority or governing body considers pe1tinent to the brownfield plan. M.C.L. § 
125.2663(2)(m). 

At this time, other than the above, there are no other materials that the Authority or governing 
body considers pertinent. 

It is the intention of the Michigan Legislature to encourage redevelopment of Brownfields using 
the Michigan Community Revitalization Program ("CRP") and MDEQ Grant & Loan Program 
incentives for eligible properties. Both the CRP and MDEQ Grant & Loan Program can be 
approved as a Grant or a Loan to pay for eligible investment or part thereof. It is the specific 
intention of the OCBRA to authorize and support the application for a CRP and/or MDEQ Grant 
and/or Loan and other available incentives, including PACE, related to the Eligible Investments 
made by Developer as part of this Project. 

Page 18 of 18 



Attachment A 

Legal Description of the Eligible Property 



legal Description: 

T3N, R10E, SEC 32 ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 65 ALL THAT PART OF LOTS 9 & 10 
LYING SLY OF RELOCATED JUDSON ST, ALSO LOTS 13 TO 17 INCL EXC THAT 
PART TAKEN FOR WIDE TRACK DR, ALSO LOTS 76, 77, 127 & 128 OF 
'ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 116' EXC THAT PART TAKEN FOR WIDE TRACK DR, ALSO 
VAC PART OF SAGINAW ST ADJ TO SAME, ALSO ALL OF VAC CHASE ST LYING 
SLY OF RELOCATED JUDSON ST & ELY OF WIDE TRACK DR 

Property Address: 140 S Saginaw, Pontiac, Ml 48342 

Tax Parcel No.: 14-32-235-001 



Attachment B 

Site Maps, Photographs and Site Plan/General Concept Plan 



1, .. 

REFERENCE 
USGS 7.5 MIN TOPOGRAPHIC QUADRANGLE 

PONTIAC, MrCHlGAN QUADRANGLE 
DATED: 1997 

SCALE: I: 24000 

FIGURE 1: SITE LOCATION MAP 
PROJECT: 201701 1601.01 

Mixed-use Commercial Building DATE: 311118 

140 South Saginaw Street PREPAREDBY: JAP 

Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 

N 
ASSOCIATED Environmental Services• 

Land Development• Real 
Estate Consulting 

6001 North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
Tel (248) 203-9898 Fax (248) 64 7-0526 
Email ;1ssc>1:111tqlcnv'1i\9111~~,\ 11~ 
Web: www ..11s.,,95:1,,1c1lwv mmmema I ,nc1 



Proposed Office/Mixed-use Development 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 

PROJECT: 2017011601.01 

DATE: 3/1/18 

PREPARED BY: NGM 
Enviroomenlal Services• 
Land Dcvdopm,,111 • Real 
Estale Consulting 

6001 North Adams Road, Swt< 205 
Bloomfield H Ills, Mlclugan 4SJOI 
Tel: (248) 203--9898 
Fax: (248) 647--0526 
Email: USO:'k-'•(k" --..:oonq1,1t.nd 

."V4,"_I_ 3S50Ci,i[C:tf!"i1\"lf( l'.i""7.:T'l~,tj ,-,et 

-~\_ N 
NOTES: Property is curren tly tax reverted and 
unoccupied. Mold, Asbestos and Water Damaged 
interior. Scrappers have damaged most building 
systems. Site is contaminated and qualifies as a 
"facility" as that term is defined in part201 ofNREPA, 
as amended. 



CONTEXT 

- AREA OF FOCUS 

•• DOWNlOWN PONTIAC 

PHOENIX CENTER 

LOT e sire 
CIVIC QUARTER 

SOUTH DISTRICT 

LAFAV~E SQUARE 

A THE REGIONAL 
V TRANSIT CENTER 

0 HOSPITAL 

0 CE.NTRAl SCHOOL 

e LAFAYETTE' MARKET 

@ LOCAL BUS STATION 

G OAKLAND PRESS NEWSPAPER 

e POLICE STATION 

e CITY HALL 

~ SCHOOL DISTRICT AOMIN. BLOG 

~ DISTRICT COURT 

~ OTTAW,._ TOWERS 1 & 2 

G GREAT LAKES ACADEMY 

Q;) PHOENIX PLACE APARTMENTS 

01) VACANT BUILDING 

@ 8UILOING OF HISTORICAL 
IMPORT,I\NCE 

fD MEDIA ART & TECHNOLOGY 
ACADEMY OF PONTIAC 

e LIBRARY 

Aerial Image of Existing Conditions 

CNU Legacy Charrette I Downtown Pontiac 17 



-..av-.· 
·-- . i. '-

~A. ~~-'!l!t~ - -~ ···-.~·l· . 
' -- J . .,. ,_._ 

1 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (1) 2 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (2) 

3 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (3) 4 : 7th Floor Water Damage (1) 

5 : 7th Floor Water Damage (2) 6 : Basement - HVAC (1) 



7: Basement- HVAC (2) 8: Basement- HVAC (3) 

9 : Basement- HVAC (4) 10 : Basement - Block Wall Cracking (1) 

11 : Basement - Electrical ( 1 ) 12 : Basement - Electrical (2) 

2 



13: Basement- Electrical (3) 14 : Basement - Electrical (4) 

15 : Basement - Electrical (5) 16 : Basement - Gas Meter (1) 

-•' J!!l'J' 
. . 

_-__ ··J·- -
f ·: i 

·~._.;• 

• 
.;, r, 

-.#~--
17 : Basement - Gas Meter (2) 18 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (1) 

3 



19 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (2) 20 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (3) 

21 : Basement - Life & Safety (1) 22 : Basement - Life & Safety (2) 

23 : Basement - Misc ( 1 ) 24 : Basement - Misc (2) 

4 



25 : Basement - Misc (3) 26: Basement - Misc (4) 

27 : Basement - Misc (5) 28: Basement - Water Supply (1) 

29 : Basement - Water Supply (2) 30 : Basement - Water Supply (3) 

5 



31 : Basement Access Well (1) 32 : Building Entrance - East (1) 

33 : Building Entrance - East (2) 34 : Building Entrance - North (1) 

35 : Building Entrance - North (2) 36 : Building Facade (1) 

6 



37 : Building Facade (2) 38: Canopy Water Damage (1) 

39 : Canopy Water Damage (2) 40: Elevator Equipment (2) 

41 : Elevator Equipment (3) 42: Elevator Equipment (1) 

7 



43 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (1) 44 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (2) 

45: Exterior Cracking & Patching (3) 46 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (1) 

47 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (2) 48 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (3) 

8 



49 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (4) 50 : Exterior Signage (1) 

51 : Exterior Signage (2) 52 : Exterior Signage (3) 

53 : Exterior Utilities - Electrical (1) 54 : Exterior Utilities - Electrical (2) 

9 



55 : Exterior Utilities ( 1 ) 56 : Exterior Utilities (2) 

57 : Flatwork - Misc 58 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (1) 

59 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (2) 60: Flatwork - Ramps -ADA Issues (3) 

10 



.. ·•, ' . 

..... · ~· • '':·:;.:;, >,, .•. ·. '· .... . ..... "='!. . 
. I,· .., •. •·. 

•• • ... ~' .'J .. ,,.~ 

61 : Flatwork - Ramps -ADA Issues (4) 62 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (5) 

63 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (1) 64 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (2) 

65 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (3) 66 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (4) 

11 



67 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (5) 68 : Interior - Electrical (1) 

69 : Interior - Electrical (2) 70 : Interior - Electrical (3) 

' •' i ,., .... :• .. ·'' I - { 

·. -~ "°1 

' ' 
___ . .-·,· •.a 

71 : Interior - Elevators (1) 72 : Interior - Elevators (2) 

12 



73 : Interior - Elevators (4) 74: Interior - Elevators (5) 

75 : Interior - Elevators (6) 76 : Interior - Elevators (7) 

77 : Interior - Elevators (3) 78 : Interior - Emergency Systems (1) 

13 



Elll> 

79 : Interior - Emergency Systems (2) 80 : Interior - Emergency Systems (3) 

81 : Interior - Light Fixtures ( 1 ) 82 : Interior - Light Fixtures (2) 

83 : Interior - Main Entrance (1) 84 : Interior - Main Entrance (2) 

14 



85 : Interior - Misc (1) 86 : Interior - Misc (2) 

87 : Interior - Misc (3) 88 : Interior- Misc (4) 

89 : Interior - Misc (5) 90 : Interior - Misc (6) 

15 



91 : Interior - Misc (7) 92 : Interior - Restrooms - ADA Issue (1) 

93 : Interior - Restrooms - ADA Issue (2) 94: Interior - Restrooms (3) 

95: Interior - Restrooms (4) 96 : Interior- Restrooms (5) 

16 



97 : Interior - Restrooms (6) 98 : Interior - Restrooms (7) 

99: Interior- Restrooms (8) 100 : Interior - Secondary Entrance 

101 : Interior - Stairwell - ADA Issue (1) 102 : Interior - Stairwell (2) 

17 



103 : Interior - Stalrwell (3) 104 : Interior - Structure ( 1 ) 

105 : Interior - Structure (2) 106 : Interior - Windows (1) 

107: Interior - Windows (2) 108 : Landscape - Broken Limbs 

18 



109 : Landscape - Typical 11 O : Paving - Approach ( 1 ) 

111 : Paving - Approach (2) 112 : Paving - Approach (3) 

113 : Paving - Approach ( 4) 114 : Paving (1) 

19 



115 : Paving (2) 116 : Paving (3) 

117 : Paving (4) 118 : Paving (5) 

119 : Paving (6) 120 : Paving (7) 

20 



121 : Paving (8) 122 : Paving (9) 

123 : Plexi Secured Window 124 : Roof - Damage (1) 

125 : Roof - Damage (2) 126 : Roof- Drains & Vents (1) 

21 



127 : Roof - Drains & Vents (2) 128 : Roof - Drains & Vents (3) 

129 : Roof - HVAC (1) 130: Roof- HVAC (2) 

131 : Roof - HVAC (3) 132 : Roof- HVAC (4) 

22 



133 : Roof - HVAC (5) 134 : Roof - Penthouse ( 1 ) 

135 : Roof - Penthouse (2) 136 : Roof - Penthouse Damage (1) 

137 : Roof - Penthouse Damage (2) 138 : Roof (1) 

23 



139 : Roof (2) 140 : Roof (3) 

141 : Roof (4) 142: Roof (5) 

143: Roof (6) 

24 



Attachment C 

Estimated Tax Increment Revenues 

(These estimates are based on the attached cost estimates to rehabilitate and 
redevelop a seven-story commercial building (totaling 145,000 square feet) into a 

state-of-the-art mixed-use office development with an estimated new investment of 
$16,047,160.00 or more. This also assumes that the all final City, County and State 

of Michigan approvals, if any, will not substantially change the project and the 
project will be developed with substantially the same characteristics as 

contemplated by Developer. 



TABLE I -TOTAL PROJ>OSEO Ml>EQ ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 
BROWNFIELD PLAN 

PROPOSED 140 S. SAGlNAW STREET REDEVELOPMENT 
CITY OF PONTIAC, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

July 31 , 2018 

I h~1lth• \1 lh II\ l>n1 t 1pl1HII B1 Cl" 11 li"·ld 1'1 11pt·t 1, { O"i\ 

l>fl>AR'l"MENT SPEcrFIG ACTIVITIES (MCL §125.2652(2)(1)) ELIGIBLE /\CTlVITY COSTS =! 

B•~clint l1:nvironn1cntal ,\uc.,~mt-nls (MCL §125.26!12(2)(1) LocalTIF StAlt And Local 
TOTAL 

Caprurc Only TIFCapturr 
Phase I Environmental Site Assessment $0 $3,500 $3,500 

Phase fl Environmental S11c Assessment $0 $25,000 $25,000 

Baseline Environmental Assessment $0 $4,500 $4,500 

7a Due Care Plan $0 $1,800 $1,800 

Due Care Acllvltiea (MCL § 125.2652(2)(1) and (m)) 

Section 7aCA Due Care Plan - Revisions $0 $2,800 $2,800 

Addjtional Due Care Phase II ESA Environmental Due Di ligence Activities $0 $30,000 $30,000 

Additional Due Cnre Phase II ESA Environmental Due Dil igence Reporting Activities $0 $3,500 $3,500 

Pump & Tre.o.tment/O,sposal of Contaminated Groundwater During Construction (if necessary) $0 $50,000 $50,000 

Soil Verification Swnpling (if necessary) $0 $25,000 $25,000 

Health & Safety Pion $0 $2,500 $2,500 

Project Management $0 $15,000 $15,000 

Soil Erosion Measures $0 $3,000 $3,000 

Incremental Costs for Grccnspace Encapsulation (as necessary) $0 $30,000 $30,000 

lncremcnlnl Costs for Encapsulation (Engmccnng controls for Building and Parking) $0 $50,000 $50,000 

Soil Vapor Assessment and Pilot Test $0 $35,000 $35,000 

Soil Vapor Barrier/ Sub-slab Depressuriuition System $0 $250,000 $250,000 

Work Plans, Engineering, Specifications and Reports $0 $5,000 $5,000 

R,ftponse Activlde1 (MCL §125.2652(2)(1) and (oo)(I) and (ii)) 

Hoist, Trench and Other fom1er Equipment Removal Related Activities (if present) $0 $15,000 $15,000 

UST Removal and Closure (if identified during excavation) $0 $25,000 $25,000 

UST Removal Obscrvolion, Sampling and Report (if identified during excavation) $0 $12,000 $12,000 

Wol'k Pluns, Engineering, Spcc1fications and Reports $0 $4,500 $4,500 

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS SUBTOTAL $0 $593,100 $593, 100 

'TOTAL ELIGIBLE ACTlVITY COSTS PLUS CONTINGENCY AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 

Contingency 

Contingency ( 15% of Subtorol NOT including completed BBA Activities) SO.DO $88,965 $88,965 

Brownfield Pion, Act 381 Work Plan and Related Docwncnts (MCL §l25.2652(2)(o)(i)(D)) $30,000 $30,000 

ELIGIBLE ACTJVJTY COSTS SUBTOTAL so $712,065 $712,065 

Agency Administrative Cosfl 

State Act 381 Work Plan Review (No longer charged by Stale) $0 $0 so 
OCBRA Admlalslratlvr 11nd Oper•dn& Cosll (Find Frr of$5,000.00 Annually) 590,000 $0 $90,000 

GRAND TOTAL $90,000 $712,065 5802,06S 



TABLE 2 - TOT AL PROPOSED MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 
PROPOSED 140 S. SAGINAW STREET REDEVELOPMENT 

CITY OF PONTIAC, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICIDGAN 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVITlES (MCL 125.2652(2)(0)) MSF ELIGIBLE ACTfYITY COSTS 

Lead, Asbestos and Mold Abatement (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(i)(G)) 

Pre Demolition Hazardous Materials Environmental Assessment (HMEA) 
!Bid Soecs and Bid Evaluation f for HazMat Abatement 
!Lead, Asbestos and Mold Abatement Consulting, tvlanagement, Design and Planning, Air Monitorin 
Site Securitv (HazMat Abatement and _Demolition) 

- -

Pre Demolition Asbestos, Lead and Hazardous Materials Abatement 

1emolition Activities (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(i)(F)) 

Infrastructure Improvements (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(ii)(B)) 

cost for BP Amendment' 

!Site Preparation (MCL §125.26S2(2)(o)(ii)(C)) 

;ation/Non-viable Soils 
:soil Mitigation activities 
'GeotechnicaUv Non-viable SoiJs Removal (Develooer wi!J identi 

Removal/ Re-install, etc. 

15% of Subtotal)_ 
GRAND TOTAL 

July 31, 2018 

$35,000 
$10,000 

$250,000 
$15,000 

$617,490 

$61,000 
$977,245 

ssopoo 
$0 

$5,000 
$25,000 

$0 
$0 

$2,045,735 
--=:..==:::::: 

$306,860 
$2,352.595 

!) 



Tu I~ kwnuc C&pWft ~tcs 
TABLE 3 140SolnhS>l"""'P""""'-U.C 

140 Sotllh Sagjntw Stred --ICJ• Fcttru.ry 23~ 201& 

f~tu11Ta•l>k~(l\l)lnause-&,1e-: 
U'pu~u 

Pt.n'l'e• • l'IMe••.., 1 2 3 • 5 6 7 a 9 Ill 11 u 
C.lend.rYCM 20LI 2019 2020 l.021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2016 2.0V 20211 2029 l.030 

*BH& Ta.able Va.I~ $0.00 5000 S0.00 $0.00 so.oo so.oo S0.00 so.oo so.oo S0.00 $000 so.oo So.00 

Esunncd Nc'WTV S 5 ,.-.750 s 3,9D,li9& S 3,973~034 s 4,012,765 S 4,052,892 5 4,09.3,421 $ 4, 134,356 $ 4,115,699 s 4,217,.456 s •.259,631 s •.3DU21 s 4,345.249 

1actt-mcni. Otffctcnu (New TV· Ba:s~ TV) S s .......... s 3.,933,f;98. $ 3,'7~ $ 4,012.765 $ 4,0:Sl.,1!12 s .,.,,.. .. 21 s .. 134,356 S 4,U5,...,, s 4,217 .. 56 s 4,.25.,631 s ~2.221 s 4,345,,249 

Mollq•btc 
1 ~IK:WOnTn~SET) &.0000 5 $ 23,369 $ 23,602 $ ll,431 5 24,077 $ 24,317 5 24,561 5 24,806 5 25,1)54 5 25,3115 5 25,S.S'!:,_ S 25.1!3 S 26,.071 
2 Sc:hoolOpenil-.:Tu: 18..0000 s s 70,lllO $ 70,&07 S 7U1S S 72.HO S 72.052 S 73,682 S ~ 7 5,163 $ 75,914 5 76,1'73 s 77,440 S 78,.214 

ScboolTotal H,0000 s g3,474 S 94,..,. s 95,353 S -5 97,269 S .. ,,., s 99,225 S 100,217 $ 101.21!1 s tOU31 5 1M,253 S 104,lM 

~,...., 
3 Oly Operitinc l&,493S 5 s 72,.Dl& $ 7-1.148 $ 73.'75 S 74.210 S 74,952 5 75,702 S _(0,459 S _n,223 s ~- s 71,775 S 79,56) S 111,359 
• o.tlond eoun.,r,.,,..AW-1ty 1-0000 5 s 3,1195 $ J,934 S 3,973 S 4,013 s 4,.DSJ s 4,093 S 4,134 S 4,176 $ 4.217 S 4,260 $ 4,302 S 04S 
s o.ia.n.t County()penoo1 4..0400 s $ 15,735 $ 15,892 $ 16,0Sl S 1£.212 S 1&;374 $ 1&.537 S 16,703 S 15,&10 L 17,039 S 17,209 5 17,381 S 17,555 
6 o.Hand County Po<b o..z:w, $ s 915 S 924 S 933 S 943 s 952 $ 962 5 971 S 941 S 991 $ 1.001 5 1.011 S ---1£_21 
7 HIM'Oft aanon Metrapoibn A.ulkrity 0-.2129 s s 129 $ 137 S 1146 S 1154 S t63 5 Vl S 880 5 189 S 898 ..1_ __ !11)7 $ 916 $ 925 
I O~d CountytsO 3.2813 s $ 12,710 5 12,908 $ 13,031 S 13,167 $ 13,299 $ 13,432 $ 13,566 S 13,702 $ 13,139 S 13,977 S 14.117 $ 14,258 . _.,. ·- 2.8700 s s 11.178 $ 11..BI $ U..al $ U.517 S ll.632 $ U.7411 S 1U66 S 11.984 S 12,104 S 12,225 $ 12,347 S _!_2,'71 

10 O.tlo,,d Cou,,ty Community Collego l.S431 s s 6.D10 S 6,.070 S 6,131 5 6,192 $ 6,254 S 6,317 S 6,310 $ 6.- S 6.SOI S 6.Sn s &.639 S 6,705 

lOalTotal 3.1-6757 s W,369 S 124,603 S US,14! $ 121,Jll1 $ ua.n, s 129,1162 $ J.l0,959$ 1.32..261 S 133,591 S 134,.927 S 136,.276 S 137.639 

-""'" -11MessaiJ...:fp)ent 0.4000 s $ l.SS& S 1,573 S 1,519 $ l.60S s 1,621 S um s 1,654 $ l.670 $ 1,611 S l.104 $ l.721 $ 1.734 
12 O.ikt¥td County DIA D.194S $ s = 5 765 S ms 780 S 78& 5 796 $ 804 S U2 S 1121> s 121 $ 137 S &45 
13 O~ndCoumyZoo 0.03&2 s s 312 S 316 $ 300 S 394 S 398 S 402 _$ __ 406 S 410 S 414 S ... $ 422 S •21 

TocalNon-Cli~Tua D.MD' s -I.Ml s 2,725 $ 2,7S2 s ,.,., s 2,807 $ 2,831 s Z,864 S 2,893 S 2,921 S 2,951 s 2,!110 s 3,0U! 

TOTALMIUS (Po,o.kland Colalty ._ ... .., S6.'IQ4 

14 Tout Tu 1ncn:n1ent Rttalue(TIIIJ A~blc rorc:aptura s zao,159 s Z.02,210 S 204,l&Z s 206,.375 $ 20C,419 $ 210,624 $ 212,7'0 s 
-- s 

2l7,1S7 $ 219,379 S ll1.W S lll,&n 

July 31, 2018 



E~r~v_. (TVt lnauw l.d ..: -y-
Cilffldarn• 

*!.ase Tua.bk Value. 

EsltmHedHew"lV S 

~menu! Dfffercnce tNewlV • BMe 1V). $ 

~en.... Mia-!Qtc 

S..tefduabonT•(SET) 6.0000 s 
Schoaf Ope.n1rn, Tn 1.1.0000 $ 

Sdtaol T ota1 24.0000 s 

---
!,ffll...,,_ ____ .......... 
otyOpc~hnc 1.1.4915 s 
Oal:l.lnd County T.-amit Authority 1.0000 s 
o.klond County a..,.tJna 4.04')0 s 

O.U.nd County Porb 0.234• s 
Huron antOfl M!ttopoit.-i AU'thonty 0.2129 s 
Odbnd County ISO 3.2&13 s ........ .,.,. 2.ll7'00 s 
0.U.nd Cow,ty OornmuMy Coltqe 1.5431 $ 

l.acalTotal Jl..5757 s 
--

~111nw..-e IY,c,,ltm 

Messa Judgm«Jt 0.4000 $ 

031Ulnd Cotrlty OlA 0,1945 $ 

()oll,nd Co<mty Zoo 0.0982 s 
ToQI Nolll-CaptUnble: Tilkl D.827 s 

TOTAl.MRlS [,e<>dbnd Coun.ty Equdt.diD 56,:UU 

Total Tn lncremfflt Revenue: (TIRJ A~le for c.pture $ 

Tu ll'KN.OW1t a~ ~ Estimllh$ 

140 .south ~.,n•w P:artn.P:rs,. UC 
140 South ~w Suut 

-•~M;chipn 
-,y23, 201JI 

u It 

2031 21'32 

SO.DO SO.DO 

4,3&8,7112 S ~432,589 S 

4,311,1'112 s ..... 2,,Sa9 s 

26,332 S 26,596 S 

78,997 S ~ .1,n S 

105,329 S !JJq,382 $ 

81,162 $ 11.974 S 

4.319 $ 4,433 $ 

17,730 S 17,908 S 

1,031 $ 1,041 $ 

934 S - s 
14,401 $ 14.54S S 

12.596 S 12.722 $ 

r;,nz s 6,&40 $ 

139.015 S 140,4115 $ 

1,7$S S 1.m s 
854 S &62 S 

431 S 05 S 

, ..... s 3,070 S 

226,ln s 1211,490 $ 

15 

21133 

50.00 

4,476,915 s 
<,47 ... lS s 

26,B&l $ 

IO,S84 S 

107,446 $ 

12.794 S 

•.•n s 
1.1,017 S 

1,as2 s 

9153 S 

14,li9D $ 

12.&49 S 

6,908 S 

141.- $ 

1.~l S 

171 S 

440 S 

3,101 S 

230,llS $ 

TABLE 3 

16 17 I 1.1 TDTAl 

2034 2035 2036 

so.oo S0.00 S0.00 

4,521,6&4 S 4.566,901 s 4,612,570 

4-'21,614 s 4,566,901 S 4,6U,S70 

~-
27,130 S 27,401 $ 21,m $ ~ 
Sl,390 S 82.20< S 83.026 s U7S,~ 

1-.,,.,., S 109 ..... $ 110t702 $ J.l,!_3,Ae 

-
&J,,622 $ &4,451 S SS,3(13 $ l,,112.,182 

4.522 $ 4.567 S 4.613 S -JJ,268 S U.450 S 11.635 s -1,062 S 1,(173 S 1,083 s 17,94.5 

963 S 972 S 9&2 $ 1",U,I 

1Y37 S 14,9&5 S 15,135 $ ZSG,673 

u.,n s 13,107 S 13,234 s 219,JSl 

•.•n s '-~$_ ~llll $ U7,IM 

10,llll $ -s 146,106 $ I.AU.I~ 

--· 
1,809 s 1.827 S l.&4S s 30.551 

-~ s au s &97 $ 14,as, 

- $ 
448 5 4$3 s ~ •. 50.? 

3.132 $ 3,163 S 3,195 $ 52.9U 

233,113 S 235.56S $ 237,!1'711 S UlUJ6 

July 31, 2018 



J n ~; 
.. .,, ,., .. 

fi 

! i ;; ~~ 
l'" ::l 

.. .. .... -
i I ~~ 

II n ~h 

~[ i ~a I I ~ l 
I 

' I 

I .. .. .. .. .. 
!'¾ ' ~-I i 

I 
I 

~ l 

l "" "" """ ' .. .. ' U: Bi ~ I I SI - :!! 

I .. .. .. .. .. ~ ~: 
I l U i 11! iii 9 .,. vi 

~ ~ 

' I .... , 
~ ; ~ l!l I !I iii ~ . i · ! I 

~ "l 
~ ' ~ I ~ : ., ~ I I s . • a I !I ::I I .. ' .. .. .. .. ;j~ ~ 1 ~ a u .. .. .. .. .. .. .... ~rN 

i ·I ~ a tl ; ~i a !i 
.. .. .. .. .. .. .... J 
~ :a !i ~ ~ ; ~ ~ ~· .... , § !"' :I 5 "' :J ;i l .. 

I 
""' ..,. .,. ""' \ll YI, "' I 

§ ~ l ' ~ ~ l ~ i i 
g " i;; ~ . 9 i s t1 

I 
VI, "' V'I .,. ""' "' "' '4f 

, -! I ~ ~ I ; ~! 
""' VI, ""' ""' .... ""...,,f 

Pi I~! ; 
VI "" <It M "'f 

~ ·' i il 
I .... , 

I ~ 3 ~ p~ I 
I I lj 

""' "" "" ""' .... ~ "" ""' '-" I 

U ~ !L, S 5 ~ ~•,,, 
i :i :i s"' ~ t ~' 
"' .,_ "' A ""' ""' Ill- 'WI, : 

~ ~ a ~ ~ I I ; ;! 
1 -1,A ,. .... .,, "' ""'"" ""' ... .J 

~U. ~q ! 
Ill J ; 9 ~ " 

I .. -.. .. .. .. .. 

Ii• ~a~ I 
I 

iii iii i 
"'\ ~· "'""'""""' 

ul 

-
.. ... ,~ 1: .. .. .... r; 0 
N ... 
"' ~ 
~ 

~~ u l 
- .. .. .. .. 

H 
~. 

i I!! h i~ :;} ~~ 
J 

I .... "'"' .. .. .. .. .. .... t 
!! ,~ I 
.... .... .. "' .. .. .. 
a~ ~~ a .. .. .. .. .. 
!~ 12! 

Iii~ I .... .... .. .. .. .. .. 
B ~§ i . [ lit::: .. .. ., .. .. 
~I !! 

lif l:j I 
.... .... .. .. .. .. .. 
n Bf ~ 
.. § 
t~ i; I 
.... .... .. .. .. 
i~ ~~ ~ 
!!!§: ;: i! I 1 :!i ,:I.,; ; 

.... .... .. .. .. 
H ,~ 

~ i . I 

~~ ~:: 
~ I 1 

.. .. .. 
u 
Q~ p 

et : 
n ~~ ~a i .... .... .. .. .. 
n ~~ IS j 



. Ii ~~r nr ~ I . UH s1 s 
I .... • ""'"'"'V\ \A-"" V\ .. .. .. .. \II\~~~ 

I 11: ; p 
I ~~ d I ::l .. 
I 
I V\ r'I If\ YI 
I ,_ -~ 
I " 

I I 
I 

l l I 

I I I 
I 

j 
I 
I 

j gl 

'I Il l jl 
11 

ii II 
1l 
I I I § fll el I! 11 ! I j I! ~a ] 1 I! 1 ~ 

i i I h i n i I J J I h H J ,,I ~: "' ~ . .. .. 



.. 

Attachment D 

Phase II ESA Report with a Descriptio Conditions 
And ', ~ 

BEA Determination of "facility" Status 



ONE COMPANY 
INFINITE SOLUTIOhlS 

December 4, 2015 

Adorno Poccinini 
Walbridge 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 
Detroit , MI 48226 

Atwell, LLC Project Number: 15002193 

RE: Phase I ESA for the buildini and property located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, 
Oakland Cowity, Michigan (subject site) 

Dear Mr. Poccinini, 

Atwell, LLC is pleased to submit its report on the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
conducted at the above referenced site. 

The project objective was to perform a specified scope of research, evaluate the data, and render 
a professional opinion on environmental conditions at the site. The information and opinions 
included in this report are exclusively for the use of Walbridge and Oakland County. 

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you on this project. Should you have any 
questions or desire further infonnation, please contact us at (248) 447-2000. 

Sincerely, 
ATWELL, LLC 

Allan R. Longyear, PG 
Project Manager 

•- fc,,r. P 1• • "" '00 ... t!,. M ,U07fo ' .i-48 40 000 '•• J,18 H1 001 
•-A•...t••••Ollp <Offl 



PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT REPORT 
140 SOUTH SAGINAW STREET 

PONTIAC, Ml 48342 

Prepared for 

WALBRIDGE 
ADORNO POCCININI 

777 WOODWARD AVENUE, SUITE 
DETROIT, Ml 48226 

ATWELL PROJECT NO. 15002193 

DECEMBER 04, 2015 



Table of Contents 

loO General lnformation.,.ooooooooooooueoooooooooooooo&oo1u100000000000000000000000000000Qfi1000000000000000000000000000GIHIOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO 1 

2o0 Executive Summary .. oooGl'HIOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOQQ00000GOGOOGOIUt00000DCiltl0000000000000000oooooooeooooooooooeoooo11eeooo1100000000000 3 

C1.1rren t use of Property 0000000 0000000000000 00(100000 O(Htooooooooooooeoooooooooo 000000000(1000 ooooeooo OOOQ OOOOOOOIHI 0000 00000000 00000000000 0 3 

Database/Reco1·ds RevieW00001tOOOOllfl001tOOO•ooooo1u'1aOooooooooooooooooooeoooooooooeoool!IOOOOOOOOOOOOflOO&OOOoooooooeoooooeoooooooooo00000Q 3 

Risto ricall/Docume11 t Review 0000000 00000000000000000 oooooooooooo•ooooooao(H>t:1•00000 00000000•00••···••0•000••0000•00000•00 000000&0000004 

Site Reco11naissa11ce Findingsoooooopooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooeoooooottoooooo••oeoooo111100000&011f10flOllf>OOOOflOOOOOOQOG00088GOOOOOOOO 4 

Other Environmental ConsiderationSoooooooooooeooooaeooooooooo••oo•fl•o•ooooooooooooooooooo••ooooQ&O•eooooa••o&ooooo&o•ooooooo 5 

Findings and OpinionS.0000•0000••00001toooo••oooooo11&00•••0000001100000•0000000000000000000000011••••11•00000000000000011ooooooeooo••••oooooo5 

ConclusionSeoeoeooooooo••·••e•oo••·••oo••·••oo•ooooo•ooo••ooo•••11•••110••····••o••oe••o•••oo••······••o••••11•e•o••············•·o••····••o•e•o••· 5 
Suggested Actions to Address Business Environmental Risk ..................................................... 5 

Disclaimer o••···••o•e••·••oeo••·"· o••·••ooo••o••····••&••·· ••••• •o•• ···••o•• 11o••••t1•••o••e•e•••a••· ··••o••·····••oo••"··"••o•••oo••··"··· ••••••••• 5 

3. 0 In trod uctio n .. o••···""···"······ o••··••eo••······""·••oo••···················· •e•oo••·· ··••oo••e••···············••oo••·••a••·.,··········· 6 

3 .1 Purpose ••. ·••o•••oe••·········· ••• o ••••••••• oo•a•o•• o••····••o•o••··········••o••········· ••••••••••••••••• o••••oo•• ••••••••••••••••••••••••• 6 

3112 Scope of Work ....•.....•...•.. o••···••&•e••····••e••·······························••o••·························••o••·····••o••·····••o6 

3"'3 Significant Assumptions ...•...••..•. 11.•••o••·••o••································••o••···························"··••11•••11••··· 7 

3.4 Limitations and Exceptions ......•.......••. 11.o••••e•e••••o•o••·••o••···········"·····••o•••o••····"·••o••·••11•••11••····•"0••··· 7 

3.5 Deviations From the ASTM Standard .................... o••·"··••o••oo••o••·········••o••·····••o••············•oo••o•• 7 

3.6 Special Terms and Conditions ... ,u••···················••o••··········••e••············•·o•e••··········••o••••o••·••o••••o••·8 

3. 7 Reliance .••....••.....••....•.. "················••o••·················••o•o•e••o••······················· ...... e •••••••••••• 11 ••••••••••••••••• 8 
4.0 Site Description ...••...••. " ............................... " ••...•......•. ., ....... 11 ....................................................... 8 

4.1 Location and Legal Description .................•....•..•........... " .......•....•...••.••.•.. o••······· ...................... 8 

4.2 Site and Vicinity Description .. o••····················••o••··· .. ········•·o••············ ......................................... 8 

4a3 Current Use of Property ..•...• "···················••o••···················· ....................... D •• 0.0 •• CI •• O •••••••••••• o .. o .... 8 
4.4 Description of Structures and Other Improvements ............................................................ 8 

4.5 Current Adjoining Property lnformation .... D •••• e.••······••o•••ooo••··············••o••·····················••o••o•o9 

5.0 User Provided Information ...•.•••.. o ••••••••••••••••••••• ., •••••••••••• e ....................... ., ••••••••• " .................... e ... 9 

5.1 Title Records •• o••·····••11••········•0••····••0••······· ....................... o •••• o •••••••••••••••••••••••••• a ••••••••• o •• " •••••••••••••• 9 

5.2 Environmental Liens and Activity/Use Limitations .............................................................. 9 

5.3 Specialized Knowledge ............................. o••·"·······································"· ............. e ..................... 9 
5.4 Purchase Price and Market Value Comparisonoo ...... oo••······ ........................ o ... 000 ..................... 9 

5.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues .......... oo••···· ..................................................... 9 

5.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information ....................................................... 9 

5. 7 Reason For Performing Pl1ase Io••·••o••·••oo•••o••••o••·····••o••·· .. ·••o••••o••·· ................................ 00 ............ 9 

6.0 Records Review ..•....•.•.•..••••..•..•.•.. 11••···················································· ............................. o ••••••••• 9 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ............................ 00 ............................................... 9 

6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources ............................................. oe•o•••oe• .......... o .......... 12 

6.3 Physical Setting Sources ... o••············••e••·••o••o••···········•oo••··············· .......................................... 13 

6.4 Historical Use Information ............................................ o.o••···························••e••··· .. •••••••••••••••• .. 13 

Atwell,LLC 

15002193 



Table of Contents 

6.4.1 Historical Summa1y .............................................................................................................. 13 

6.4.2 City Directories ..................................................................................................................... 14 

6.4.3 Aerial Photos ......................................................................................................................... 14 

6.4.4 Sanborn/Historical Maps ...................................................................................................... 15 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Repo1is ............................................................................................... 15 

7. 0 Site Reconnaissance .•. 0008000001lf>lil oooooeoooooooooooooooo 00000000 0000 ooaooooooooooo•ooooooooooo&OOOOOOQOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOGOOOOOOOOO 000 16 

7o1 Methodology and Limiting ConditionSoeOoQOOooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo 16 

7.2 General Site Settingooooooooeoooooooooooooooooooooooo111ooao•o•ooGOOOOOOOOOOOOOfHtOOOOOOOOOOOOOOGOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOGOOOOOGCU!QGOOO 16 

7.3 Site Visit Findings .... 00000000001toeoooaoooooooooooooool)OOOGOOOOOOOOOO,OOOOODOQOOOOGOOOOOQOOOOOOOOOl)OOOIIOOOOOC>oooooooeooaooooooaoooooo 16 

7.3.1 Hazardous Substances ........................................................................................................... 16 

7.3.2 Petroleum Products ............................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.3 USTs ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.4 ASTs ...................................................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.5 Other Suspect Containers ...................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.6 Equipment Likely to Contain PCBs ...................................................................................... 17 

7.3.7 Staining/Corrosion ................................................................................................................ 17 

7.3.8 Discharge Features ................................................................................................................ 18 

7.3.9 Pits, Ponds, And Lagoons ..................................................................................................... 18 

7 .3 .10 Solid Waste Dumping/Landfills .......................................................................................... 18 

7.3.11 Stained Soil/Stressed Vegetation ......................................................................................... 18 

7.3.12 Wells .................................................................................................................................... 18 

8. 0 Interviews .•.•••.••... a •••• 0 00 0 ••••••• 0 •••••••• 0 00 ••• 0 ••••••••••• ao ••••••••• 110 •••• a •••••• G •• 0 000 ••••• &o ••••••••••••••••••••• o o O •••• II •••••• 18 

9.0 Other Environmental Consideratio11s .......... oaooooe .. 00 • 00000 .. oooooooooooeooeooeooueuuooooooooooHOOOOOOOOOOOOOo l8 

9.1 Controlled SubstanceS.oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooeooaooaooooooooooooooooooooooooooo••·············•·o••··········••o••·· 18 

9.2 Continuing Obligations .....•.• o••········· ................ o ................ ., .... o .... o.o••·················"··········•·o••·····" 19 
9.3 Asbestos-Containing Materials .................................. ae••·········••e••················ ........................... 19 
9.4 Lead-Based Paint ..........•.............................•................................................................... ., ...... 19 

9.5 Radon .......•.•...••........•...•........•...•. 11••························································································· 19 
9. 6 Wetlands • ., ....•............•......•. ., ........................ o ........ o••···············••e••e•e•• .. ········••e•e••••e••·••o• ..................... 19 

9. 7 Mold Evaluation .•..•...•.. e••o••··········•·e•••O••• .. •e••··· ................................................................................. 19 

9.8 Items of Non-Compliance ............................................................................................ o••······••e••· .. •• 19 

9.9 Client-Specific Items ..................•........ e••o••·······•.,e•e••··••ee••ee••••e••··············••e••······················"···· 19 
10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusionsu ................ .., .......................... eoe••·••oo••···················19 

10.1 Report Findings and Opinions ................................ e••·······················• .. o••·························· ... 19 
10.2 Conclusions ........................................................................ o .................................................... 21 

Atwell,LLC 

15002193 



Table of Contents 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Referencesfl80Q0000(10fl00000•ooooooooooooooo1u1aeoe1100000QQQGOOOOGOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOGOOOOOOOOOOOOODG000000 • 00ooooooeooooo• 22 

Appendix B: QualificationSooooOQOO&oooooeooooooooooooooooocioooooooooooooooooQOOflOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOODOOOOOOOOOOQOoq(IOOOOO 24 

Appendix C: Figures •.. oooooee,1110000000000000000QOOOOOOOO&ooooooooooooooooooooooooooooof100000000000000000(IOOOCH10ooeoooooooooo1HDfilOOOf1GOOOO 27 

Appendix D: PhotographS11100011eoQOOflOOOOOOIIOOOOOOeooooQOOOOQOOOOOeOOOOOOOD0&0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000011eoo11030 

Appendix E: User Provided Information .•• oooooooooooooooQoOoooooooooooooeooooeooooeoooooooooooooao<100000000000000000000004l 

Appendix F: Historical Research Documentation .................................................................... 45 

Appendix G: Regulatory Records Documentation ................................................................... 67 

Appendix H: Records Documentation ..•... o •• o •••••••• ,u•••o•o••oooo••··••o•o••········ ........................ o.o•o••···· 247 

Appendix I: Interview Documentationoo ... o ...... oooo••·••uoooooooo• .. oo••ao••ee••ooea••••Uaooo••oooo•••oo•oo••·••oo••· 268 

Appendix J: Miscellaneous lnformation ..... ..,.oo•oo•••oooo••··········••oeoo•oo••ee•a••··• .. •oo••··••oo••oo••····· ...... 270 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 



1.0 General Information 

Project Information: 
Pontiac, Michigan - Phase I ESA 
15002193 

Consultant Information: 
Atwell, LLC 
Two Towne Square 
Southfield, MI 48076 
Phone: 248-447-2000 
Fax: 248-447-2001 
E-inail Address: ALongyear@atwell-group.com 
Inspection Date: 11/18/2015 
Report Date: 12/04/2015 

Site Assessor: 

Senior Reviewer: 

General Notes: 

Rebecca M. Harbison 
Environmental Consultant 

Allan R. Longyear, PG 
Project Manager 

Site Information: 
Pontiac Place 
140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 48342 
County: Oakland 

County 

140 Soutb Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Latitude, Longitude: 42.632800, -83.291100 
Site Access Contact: NI A 

Client Information: 
Walbridge 
Adorno Poccinini 
777 Woodward A venue, Suite 
Detroit , MI 48226 

Atwell conducted the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in order to provide an 
independent, professional opinion of the possible presence of Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) or other possible environmental concerns (if any) associated with the subject site as part of 
environmental due diligence. 

An REC is defined as the presence or likely presence of any hazardous substance or petroleum 
products in, on, or at a property: (1) due to any release to the environment; (2) under conditions 
mdicative of a release to the environment; or (3) or under conditions that pose a material threat of a 
future release to the environment. 

A Controlled REC (CREC) is defined as an REC resulting from a past release of hazardous substances 
or petroleum products that has been addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority, 
with hazardous substances or petroleum products allowed to remain in place subject to the 
implementation of required controls. 

A Historical REC (HREC) is defmed as a past release of any hazardous substances or petroleum 
products that has occurred in connection with the property and has been addressed to the satisfaction of 
the applicable regulatory authority, without subjecting the property to any required controls. 

In accordance with the United States Environmental Protection Agency, 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 312, "All Appropriate Inquiry" (AAI), Atwell is providing the following 
Environmental Professional (EP) declarations. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 1 o/797 



EP Certification: 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition of 
Environmental Professional as defined in 312.10 of this part. 

/(}//?----
Allan R. Longyear, PG - Project Manager 

AAI Certification: 

I have the specific qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess a property of 
the nature, history, and setting of the subject property. I have developed and performed the all 
appropriate inquines in conformance with the standards and practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 312. 

/(}//?--

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 

Allan R. Longyear, PG - Project Manager 

Page 2 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

2.0 Executive Summary 
Current Use of Property 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot, seven story commercial office building situated in 
the central portion of the property, with the remaining portions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The strncture consists of office space around the perimeter 
of each floor, with the core of the building housing the restrooms, stairwells, elevators, and mechanical 
rooms. The structure also has a full basement, which houses most of the mechanical equipment as well 
additional office space. During the site inspection, Atwell observed the subject site to be vacant of 
occupants and operations. The interior of the subject building was observed to be in poor condition, 
with significant water intrusion and mold growth visible in the basement, sixth floor, and seventh floor. 

Database/Records Review 

Atwell retained Environmental Data Resources (EDR) of Shelton, Connecticut, to review federal, 
tribal, state and EDR proprietmy records related to the subject site and nearby properties within the 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) approximate minimal search radius. Atwell's 
evaluation of RECs includes circumstances where migration of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products in solid or liquid form at the surface or subsurface (including vapors) could reach the subject 
site. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 

" The EDR report identified RCRA-Non Generator, Facility Index Systems (FINDS), Baseline 
Environmental Assessment (BEA), MI Inventmy, and Waste Data System (WDS) listings 
associated with the subject site. EDR identified numerous database listings associated with the 
subject site. According to the report, the subject site was a registered RCRA facility from 1991 
through 2005 and no regulatoty violations have been reported to date. Records indicate that two 
BEA reports were prepared for the subject site in 2005 and 2008. A BEA is completed for 
contaminated property in Michigan to limit liability for new owners. Atwell submitted a records 
request to the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) to review the BEA 
repmis and determined that elevated levels of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and metals 
were identified in the subject site soils and groundwater at concentrations exceeding applicable 
MDEQ criteria. The contamination is associated with historical filling station and automobile 
service operations that occurred on the northeast portion of the subject site in the 1930s through 
1950s. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination at the subject site represents 
an REC. 

• EDR also identified 22 sites of known or suspect contamination located within one-quatier mile 
of the subject site. Based on a review of the EDR report, Atwell determined that these sites have 
no reported violations or releases, achieved MDEQ approved closure, are located hydraulically 
down or cross gradient to the subject site, or are not located within close proximity (i.e., 
one-eighth mile) of the subject site. Therefore, it is the opinion of the EP that the nearby sites do 
not represent RECs. 

• In addition, Atwell reviewed the EDR Orphan Summmy (list of sites with inadequate address 
information) and did not identify any sites of known or suspect contamination located within 
one-quarter mile of the subject site. 

• Atwell conducted a preliminary vapor migration assessment of the property. The purpose of this 
assessment was to determine any potential risk related to volatile constituents associated with 
known soil or groundwater contamination in close proximity to the site building that may 
adversely impact indoor air quality. Based on a review of subsurface investigation repotis 
completed for the subject site indicating elevated levels of VOCs in the groundwater at the 

Page 3 of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

2.0 Ex;ecutive Summary (continued) 
Database/Records Review ( continued) 

subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that there is a moderate potential for vapor migration 
concerns to be present on the subject site. 

Historical/Document Review 

Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the subject 
site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 1972, the 
subject site was developed with multiple structures (including filling stations, automobile repair 
businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn 
Maps). Several subsurface investigations (identified below) have been completed by other consultants 
to address the historical filling station operations at the subject site and north adjoining property. 
Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs were likely removed as part of site redevelopment 
activities. 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review several previous 
environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: (1) BEA completed by McDowell & 
Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levme Fricke (LFR), dated 
November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface Investigation report completed by Hillman Environmental 
Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants 
include: (1) historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern 
portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical batte1y shop, auto repair shop, and 
paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a 
historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted 
at the east adjacent prope1ty in the 1924 Sanborn Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals 
identified in soil and groundwater at concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the 
completion of several subsurface investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater 
contamination, the subject site qualifies as a "facility" as defmed in Part 201 of the Natural Resources 
and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), 1994. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented 
contamination at the subject site represents an REC.In Atwell's professional opinion, the testing 
completed during the previous subsurface investigations did not mclude a full list of parameters 
typically associated with automobile service/repair shop operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic 
hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil boring location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses 
of the subject site. 

Site Reconnaissance Findings 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell evaluated the subject site for the potential presence of 
Recognized Environmental Conditions as defined by ASTM Designation: E 1527-13. 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the following REC: 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 

• Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may 
contain polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed 
several electrical transformers and two elevator mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in 
the subject building's basement. The vaults were filled with water and the transformers were 
ove1turned and appeared to be in various stages of disrepair. Based on the age of the structure 
(reportedly constructed in 1972), the possibility exists for the electrical equipment to contain 
PCBs. Based on the observed condition of the equipment, it is likely that the electrical equipment 
has leaked onto the nearby concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

Page 4 of797 



2.0 Executive Summary (continued) 
Site Reconnaissance Findings ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

In addition, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs stored within a basement 
office of the subject building during the site reconnaissance. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous 
levels of mercmy or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify that they 
are not hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the waste 
characterization requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent bulbs and 
ballasts (if any) be properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal regulations. 

Other Environmental Considerations 

No evaluation for other environmental considerations was conducted during the course of this Phase I 
ESA. 

Findings and Opinions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell identified and evaluated several potential environmental 
concerns and it is the opinion of the EP that the following RECs have been identified for the subject 
site: 

0 The documented soil and groundwater contamination at the subject site; and 

• The potential impact to the subject site resources from leaking electrical equipment in the subject 
building basement. 

Conclusions 

Atwell has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 
ASTM Practice E1527-13 and AAI specifications for the building and property located at 140 South 
Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. During the course of this Phase I ESA, the EP identified RECs 
associated with the subject site as previously identified. Therefore, Atwell recommends that a Limited 
Phase II Subsurface Investigation be conducted to determine the nature, extent and materiality of the 
RECs. In addition, Atwell recommends that new owners prepare a Baseline Environmental Assessment 
within 45 days of purchase. 

Suggested Actions to Address Business Environmental Risk 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include providing suggested actions to address 
business environmental risk. 

Disclaimer 

This report was prepared solely for the benefit of Walbridge and Oakland County and no other party or 
entity shall have any claim against Atwell due to the pe1f ormance or nonperformance of the services 
presented herein. Only Walbridge and Oakland County may rely upon this report for the sole purpose 
of obtaining financing, obtaining refinancing, acquisition of the subject site, lease of the subject site, or 
sale of the subject site. Any other parties seeking reliance upon this report must obtain Atwell's prior 
written approval. Atwell specifically renounces any and all claims by parties asserting a third party 
beneficiary status. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page5 o/797 



3.0 Introduction 
3.1 Purpose 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell conducted the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in order to provide an 
independent, professional opinion of the possible presence of Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) or other possible environmental concerns (if any) associated with the subject site as part of 
environmental due diligence. As defined in American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) 
Designation: E 1527-13, the term Recognized Environmental Conditions means "the presence or likely 
presence of any hazardous substance or petroleum products in, on, or at a property: (1) due to any 
release to the environment; (2) under conditions indicative of a release to the environment; or (3) or 
under conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the environment". 

Performance of the Phase I ESA was intended to reduce, but not eliminate, uncertainty regarding the 
existence of Recognized Environmental Conditions in connection with the subject site. 

3 .2 Scope of Work 

Atwell performed the Phase I ESA while using standards typically adhered to by other environmental 
consulting professionals. Atwell adheres to such professional standards in an effort to maintain 
innocent landowner defense options for sellers, bona fide prospective purchasers, lenders and/or 
contiguous property owners under guidelines set forth in the Federal Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA). The Phase I ESA was performed to meet the 
standard of "All Appropriate Inquiry" (AAI) as promulgated by the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEP A) to qualify for the CERCLA innocent landowner defenses. 

The Phase I ESA was conducted in general conformance with the ASTM Designation: E 1527-13, 
Standard Practice For Conducting Environmental Site Assessments and 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 312, AAI. 

This Phase I ESA was performed to evaluate environmental risk and does not include any investigation 
involving business environmental risks. 

The Scope of Work for the Phase I ESA included: 

A visual inspection of the subject site on November 18, 2015, and all improvements thereon to evaluate 
general environmental conditions; 

Establishing the present and past land uses at and adjacent to the site through the review of: (1) 
historical aerial photographs; (2) city directories; (3) the local topographic map; ( 4) local 
Assessment/Building Department/Tax records; ( 5) historical Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, if available; 
(6) the local Fire Department, and (7) interviews with present and past owners, operators and/or 
occupants, when available; 

A review and evaluation of the following databases of federal, tribal, state, and local known or 
suspected sites of environmental contamination within the applicable ASTM recommended distance 
from the subject site, including but not limited to: (1) The United States Environmental Protection 
Agency's (USEPA's) National Priority List (NPL) records including, current NPL sites, proposed NPL 
sites, de-listed NPL sites and NPL recove1y (Superfund Liens) sites; (2) The USEPA's Comprehensive 
Enviromnental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) list of known or suspected 
hazardous waste sites; (3) The USEPA's Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Information System (CERCLIS)-No Further Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) list of 
known or suspected hazardous waste sites; ( 4) The USEP A's Resource Conservation Recovery Act 
(RCRA) Corrective Action Report (CORRACTS) list for facilities that produce small quantities, large 
quantities, or transport, store, or dispose (TSD) of hazardous materials that are subject to corrective 
action under RCRA; (5) The USEPA's Resource Conservation Recove1y Information System (RCRIS) 
Non-CORRACTS notifier list for facilities that generate small quantities, large quantities, or TSD of 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 6of797 



3.0 Introduction (continued) 
3 .2 Scope of Work ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

hazardous materials; (6) The USEPA's Emergency Response Notification System (ERNS) list for 
reported releases of oil and hazardous substances; (7) USEP A's listins of sites with activity use 
limitations (AUL), engineering controls (US Eng. Controls), or sites with mstitutional controls in place 
(US Inst. Controls); (8) USEPA's listing ofBrownfields sites; (9) state and tribal-equivalent, prioritized 
listing of known sites of environmental contamination [State Hazardous Waste Sites (SHWS)]; (10) 
state and tribal-equivalent listing of NPL sites; (11) state and tribal-equivalent listing of CERCLA 
sites; (12) state and tribal-equivalent listing of current and formerly licensed and/or unlicensed landfill 
and disposal facilities (SWF/LF); (13) state and tribal-equivalent listing of Leaking Underground 
Storage Tank (LUST) sites; (14) state and tribal-equivalent listin$ of Registered Aboveground or 
Underground Storage Tanks (AST/UST); (15) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites subject to 
engineering controls (Eng Controls); (16) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites which are subject to 
institutional controls (Inst Controls); (17) state and tribal-equivalent listing of Voluntary Clean-up 
Sites (VCP); (18) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites listing of Brownfield sites; (19) proprietary 
and state-specific environmental database sites within one-quarter mile of the subject site, and 

Atwell has also provided a list of references used to complete the project (Appendix A). 

The Phase I ESA was conducted between the period of November 13, 2015 to December 4, 2015. 

This Phase I ESA was completed by Ms. Rebecca M. Harbison, Environmental Consultant of Atwell, 
under the supervision of Mr. Allan R. Longyear, Project Manager and Environmental Professional 
(EP). The EP's involvement includes the project planning; supervision; reviewing and interpreting all 
data collected; formation of fmdings and opinions; report review, and recommendations for any fmther 
investigations, if warranted. Personnel resumes are included in Appendix B. 

3.3 Significant Assumptions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, no significant assumptions were made. 

3 .4 Limitations and Exceptions 

During the site reconnaissance, interior visual observations were limited due to the lack of power to the 
subject site. These gaps, conditions and/or absences of information represent data failure in records 
pertaining to the subject site. 

The information obtained from external sources, to the extent it was relied upon to form Atwell's 
opinion about the environmental condition of the site, was assumed to be complete and correct. Atwell 
cannot be responsible for the quality and content of information from these sources. However, based on 
a review of readily available and reasonably ascertainable information, Atwell concluded that these 
limitations/data gaps should not materially limit the reliability of the report and that a thorough 
documentation of the subject site's environmental condition has been conducted. 

3.5 Deviations From the ASTM Standard 

No deviations from the recommended scope of ASTM Standard E 1527-13 or AAI were perfotmed as 
part of this Phase I ESA with the exception of any additions noted in Detailed Scope of Services or any 
additional items addressed in Section 9.0 (Other Environmental Considerations). 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 7 o/797 



3.0 Introduction (continued) 
3.6 Special Terms and Conditions 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Authorization to perform this assessment was given by the client on November 13, 2015. Instmctions 
as to the location of the property, access, and an explanation of the property and facilities to be 
assessed were provided by Mr. Adorno Piccinini of Walbridge. 

3. 7 Reliance 

Atwell stipulates that, as of the date of the report, the information and opinions included in this Phase I 
ESA may be used and relied upon by Walbridge and Oakland County. 

4.0 Site Description 
4.1 Location and Legal Description 

The subject site is located in the northeast quarter of Section 32, Township 3 North, Range 10 East, in 
the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan. A legal description (Parcel Number 
64-14-32-235-001) for the subject site is presented in Appendix H. The location of the subject site is 
presented on the Site Location Map in Figure 1 (Appendix C). 

4.2 Site and Vicinity Description 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot, seven story commercial office building situated in 
the central port10n of the property, with the remaining po1tions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The building consists of office space around the perimeter of 
each floor, with the core of the building housing the restrooms, stairwells, elevators, and mechanical 
rooms. The strncture also has a full basement, which houses most of the mechanical equipment as well 
additional office space. The area surrounding the site is primarily commercial. The Site Plan View is 
included as Figure 2 (Appendix C). 

4.3 Cunent Use of Property 

During the site inspection, Atwell observed the subject site to be vacant of occupants and operations. 
The interior of the subject building was observed to be in poor condition, with significant water 
intrusion and mold growth visible in the basement, sixth floor, and seventh floor. 

4.4 Description of Structures and Other Improvements 

With the exception of the subject building, paved parking areas, and public utilities, no other 
improvements are located on the subject site. Refer to Section 6.2 for further information. 

T e su ~ect building is constructed of a concrete acade over steel framing, with composite steel-concrete 
floors, aluminum frame windows, and aluminum & steel door assemblies. Interior finishes were generally 
observed to be in poor condition (i.e., water damaged or otherwise destroyed) and include: carpet, 
ceramic tile, and laminate flooring; drywall, tile, and CMU block walls; and acoustic tile and drywall 
ceilin s. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 80/797 



4.0 Site Description (continued) 
4.5 Current Adjoining Property Information 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

The subject site is bordered to the north by West Judson Street, with the Phoenix Center (a mutli-tenant 
commercial office building and parking structure) beyond; to the east by South Saginaw Street, with 
First United Methodist Church beyond; to the south by Jackson Street, with a vacant lot beyond; and to 
the west by Woodward A venue, with the Amtrak Train Station and railway beyond. During the site 
reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any RECs associated with the adjacent properties. 

5.0 User Provided Information 
5 .1 Title Records 

Atwell was provided limited title records for the subject site during the course of this Phase I ESA, 
which indicated that the current property owner for the subject site is Oakland County. Please refer to 
Section 6.2 for current and historical ownership/use of the subject site. 

5.2 Environmental Liens and Activity/Use Limitations 

The client/user indicated that they had no knowledge of any environmental liens or activity/use 
limitations associated with the subject site. 

5.3 Specialized Knowledge 

No specialized knowledge in connection with the current or historical use of the subject site, facility 
operations or adjacent properties was identified by the user/client. 

5 .4 Purchase Price and Market Value Comparison 

The user/client stated that the purchase price appears to be lower than the fair market value, based on 
the property being purchased following a foreclosure. 

5.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues 

No environmental issues were identified by the user/client that could result in property value reduction. 

5.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information 

No other pe1tinent information in connection with the subject site was provided by the owner, the 
property manager or the occupant. 

5. 7 Reason For Performing Phase I 

The Phase I ESA is being conducted for Walbridge as pait of environmental due diligence prior to 
property transfer. The User Provided Information questionnaire is included in Appendix E. 

6.0 Records Review 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources 

Atwell retained EDR of Shelton, Connecticut, to review federal, tribal, state and EDR proprietary 
records related to the subject site and nearby prope1ties within the ASTM approximate mmimum 
search radius (as seen on the table below). However, Atwell typically reviews local, state, tribal or 
federal database records of those sites of known environmental contamination (i.e., SHWS, LUST, 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 9of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

6.0 Records Review ( continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ( continued) 

CERCLIS, and NPL sites) within a one-quarter mile radius of the subject site. Atwell considers sites 
within this specified search radius as having the most potential to impact the subject site. Also, Atwell 
typically reviews local, state, tribal or federal database records of those sites of suspected 
environmental contamination (i.e., UST, Indian UST and RCRA generator sites), which adjoin the 
subject site, or, in the professional opinion of Atwell, are of such nature and proximity to the subject 
site to represent RECs. Atwell's evaluation of RECs includes circumstances where migration of 
hazardous substances or petroleum products in solid or liquid form at the surface or subsurface 
(including vapors) could reach the subject site. 

• The EDR report identified RCRA-NonGen, Facility Index Systems (FINDS), BEA, MI 
Inventory, and Waste Data System (WDS) listings associated with the subject site. According to 
the report, the subject site was a registered RCRA facility from 1991 through 2005 and no 
regulatory violations have been reported to date. Records indicate that two BEA reports were 
prepared for the subject site in 2005 and 2008. A BEA is completed for contaminated property in 
Michigan to limit liability for new owners. Atwell submitted a records request to the MDEQ to 
review the BEA reports and determined that elevated levels of volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs) and metals were identified in the subject site soils and groundwater at concentrations 
exceedmg applicable MDEQ criteria. The contamination is associated with historical filling 
station and automobile service operations that occuned on the northeast portion of the subject site 
in the 1930s through 1950s, as discussed in Section 6.4.2 and 6.4.4. It is the opinion of the EP 
that the documented contamination at the subject site represents an REC. Previous environmental 
reports are completed for the subject site discussed in further detail in Section 6.4.5. 

• EDR also identified 22 sites of known or suspect contamination located within one-quarter mile 
of the subject site, with listings that include: UST, LUST, RCRA-CESQG, RCRA-NonGen, MI 
Inventory, BEA, US Brownfields, EDR US Historical Auto Station (EDR US Hist Auto), EDR 
US Historical Cleaners (EDR US Hist Clean), FINDS, and WDS. Based on a review of the EDR 
rep011, Atwell determined that a majority of the sites have no reported violations or releases, 
achieved Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) approved closure, are located 
hydraulically down or cross gradient to the subject site, or are not located within close proximity 
(i.e., one-eighth mile) of the subject site. Therefore, it is the opinion of the EP that a majority of 
the sites do not represent RECs. The remaining sites are discussed in further detail below. 

• In addition, Atwell reviewed the EDR Orphan Summary (list of sites with inadequate address 
information) and did not identify any sites of known or suspect contamination located within 
one-quarter mile of the subject site. 

0 Atwell conducted a preliminaiy vapor migration assessment of the prope1ty. The purpose of this 
assessment was to determine any potential risk related to volatile constituents associated with 
known soil or groundwater contamination in close proximity to the site building that may 
adversely impact indoor air quality. Based on a review of subsurface investigation reports 
completed for the subject site indicating elevated levels of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in 
the groundwater at the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that there is a moderate potential for 
vapor migration concerns to be present on the subject site. Previous environmental reports 
completed for the subject site are discussed in Section 6.4.5. 

The EDR Radius Report with GeoCheck Report is included in Appendix G. 

Map Findings Summary 

Database 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 

Target Search 
Property Distance 

(Miles) 

<1/8 1/8-1/4 1/4 -1/2 1/2-1 >1 Total 
Plotted 

Page JO o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ( continued) 

NPL 
CERCLIS 
CERCLIS-NFRAP 
CORRACTS 
RCRA-TSDF 
RCRA-LOG 
RCRA-SOG 
RCRA-CESQG 
US ENG CONTROLS 
US INST CONTROL 
ERNS 
US BROWNFIELDS 
FINDS X 
EDR US Hist Auto Stat 
RCRA NonGen / NLR X 
SHWS 
SWF/LF 
LUST 
UST 
AST 
AUL 
BROWNFIELDS 
BROWNFIELDS 2 
SWRCY 
BEA X 
INVENTORY X 
PART201 
WDS X 
INDIAN LUST 
INDIAN UST 
INDIANVCP 
INDIAN ODI 
INDIAN RESERV 
EDRMGP 

Site Name: 
Databases: 
Address: 

VACANTLOT 
WDS, LUST, UST 
147 S SAGINAW 

1 
0.5 
0.5 
1 

0.5 
0.25 
0.25 
0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
TP 
0.5 
TP 

0.125 
0.25 

1 
0.5 
0.5 

0.25 
0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
1 

TP 
0.5 

0,25 
0.5 
0.5 
1 
1 

Distance: 
Direction: 

Adjoining beyond South Saginaw 
Northeast 

Elevation: Lower 

0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
2 0 
0 0 
0 0 

NR NR 
0 1 

NR NR 
1 NR 
5 4 
0 0 
0 0 
4 2 
3 2 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
1 5 
7 10 
1 0 

NR NR 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
1 0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

NR 
NR 
NR 

0 
0 

NR 
7 

NR 
NR 
NR 

0 
0 
9 

NR 
NR 

3 
0 
0 
1 
5 
14 
1 

NR 
0 

NR 
0 
0 
0 
0 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

0 NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 

1 NR 1 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 2 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 8 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 10 

0 NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 15 
NR NR 5 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 3 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 12 
NR NR 32 

1 NR 3 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
0 NR 0 
0 NR 1 

Comments: According to the report, the southeast adjacent property (147 South Saginaw Street) is 
listed in the UST, LUST, RCRA-NonGen, FINDS, and WDS databases. Records indicate 
that two, 550-gallon USTs of unknown contents were removed from the property in March 
1998. A release (Leak No. C-0824-96) was reported from one or both of the USTs in 
October 1996 and achieved unrestricted residential closure status in April 1998. Closure 
status indicates that subsurface investigations/corrective actions have been completed to 
render the contaminants to within applicable MDEQ criteria. Based on this information, it 
is the opinion of the EP that the southeast adjacent property does not represent an REC to 
the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 11 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

6.0 Records Review ( continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ( continued) 

Site Name: 
Databases: 

dress: 
tance: 

Direction: 
Elevation: 
Comments: 

GM TRUCK & BUS EAST 
LUST, WDS 
31 E JUDSON ST 
236-feet 
Nmiheast 
Lower 
Records indicate that a release (Leak No. C-0677-85) was reported at the northeast 
adjacent property (31 East Judson Street) in November 1988. The release achieved Type B 
closure status in September 1995, which indicates that contaminants were detected above 
laboratory detection limits but below all applicable MDEQ criteria. There was no 
information (installation/removal dates, capacity, contents) available pertaining to the 
US Ts at the northeast adjacent property. Based on the closure status, it is the opinion of the 
EP that the northeast adjacent property does not represent an REC to the subject site. 

6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources 

Atwell reviewed current and historical files maintained by the City of Pontiac municipal offices for the 
subject site. The review of municipal records was conducted in order to identify possible envirnnmental 
concerns (e.g., suspect building materials, USTs, ASTs, etc.) associated with the subject site. Assessing 
Depaiiment and Building records indicate that the subject site was formerly developed with a one story 
battery shop owned by L.M Angleton (1923-1926), and developed with other strnctures owned by John 
Foster (1927-1928), First National Bank (1935-1941), Sam's Unclaimed Freight Store (1942-1945), 
Fields (1948), City of Pontiac Urban Renewal Project (1963), and Telander Redevelopment and 
Construction (1971-1978). 

The City of Pontiac Buildin$ Department records indicate that the subject site has been occupied by 
multiple tenants since 1983, mcluding" Prudential Life INC (suite 101), Byron and Trerris (suite 201) 
and Wilco Corp show up in 1983. The subject site has been owned by New York Life Insurance 
Company (1981-1986), Lambrecht (1985), Troy Design (1985-1986), Pontiac Place Restaurant (1988), 
Terrice Management (1989), Thrifty Drugs of Pontiac (1991-1993), GM Truck and Bus (1992), Bric 
Inc. (1997), LDM Tech (1999), Nucorp, Inc. D/B/A Manpower Automotive (1995) and UAW - GM 
Legal Services (2007). There was no information on file pertaining to the current/former presence of 
suspected USTs, ASTs, at the subject site. 

Atwell contacted the City of Pontiac municipal offices to determine the zoning specifications for the 
subject site. The subject property is currently zoned C-2 Downtown. 

Atwell submitted a freedom of information act (FOIA) request to the Waterford Township Fire 
Department for information regarding current or former USTs or ASTs at the subject site, as well as, 
any hazardous material storage, spill response records or commonly known information that may be 
available from fire depatiment representatives. Fire department records did not identify any items 
indicative of environmental concern for the subject site. 

The subject site is not currently connected to any municipal or public utilities. Municipal sewer and 
water is available through the City of Pontiac, and electricity is available through DTE. According to 
the online Consumers SIMS database, natural gas services were connected to the subject site in 1972 
(when the current building was constructed). No records of past heating sources for the historical 
structures were readily available. 

The Oakland County Environmental Health Department (OCEHD) maintain environmental files for 
sites throughout Oakland County. The files contain field inspection reports from city inspectors, 
reported environmental problems, results of right-to-know programs and other miscelfaneous data. 
Atwell submitted a FOIA request to the OCEHD for any information regarding water wells, septic 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 12 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

systems, hazardous material storage or any commonly known information that may be available from 
OCEHD representatives. OCEHD indicated that no such records are on file for the subject site. 

Atwell reviewed the MDEQ, Remediation and Redevelopment Division (RRD) Perfected Lien List, 
dated September 24, 2015 (most recent version available), regarding any recorded environmental liens 
for the subject site. Atwell did not identify any RRD environmental liens on file for the subject site or 
parent parcel. 

Interview documentation is included in Appendix I. Records documentation is included in Appendix 
H. 

6.3 Physical Setting Sources 

Atwell reviewed the USGS 7.5 Minute Topographic Map of the subject site and surrounding area. The 
topographic map reviewed was the 1907, 1943, 1952, 1968, 1973, 1983, and 1997 Pontiac, Michigan 
Quadrangle. The subject site and surrounding areas are depicted as densely developed urban land in the 
1907 through 1997 topographic maps. Notable features depicted include a railroad to the west and a 
church property to the east of the subject site. 

Surface drainage at the subject site appears to be generally to the east/northeast, towards Clinton River 
and Spring Lake. According to the EDR, Physical Setting Source Summary, no groundwater flow 
direction data has been reported within one quarter mile of the subject site. Unless othe1wise noted, the 
surface drainage flow direction has been inferred from a review of regional topographical data. 
Site-specific conditions may vaiy due to a variety of factors, including geologic anomalies, utilities, 
nearby pumping wells (if present), and other developments. 

According to the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) online Web Soil Survey, the subject 
site soils are primarily composed of urban land. Urban land has been so developed that soil 
characteristics are undefmed. However, review of previous subsurface investigations completed for the 
subject site indicate that the site soils are composed of clayey fill soil underlain by silty clay. 

6.4 Historical Use Information 
6.4.1 Historical Summary 

Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the subject 
site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 1972, the 
subject site was developed with multiple stmctures (including filling stations, automobile repair 
businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn 
Maps). Several subsurface investigations have been completed by other consultants to address the 
historical automobile service, repair, and filling station operations at the subject site and north 
adjoining property. Based on a review of analytical results provided in the most recent BEA prepared 
for the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination in the site soils and 
groundwater represents an REC. Previous environmental reports completed for the subject site are 
discussed in further detail in Section 6.4.5. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 13 of797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information (continued) 

6.4.2 City Directories 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell retained EDR to conduct a review of historical cross-index directories on file for the subject site 
and immediately adjoining properties. Bresser's, Cole's, and Polk's Cross-Index Directories compile 
historical addresses for sites located throughout southeastern Michigan. EDR reviewed the Oakland 
County area indexes in approximately five-year intervals for the time period of 1931 to 2013. The EDR 
City Directory Abstract is included in Appendix F. 

During the review of historical address directories, Atwell identified the subject site as being occupied 
by the following: Holland Furnace Company, Shell Petroleum Company, Economy Lunch, Nicholas 
Angelo soft drinks, and private residents (1931); Narrin's Service Station, Miller Oil & Gas, Posey & 
Son's auto repairs, Long Geo used cars, Traicoff restaurant (1939); Sucher's Bros filling station, Butch's 
Collision Service/auto repair, Goodyear Service Store, Sam's Unclaimed Freight, Milliman used cars 
(1945); Oakland County Gas & Oil, H&H Industrial Sewer Cleaners, Bodner paints and linoleum, 
Milliman used car lot, Pete's Lunch (1952); Oakland County Gas & Oil, Seat Cover Mart, Harold's 
Pain & Linoleum, Owens used cars, Pete's Place restaurant (1957); Oakland County Gas & Oil, Pontiac 
Undercoating Auto, Auto Reconditioning Service, Liquidation Mart Used Cars, Pete's Place restaurant 
(1962); and general commercial office, restaurants, and physician's offices from 1977 through 2013. 

The north adjoining property was formerly part of the subject site and was listed as being occupied by 
various filling stations ( as previously listed above) from 1931 to 1962. The east adjacent property was 
listed as being occupied by various churches from 1931 through 2013, and the west adjacent property 
was either not listed or listed as being occupied by private residents until 2003, when the current bus 
and train station was initially listed. The south adjacent property was listed as being occupied by 
private residents, commercial retail businesses, and auto sales businesses from 1931 to 1962. 

It is the opinion of the EP that city directories have identified the historical automobile service and 
filling station operations at the subject site and north adjacent property as occupants of environmental 
concern. 

6.4.3 Aerial Photos 

Atwell reviewed aerial photographs for the years 1940, 1949, 1956, 1963, 1974, 1980, 1990, 1997, 
2000, 2005, 2010 and 2014 on file with the Oakland County One Stop Shop and DTE Aerial 
Photograph Collection. Aerial photographs are included in Appendix F. 

No evidence of landfilling activities, waste dumping, unexplained excavation, or hazardous material 
storage activities were observed during the review of historical aerial photographs. 

The aerial photograph review is as follows: 

The subject site is depicted as developed with small commercial buildings and paved parking areas in 
the 1940 through 1963 aerial photographs. By 1974, the subject site is depicted as developed with the 
current commercial building, and further developed with the current parking areas in 1980. 

The surroundings properties appear to consist of small commercial buildings, and residential homes in 
the 1940 to 1963 aerial photographs. In 1974 the land north and south of the subject site is undeveloped 
and the property to the east is occupied by two large commercial buildings. By 1990, the adjacent 
properties to the north and east are depicted as developed with large commercial buildings and paved 
parking lots. In the 1997 aerial photograph, the east adjacent property appears developed similar to the 
present. The south adjacent property appears to consist of undeveloped land in the 1974 to 2014 aerial 
photographs. The western adjacent property is depicted as a parking lot from 1980 to 2010, and as 
developed with the current commercial building in 2014. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 14 o/797 



6.0 Records Review ( continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information ( continued) 

6.4.4 Sanborn/Historical Maps 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell submitted a request to EDR for copies of available Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps that cover the 
subject site and surrounding adjacent prope1iies. These historical maps may provide information 
pertaining to adverse land uses and the presence and/or location of USTs. EDR concluded that 
Sanborn/Fire Insurance Maps for the years 1888, 1892, 1898, 1903, 1909, 1915, 1919, 1924, 1950, and 
1970 were available for the subject site. The Sanborn Maps are included in Appendix F. 

During the review of the historical fire insurance maps, Atwell identified historical filling station and 
auto repair operations (with five associated USTs) at the subject site and north adjoining property. 
Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
studies indicates that although contamination is present in the site soils and groundwater, historical 
USTs appear to have been removed as part of site redevelopment activities. Refer to Section 6.4.5 for 
further discussion regarding previous environmental repmis completed for the subject site. 

A review of the Sanborn Maps is as follows: 

During the review of the historical fire insurance maps, Atwell identified the subject site as developed 
with as many as four residential dwellings and associated outbuildings in the southern portion of the 
property and a lumber yard in the northeastern portion of the property from 1888 to 1903. In addition, a 
public roadway (initially named "Rail Road" and later renamed "Chase Street") is depicted traversing 
east-west through the northern portion of the prope1iy from 1888 to 1950. From 1909 to 1915, two 
buildings associated with the lumber yard are depicted overlapping the northern pmiion of the property, 
and by 1919 only the small building (labeled "auto repair" remains. The 1924 Sanborn Map depicts the 
subject site as developed with a filling station (with two associated USTs) in the northeast portion of 
the property, two commercial storefronts in the eastern and southwestern portions of the property, a 
residential dwelling in the western portion of the property, and a batte1y shop and furnace store in the 
central portion of the property. By 1950, the subject site is depicted as developed with two filling 
stations (and five associated USTs) in the northeastern pmiion of the property, an automobile sales and 
service shop in the northern pmiion of the property, a residential dwelling in the western p01iion of the 
property, and three commercial storefronts/restaurants in the central and southern portions of the 
property. The 1970 Sanborn Map depicts the subject site as a vacant, undeveloped lot. 

The east adjacent property (beyond South Saginaw Street) is depicted as developed with a church 
building from 1888 to 1970. The south adjacent property (beyond West Jackson Street) is depicted as 
developed with residential dwellings and a ~ain elevator company from 1888 to 1950, and as 
undeveloped land in 1970. The west adjoinmg propetiy appears undeveloped until 1898, when 
residential dwellings and outbuildings appear through 1950. The west adjoining property is depicted as 
undeveloped land in 1970. 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review several previous 
environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: (1) BEA completed by McDowell & 
Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levine Fricke (LFR), dated 
November 11, 2005; and (3) Phase II Subsurface Investigation report completed by Hillman 
Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. Copies of all or portions of these 
reports are presented in Appendix J. 

RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants include: (1) historical gas station and 
automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern portions of the property from the 
1920s through 1950s; (2) historical batte1y shop, auto repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the 
eastern portion of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east 
adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 15 of797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information (continued) 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

1924 Sanborn Map; and ( 4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified in soil and groundwater at 
concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several subsmface 
investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the subject site 
qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act (NREPA), 1994. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination at the subject site 
represents an REC. In Atwell's professional opinion, the testing completed during the previous 
subsurface investigations did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile 
service/repair shop operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil 
boring location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses of the subject site. 

7 .0 Site Reconnaissance 
7.1 Methodology and Limiting Conditions 

On November 18, 2015, Ms. Rebecca Harbison, Environmental Consultant for Atwell, conducted a 
walking reconnaissance of the subject site. During the site reconnaissance, Atwell evaluated the subject 
site for the potential presence of the following Recognized Environmental Conditions: (1) hazardous 
substances; (2) petroleum products; (3) evidence of the presence of underground storage tanks (USTs); 
(4) evidence of the presence of aboveground storage tanks (ASTs); (5) other susl?ect containers; (6) 
polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-containing equipment; (7) interior or exterior staming/corrosion; (8) 
discharge features (i.e., current or former septic/leaching fields, floor drains, oil/water separators); (9) 
pits, ponds or lagoons; (10) evidence of excavation and/or landfilling activities; (11) evidence of 
surface soil/surface water stains and/or stressed vegetation; (12) water supply and/or groundwater 
monitoring wells, and (13) observations of adjacent property uses and potential evidence of adverse 
environmental impacts associated with adjoining properties (addressed in Section 4.5). 

The weather condition at the time of the site reconnaissance was raining and approximately 50-degrees 
Fahrenheit. The visual reconnaissance consisted of observing the boundaries of the property and 
systematically traversing the site to provide an overlapping field of view, wherever possible. The 
periphery of the on-site structure was observed along with interior accessible common areas, storage 
and maintenance areas. During the site reconnaissance, interior visual observations were limited due to 
the lack of power to the subject site. Photographs of pertinent site features identified during the site 
reconnaissance are included in Appendix D. 

7 .2 General Site Setting 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot. seven stmy commercial office building situated in 
the central port10n of the property, with the remaining portions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The Site Inspection Environmental Checklist is included in 
AppendixJ. 

7.3 Site Visit Findings 
7.3.1 Hazardous Substances 

No significant quantities (i.e., greater than typical residential use) and/or bulk storage of hazardous 
substances were identified on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 16 o/797 



7.0 Site Reconnaissance (continued) 
7.3 Site Visit Findings ( continued) 

7.3.2 Petroleum Products 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

No significant quantities (i.e., greater than typical residential use) and/or bulk storage of petroleum 
products were identified on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.3 USTs 

Atwell evaluated the subject site for the possible presence of USTs. Typical indicators of USTs 
include: (1) gas pumps or pump islands; (2) vent pipes; (3) fill ports; or (4) unusual depressions. 
During the site reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any readily apparent evidence of the 
current/former presence of USTs at the subject site. However, as discussed m Section 6.1 and 6.4.5, 
Atwell is aware of the former presence of USTs at the subject site. 

The lack of visible evidence of any other potential US Ts and the fact that the individuals and agencies 
identified in this report were not aware of or did not have record of the presence of any other USTs 
does not preclude the possibility that other USTs could be present at the subject site property. Visible 
evidence of US Ts, such as fill ports or vent pipes, may have been obscured from view and other US Ts 
could have been used at the subject site property without the knowledge of the cunent owner/operator, 
site contact or government agency. 

7.3.4 ASTs 

No readily apparent evidence of ASTs was identified on the subject property during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.5 Other Suspect Containers 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs stored 
within a basement office of the subject building. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous levels of 
mercmy or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify that they are not 
hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the waste characterization 
requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent bulbs and ballasts (if any) be 
properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal regulations. No other suspect 
containers were identified on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.6 Equipment Likely to Contain PCBs 

Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may contain 
PCBs. During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed several electrical transformers and two elevator 
mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in the subject building's basement. The vaults were 
filled with water and the transformers were overturned and appeared to be in various stages of 
disrepair. Based on the age of the structure (reportedly constructed in 1972), the possibility exists for 
the electrical equipment to contain PCBs. Based on the observed condition of the equipment, it is likely 
that the electrical equipment has leaked onto the nearby concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

7.3. 7 Staining/Corrosion 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed staining/cmrnsion on and near the electrical 
equipment and elevators located in the subject building's basement. It is the opinion of the EP that 
potential impact to the subsurface environment from leaks and spills of hazardous materials represents 
an REC to the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 17 o/797 



7.0 Site Reconnaissance (continued) 
7 .3 Site Visit Findings ( continued) 

7.3.8 Discharge Features 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Ml 
Walbridge 

With the exception of floor drains within the lavatories and basement, no discharge features (septic 
systems, catch basins, oil/water separators, etc.) were observed on the subject site during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.9 Pits, Ponds, And Lagoons 

No pits, ponds or lagoons were observed on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.10 Solid Waste Dumping/Landfills 

No readily apparent evidence of solid waste dumping (i.e., unusual mounding, debris piles, or 
depressions), suspect fill material, or landfilling was identified on the subject site during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.11 Stained Soil/Stressed Vegetation 

No stained soil or stressed vegetation was observed on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.12 Wells 

No evidence of water supply or groundwater monitoring wells was observed on the subject property 
during the site reconnaissance. 

8.0 Interviews 

With the exception of previously mentioned interviews and/or infmmation received from the Client, 
owner, occupants and/or municipal offices, no other interviews were conducted during the course of 
this Phase I ESA. 

9.0 Other Environmental Considerations 
9 .1 Controlled Substances 

The presence of controlled substances on the subject site must be evaluated if the client is applying for 
or has been awarded a grant under CERCLA/EP A or if the property is considered abandoned. 

The term "controlled substance" means a drng or other substance, or immediate precursor, included in 
schedule I, II, III, IV, or V of part B of 21 US Code 802. The dmgs include but are not limited to 
ephedrine and pseudoephedrine, which are suppressants that are used in common over-the-counter 
weight control and decongestant drugs, as well as, acetone, toluene and other solvents. These 
"controlled substances" are used to manufacture various dmgs for recreational use. Unusually large 
quantities (i.e., cases of cold tablets, diet pills, unexplained containers of solvents) would be observed 
if the substances were being misused and site use should be taken into account when evaluating for 
"controlled substances". The term does not include distilled spirits, wine, malt beverages, or tobacco, as 
those terms are defmed or used in subtitle E of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any evidence for the presence of controlled 
substances on the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 18 of797 



9.0 Other Environmental Considerations (continued) 
9.2 Continuing Obligations 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Owners or operators of real propetiy may be subject to certain land use restrictions or institutional 
controls as part of continued occupancy of a site. These obligations may include resource restrictions; 
conducting reasonable steps with respect to hazardous substance releases; provide full cooperation, 
assistance, and access to persons that are authorized to conduct response actions or natural resource 
restorations; comply with federal information requests and administrative subpoenas, and provide all 
legally required notices. During the site reconnaissance and review of reasonably ascertainable 
records, Atwell identified the presence of documented contamination at the subject site. Therefore, it is 
the opinion of the EP that the current and/or future site owner may be subject to continuing obligations. 

9 .3 Asbestos-Containing Materials 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an inspection or sampling of suspect ACMs. 

9.4 Lead-Based Paint 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of the presence of lead-based 
paint on the subject site. 

9.5 Radon 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation for the potential presence of 
Radon in the area of the subject site. 

9.6 Wetlands 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of suspect wetland areas on 
the subject site. 

9. 7 Mold Evaluation 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include a mold evaluation on the subject site. 

9.8 Items ofNon-Compliance 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of items of non-compliance 
with applicable local, state, or federal regulations. 

9 .9 Client-Specific Items 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include addressing any client-specific items for the 
subject site. 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell identified and evaluated several potential environmental 
concerns and it is the opinion of the EP that the following RECs have been identified for the subject 
site: 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 19of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions (continued) 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions ( continued) 

Atwell, UC 
15002193 

0 Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, 
fire insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the 
subject site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 
1972, the subject site was developed with multiple strnctures (including filling stations, 
automobile repair businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 (as 
depicted in the Sanborn Maps). Several subsurface investigations have been completed by other 
consultants to address the historical automobile service, repair, and filling station operations at 
the subject site and no1th adjoining property. Review of previous subsurface investigation reports 
and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs 
were likely removed as part of site redevelopment activities. Based on a review of analytical 
results provided in the most recent BEA prepared for the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP 
that the documented contamination in the site soils and groundwater represents an REC. In 
Atwell's professional opinion, the testing completed during the previous subsurface investigations 
did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile service/rev.air shop 
operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil boring 
location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses of the subject site. 

• During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review several 
previous environmental repotis completed for the subject site, including: (1) BEA completed by 
McDowell & Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levine 
F1icke (LFR), dated November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface Investigation report completed by 
Hillman Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the 
subject site by other consultants include: (1) historical gas station and automobile service/repair 
operations on the northern and eastern portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) 
historical battery shop, auto repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the 
prope1ty from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent 
property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent prope1ty in the 
1924 Sanborn Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified in soil and 
groundwater at concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several 
subsurface investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the 
subject site qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), 1994. 

• Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may 
contain PCBs. During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed several electrical transformers 
and two elevator mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in the subject building's 
basement. The vaults were filled with water and the transformers were overturned and appeared 
to be in various stages of disrepair. Based on the age of the strncture (reportedly constrncted in 
1972), the possibility exists for the electrical equipment to contain PCBs. Based on the observed 
condition of the equipment, it is likely that the electrical equipment has leaked onto the nearby 
concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

0 During the site reconnaissance, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs 
stored within a basement office of the subject building. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous 
levels of mercury or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify 
that they are not hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the 
waste characterization requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent 
bulbs and ballasts (if any) be properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal 
regulations. 

Page 20 of 797 



10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions (continued) 
10.2 Conclusions 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 
ASTM Practice E1527-13 and AAI specifications for the building and proJ?erty located at 140 South 
Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. Any exceptions to, or deletions from, this practice are described in 
Section 3 .4 of this report. During the course of this Phase I ESA, the EP identified RECs associated 
with the subject site as previously identified. Therefore, Atwell recommends that a Limited Phase II 
Subsurface Investigation be conducted to determine the nature, extent and materiality of the RECs. In 
addition, Atwell recommends that new owners prepare a Baseline Environmental Assessment within 45 
days of purchase. 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 21 o/797 



K-TECH ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

Mr. Adorno Piccinini 
Walbridge 
777 Woodward Ave 
Suite# 300 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 

Ref: Mold Bulk Sampling & Analysis 
(Vacant Office Building) 
140 S. Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 

Dear Mr. Piccinini: 

November 18, 2015 
ProjectNo.: 1511-4659 

This report presents the results of the mold bulk sampling performed at the above referenced 
building in Pontiac, Michigan. Sampling was conducted by K-Tech Environmental 
representative, Rawlins Stivers Jr. on November 16, 2015 and then submitted them to Apex 
Research Inc. for laboratory analysis. The purpose of the bulk sampling was to identify 
mold/fungus spores and determine the existence "if any" of Stachybotrys spores, known as 
"black mold" on the walls and floor debris of the basement and ih floor of the building. 

Five bulk samples were collected from drywall materials and floor debris consisting of ceiling 
tiles located inside the basement of the building for fungal organism identification. Also, it was 
observed that the drywall located on the ih floor, north side, contained mold and a sample was 
collected from this area. Sample designations, description and location of the samples, along 
with the laboratory results are included in the table below. 

The bulk samples were analyzed for Microscopic examination using light microscopy analysis at 
600X with Calbera's stain to identify the mold/fungus spores that may be present in the bulk 
samples. Official laboratory results are attached for your reference. 

It was noted that the ih floor drywall had sustained water damage and now are hosting 
mold/fungus colonies. Water damage materials should be cleaned and environmental conditions 
should be changed to prevent further growth of the mold. 

The analytical lab test results for the bulk samples revealed the presence of mold spores, conidia 
or hyphae (Cladosporium, Stachybotrys, Penicillium/Aspergillus and Alternaria) in the form of 
growth with 51 %-75% of the drywall & ceiling tiles debris contains mold spores (please see 
attached lab results). Stachybotrys which sometimes referred to as "black mold" was found in all 
five bulk samples. 

The mold sampling data results presented in this report are indicative of the conditions of the 
building environment, as they existed on the day of the inspection and at the time of sampling 
only. 

19500MiddlebeltRd. , Suite 111E • Livonia,Ml48152 • Ph.(248)426·7600 , Fax(24BJ426·766'> 



In conclusion, at this time, based on the laboratory test results of the bulk samples, K-Tech 
Environmental recommends that all affected materials be removed and water sustained walls & 
floor areas be cleaned with 5% bleach solution products and anti-fungus solution be applied to 
prevent any mold/fungus growth in the future. 

Also, K-Tech Environmental highly recommends that the workers performing the cleanup must 
wear personal protective equipment including at least half face air purifying respirators with 
HEP A filters during the cleanup operations. 

K-Tech Environmental appreciates the opportunity to provide you with our services. Should you 
have any questions or require any additional information concerning this rep01i, please do not 
hesitate to contact our office at (248) 426-7600. 

Respectfully submitted, 
K-Tech Environmental 

Nick Kobrossi 
Vice President 

NK/mk 

Attachments 



K-TECH ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS,. INC. 
Bulk Sampling & Analysis for Mold Spores 

Location: 140 S. Saginaw Street, Pontiac, MI 

Project No.: 1511-4659 

Date Collected: November 16, 2015 

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION/LOCATION MOLDTir::'r: 

1 Bulk Sample / Basement, Drywall Materials on wall Please 

2 Bulk Sample / Basement, Drywall Materials on wall See 

3 Bulk Sample / Basement, Ceiling Materials on floor Attached 

4 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Ceiling Materials on floor Lab 

5 Bulk Sample / i 11 floor, Drywall Materials on North wall Test Results 

*Refer to the attached Lab Report for results. 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I I IE 
Livonia, MI 48152 

ARL Report # 15-M19874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-1 
Client ID: 1 
Location: Basement- Wall (Drywall) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybotrys 
Cladosporium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Penicillium/Aspergillus 
Alternaria 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fun~ • .)'CilSla, moldti". me no1 :.bl,: to be idcru11iud b)' m,cf()JOO('llc l,':Xaminution, 11II idcMifi<:ationa: arc. pn:M1.mpl1vc ~nd cooflrm1.tlt)n ofJ11cci ik ,,~olds. fungi, ur ycaJ1t or hnctc:ri.1 t'hr,n.11(1 bo oonfirm~d b)' 

culturina Al'fiX Rt:itJJ\.\h l:t no, n:11J')Onsiblc for tho ,uinplo coUt!~1ion or mlcfl'rctnt.ion of ~uhs. 11,c rcsul~ an. prcsumptrvc and nn41y~~! 10 ro~leQ.tho;«indidon1 Al 1hc lllOmCIH 1estOO with undcNtaodioa thu1 

ru~ulli moy v11ry w11h time 1md tipacc. The u.bovc ccrtiflcalc ofanaJysis rchnc:!l only 10 the 1omplcll 1c,1cd and to in~ro 1ho inte,arity ofri:54.11t,inlay onl°yb\.tcproduccd ln full Llo,bllily llrn1tcd 10 c1Ht of :analysii. 

Apex Research L~boratories Inc., 11054 H1 Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, MJ 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449-9991 
Page I ofS 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. 111 E 
Livonia, MI 48152 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11 /I 6/ I 5 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
DateReported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-2 
Client ID: 2 
Location: Basement Wall (Drywall) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybotrys 
Myxomycetes 
Hyphal Fragments 
Penicillium/Aspergillus 
Chaetomium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 
1 

Image of Sample 
Date: l 1 / l 7 I I 5 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Soinc fuoa,I, yea.,1,, mold.", .i.r,: not able 10 ~ w;l,;mrilicd by n,icrosoopi<l auunhuulon. all ldc1H.incatloa.i1 ilrC prc:sumptzvc and conlirmalic,n of spc1:ific molds, funa;i, or )'Cl5t or bac1c:ri:i should b~ ~onllnncJ by 

cuhurir,a, AP8X RCilcarcb aJ not rcspo1uiblc rot tbc 1utn1plc u,Ucclion or 1111crprC'lnlrC1n of n:31.,1/l·s, The r.;Juh.11 t.n: presumptive and analyzed' hl rcflc4,;I thcl l:O!iJ1liOn8 at the m1)mcnt te.slcd with undm:umdma lhAl 

rc1mlt11 n,ay vwy with d rnc 1md spac4.:, 'rhc uh1)vc ccrtiflcutc of' unulyt1-i~ l"Ql!UQC (.lnl)' lo the ~ 1p lc; h!st~ 1.nd CO lnwrc tho inctG,tily uf rd)iu lt1 m:l' only be ~~roduccd in full Liubihty limited to cost ol' nn11!y11!i 

Apex Research L~boratories Tnc., l I 054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48 189 (734) 449•9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991 
Page 2 of5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. 111 E 
Livonia, Ml 48152 

Lab ID# M19874-3 
ClientID: 3 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/L 7/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Location: Ceiling Tile on Basement Floor 
Sample: Bulk 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybotrys 
Hyphal Fragments 
Cladosporium 
Penicillium/ Aspergillus 
Ulocladium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1 
1 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

RESCAACH 

Some funai, yeasts, rnoJdr, ure not ablC" IO be idc:nli.Oc:d by microscopic cx1m.ioalion. o.11 ldcntlricatlor,s ore pre)IJ 111r,1,vt1 a.mJ crnfim1;1iQn of spc01fic molds, fuogi, or yeast or boclcn? shouJd be oonflnncd by 

'-"Ulh.irins APEX Rc,~rch is no1 rtf.pondblc for 1bt ,nmple collcetlon or inierprct~llCir'I ur rc11ul1,- The rc;l,llt• uN pr~sumptivc and anoJyzcd lo rcncct"thc condition• 111 tllc momcn1 tcllcd wld1 untlctm1nLl inl! th.tu 

rtsulu may VQfy w11b l liiit and sp.acti. 'fhe llhovc ccrtificalc ofnnulysit.t rclutci, only to the samples IC.!ltcd 11nd IO Insure the lntewiry nf r'fflUll.$ m=:,i only he~produccd in IUII Liabi lity limited to co2it ofom1l.y11ia 

,.e # ~ • 

-·· , .. 

Apex Research La_boratories Inc., I 1054 H, Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991 
Page 3 of5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. t 1 lE 
Livonia, MT 48152 

Lab ID # Ml9874-4 
Client ID: 4 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: ll/17/15 

Location: Ceiling Tile on Basement Floor 
Sample: Bulk 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Ulocladium 
Cladosporium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Acremonium 
Stachybotrys 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

RCJSCAl~CH 

Some. funliP,, yearn, mnld,:. n.rc not o.hh;. lO bQ ",lent,ficd by mic,os1,:opic,i c1q1mitl"liOl'I. all idcntH1cations arc pr~mpti\iC and l,}Oflfimh'.ltion of spcdlle ,nolds, funiJ~ o, ycut or b111::tcri1:1 ahould be c<>nfvmc:d by 

culturing, Af'l!X Re-search is not responsible fo,-thc strnplc c0Ucc1ion or int~rpn:uu.ion of N..ults. TI1e 1'\\MJlts ate pn::sumpllw and 11maJy1.L::d ro ra/kc1 the- cund1hcms n1 the: momc11 1c11oct with undi,:mondi11s thu1 

re.suits may v1ry with limo and spmcc. 11,c 11boveccn111c11c ofrurnly,u, n:l:ua.• only tQ the sn.mplo, 1c,1c.d o.nd 1n in9,,1re lhc intee.,ity ofru,ults mny only be rep,oduccd i.n run UubUiry lttnitl;(J to cos1 o(;muly1i1. ,.. ' 

''\{• ... •• 

Apu Research L.a.borntories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990. Fax (734) 449- 9991 
Page 4 ofS 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I l lE 
Livonia, Ml 48152 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 1 1/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11 / l 7 /l 5 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-5 
Client ID: 5 
Location: 7th Floor (Drywall N Office) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybotrys 
Ulocladium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Cladosporium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/1 5 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Sumc runjp. ycwua, mofd ,i, nn: not u.blc lo be idcntit1ed by microi,copic cixamimuion, all klc:ntiflcuciona ntc: prc,umptivc and ooneirinadon of spucific mold$. A.1n9i, or _yciut or h:acrcriri 11hopld he continncd hy 

cultunna, APCC k.ci.c:urch iii nol rc!ponsibk: for cllc 1a.rnplc oollcction or inLctprcunlori or rc!lult11 111c. rc.,uhi& Dil'C prc~u1up1ivel a.ntl an,1lyzc:d hl n,:ih:.ot th.; «.mdi1ions t,f 1ho mo n,cn1 testod with u.ndcn.landjna tha1 

1'G!u l11 may vwy w11h 1imc.i and ipacc n1c ubove <;tr1ificntc ofonAly~i,- rcl t1te~ only to the 53.lllplc, tested and 10 inrun: lhc i11lc:{IJ'"it}' ofrctults may only befC1>toduccd In t\ill. Li:lblll1y Jlmltc t.1 10 cost or o.11ulys1i,. . "'' . 
~ ,. 

~f .... ·t .. 

Apex Research La_boratories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991 
Page S ofS 



I 
I 

I 

-

Mold Spore Rating 

- -
Mold Description Interpretation 

Ratin_g 
No Mold Spore, Hyphae, The sample consists of environmental debris that is not 

0 Conidia were detected microscopically idenlified with mold or fungi. 

Trnce amount of mold The sample consists of environmental debris with 
I spores, conidia or hyphae random appearnnces of mold debris. 

uresenl 
Up to 25% of th;-i~atcrial The sample consists of environmental debris V>'ith a 

2 on the bulk samples are noticeable anl(Junt of mold pre~ent. A consistent 
mold spores, conidia 01· 

'hyJ.iliae 
accumulat1011 from a nearby mold source. 

26%-50% of the material The sample consists of environmental debris 
3 on the bulk sample are intermingled \vith mold that may or may not be in a.• 

mold c,pores, conidia or growth phase. 

- - - h,yhae 
51 %•75% of the material The sm;1ple consists ofa mold grO\-vth-Lhat has some 

4 on the bulk sample are environmental debris. 
mold spores, conidia or 
hyphae 
>75% of the material on The sample consi?:ts primt1ri1y of mold or related 

5 lhe bulk sample are mold structures indicating a colony of established mold. 
spores, conidia or hyphac 

- --
Con1n1ents For Mold Bulk Reports 

1. This is a known allergen. 

::?. These arc known allergens. 

3. There is acc;umulation observt.:d in thb sample. 

4. There is an amplilicalion of mold in this sample. 

5. No molcl was observed. 

6. Heavy debris notcd·in sumple. 

7. Cullming required for positive identification. 

8. The presence of fruiting $lructurcs observed in this sampl~ suggests 

possible fungal contamination L>r growth. 

9. Grov,th w:1s oh~erved. 

10. There was a presence of louse fungal spores which can be considered 

.-as bacl,grounJ, most likely in dust accumulations, 





STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

RESOLUTION CONCURRING WITH THE PROVISIONS OF 
A BROWNFIELD PLAN ADOPTED BY THE OAKLAND COUNTY 

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FOR THE 
140 SOUTH SAGINAW STREET 

RE C I T A T I O N S: 

WHEREAS, the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, pursuant to and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, being Act 381 of the Public Acts of the State of 
Michigan of 1996, as amended (the "Act"), have established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and Board 
(OCBRA) to facilitate the clean-up and redevelopment of Brownfields within Oakland County's communities; 
and 

WHEREAS, the property located at 140 South Saginaw (Property), a site in the City of Pontiac is an 
environmental hazard, a "facility' under state statute; and 

WHEREAS, a Brownfield clean-up and redevelopment plan (the "Plan") has been prepared to restore the 
environmental and economic viability to this parcel which the OCBRA has reviewed and approved; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OCBRA by-laws, a local committee has been appointed, participated in 
discussions regarding the proposed plan and project, reviewed the plan, and recommends its approval; and 

WHEREAS, the OCBRA, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 13 of the Act, shall consider 
recommending that the Oakland County Board of Commissioners approve the Brownfield Plan to be carried out 
within the City of Pontiac, relating to the redevelopment of 140 South Saginaw; and 

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed the Plan, and have been provided a reasonable opportunity to 
express their views and recommendations regarding the Plan in accordance with Sections 13(13) of the Act; and 



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the City of Pontiac hereby concurs with the provisions 
of the Plan including approval of the Plan by the Oakland County Board of Commissioners and implementation 

of the Plan by the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT should any section, clause or phrase of this Resolution be declared 
by the courts to be invalid, the same shall not affect the validity of this Resolution as a whole nor any part thereof 

other than the part so declared to be invalid. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any of the 
provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSTENTIONS: 
ABSENT: 

CERTIFICATION 

It is hereby certified that the foregoing Resolution is a true and accurate copy of the Resolution adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Pontiac at a meeting duly called and held on the __ day of November, 2018. 

CITY of PONTIAC 

By: ----------------
Garland Doyle, INTERIM CLERK 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
Department of Building Safety 

PLANNING DIVISION 
47450 Woodward Ave I PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342-5009 

TELEPHONE: (248) 758-2800 I FAX: (248) 758-2827 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

HONORABLE MAYOR, COUNCIL PRESIDENT AND CITY COUNCIL 

VERN GUSTAFSSON - PLANNING MANAGER 
THROUGH THE OFFICE OF DEPUTY MAYOR, JANE BAIS-DISESSA 

CARTER/CITY COUNCIL-MEDICAL MARIHUANA ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT 

JANUARY 31, 2019 

Intent and Purpose 

Amend the Zoning Ordinance to allow Medical Marihuana facilities that have been granted a license from the 
state of Michigan and City of Pontiac to operate in the City pursuant to the Medical Marihuana facilities Licensing 
Act, Act No. 281 of the Public Acts of 2016; to provide standards and procedures to permit and regulate Medical 
Marihuana facilities; and to impose conditions for the operating of Medical Marihuana facilities. 

The purpose of the Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment is to serve and protect the health, safety and 
welfare of the general public and establish a set of rules and regulations which are fair and equitable for those 
interested in establishing a Medical Marihuana facility. 

Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment Recommendations 

At the December 18, 2018 City Council meeting a Carter/City Council Zoning Text Amendment was presented and 
referred this Ordinance to the Planning Commission. The Planning Division prepared an analysis and assessment 
of the Carter/City Council revision. 

On January 30, 2019, the Planning Commission held a Public Hearing on the Carter/City Council-Medical 
Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment and the Commission recommended to deny the Carter/City Council-Medical 
Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment [see following Resolution and attached Ordinance]. 

Carter/City Council-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment 

The Carter/City Council-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment would establish MMODs along a portion of 
Cesar Chavez and Walton Boulevard. The Cesar Chavez Medical Marihuana Overlay District would extend from 
Montcalm Street west to the City limits. The Walton Boulevard Overlay District would extend north of Walton 
Blvd between Telegraph Road and Joslyn and north of Collier Road. The Carter/City Council Amendment also 
includes Downtown Pontiac [C-2 Downtown Mixed-Use zoning district]. 



Resolution 

Whereas, Following Pontiac approval of Proposal 1: City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Facilities Ordinance 
in August 2018, the recount certification on September 12, 2018, and a 90-day moratorium voted 
November 8, 2018; the City prepared a Zoning Text Amendment of City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to 
include uses of Medical Marihuana Facilities within the City of Pontiac; and 

Whereas, In accordance with the procedures outlined in the Zoning Ordinance, Sections 6.802 as it relates 
to Zoning Text Amendments, the request has undergone the required: Technical Review, Public Hearing, 
and Planning Commission Recommendation; and 

Whereas, On January 30, 2019 a Public Hearing was held and the Planning Commission conditionally 
denied the Carter/City Council-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment request to amend the City of 
Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to include uses of Medical Marihuana facilities within the City of Pontiac, and 
the Planning Commission recommends City Council deny the Zoning Text Amendment; and 

Now Therefore, Be It Resolved, That the City Council for the City of Pontiac concurs with the Planning 
Commission recommendation to deny the Carter/City Council Zoning Text Amendment of City of Pontiac 
Zoning Ordinance to include Medical Marihuana facilities within the City of Pontiac. 

2 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
Department of Building Safety 

PLANNING DIVISION 
47450 Woodward Ave I PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342-5009 

TELEPHONE: (248) 758-2800 I FA,-X: (248) 758-2827 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

HONORABLE MAYOR, COUNCIL PRESIDENT AND CITY COUNCIL 

VERN GUSTAFSSON - PLANNING MANAGER 
THROUGH THE OFFICE OF DEPUTY MAYOR, JANE BAIS-DISESSA 

AMEND THE CITY OF PONTIAC ZONING ORDINANCE TO INCLUDE USES OF MEDICAL MARIHUANA 
FACILITIES WITHIN OVERLY DISTRICTS. 

JANUARY 31, 2019 

Intent and Purpose 

Amend the Zoning Ordinance to allow medical marihuana facilities that have been granted a license from the 
state of Michigan and City of Pontiac to operate in the City pursuant to the Medical Marihuana facilities Licensing 
Act, Act No. 281 of the Public Acts of 2016; to provide standards and procedures to permit and regulate Medical 
Marihuana facilities; and to impose conditions for the operating of Medical Marihuana facilities. 

The purpose of the Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment is to serve and protect the health, safety and 
welfare of the general public and establish a set of rules and regulations which are fair and equitable for those 
interested in establishing a Medical Marihuana facility. 

Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment Recommendations 

At the December 18, 2018 City Council meeting a Carter/City Council Zoning Text Amendment was presented and 
referred this Ordinance to the Planning Commission. The Planning Division prepared an analysis and assessment 
of the Carter/City Council revision and prepared a Revised Planning Commission Recommendation-Zoning Text 
Amendment. 

On January 30, 2019, the Planning Commission held a Public Hearing on both Zoning Text Amendments, the 
Planning Commission recommended to deny the Carter/City Council-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment 
and recommended to approve the Revised Planning Commission Recommendation-Medical Marihuana Zoning 
Text Amendment to the City Council [see following Resolution and attached Ordinance]. 

Carter/City Council-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment 

The Carter/City Council-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment would establish MMODs along a portion of 
Cesar Chavez and Walton Boulevard. The Cesar Chavez Medical Marihuana Overlay District would extend from 
Montcalm Street west to the City limits. The Walton Boulevard Overlay District would extend north of Walton 
Blvd between Telegraph Road and Joslyn and north of Collier Road. The Carter/City Council Amendment also 
includes Downtown Pontiac [C-2 Downtown Mixed-Use zoning district]. 



Revised Planning Commission Recommendation-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment 

The Revised Planning Commission Recommendation-Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment would establish 
MMODs along a portion of Cesar Chavez and Walton Boulevard. The Cesar Chavez Overlay District would extend 
from the Kennett Road landfill site to Montcalm Street. The Walton Boulevard Overlay District will extend from 
Telegraph Road to Joslyn Road. Additionally, the Revised Planning Commission Recommendation includes 
Downtown Pontiac [C-2 Downtown Mixed-Use zoning district] and the Silverdome Industrial Park [IP-1 Industrial 
Park zoning district], at the northwest corner of Auburn and Opdyke Roads. 

These MMODs would allow up to twenty (20] approved, licensed Provisioning Centers with no limit on the 
number of licensed Growers, Processors, Secure Transporters, and Safety Compliance facilities. The City would 
allow approved Medical Marihuana facilities to operate within the Overlay Districts on properties zoned C-2 
Downtown Mixed-Use, C-3 Corridor Commercial, IP-1 Industrial Park, M-1 Light Manufacturing, and M-2 Heavy 
Manufacturing zoning Districts. In the C-2 Downtown Mixed-Use zoning District permits no more than three 
Provisioning Centers. All Medical Marihuana uses will require a Special Exception Permit and Site Plan Approval 
from the Pontiac Planning Commission. 

The MMODs are applied over one or more previously established zoning districts, and establishes additional or 
stricter regulations for properties, in addition to those of the underlying zoning districts. The MMOD an effective 
governmental regulatory tool and meets our stated overarching goal of "What is best for Pontiac". 

Resolution 

Whereas, Following Pontiac approval of Proposal 1: City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Facilities Ordinance 
in August 2018, the recount certification on September 12, 2018, and a 90-day moratorium voted 
November 8, 2018; the City prepared a Zoning Text Amendment of City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to 
include uses of Medical Marihuana Facilities within the City of Pontiac; and 

Whereas, In accordance with the procedures outlined in the Zoning Ordinance, Sections 6.802 as it relates 
to Zoning Text Amendments, the request has undergone the required: Technical Review, Public Hearing, 
and Planning Commission Recommendation; and 

Whereas, On January 30, 2019 a Public Hearing was held and the Planning Commission conditionally 
approved the Zoning Text Amendment request to amend the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to include 
uses of medical marihuana facilities within the City of Pontiac, and the Planning Commission recommends 
City Council approve the Zoning Text Amendment; and 

Whereas, Pursuant to Pontiac City Charter Provision 3.112(e], this is an EMERGENCY ORDINANCE to 
regulate the proliferation of medical marihuana facilities within the City of Pontiac and thereby ensure 
the health and safety of its residents, and shall be given immediate effect; and 

Now Therefore, Be It Resolved, That the City Council for the City of Pontiac approve the Planning 
Commission recommendation for the Zoning Text Amendment of City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance to 
include medical marihuana facilities within the City of Pontiac. 

2 



Revised Planning Commission Recommendation 
Medical Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF PONTIAC ZONING ORDINANCE TO INCLUDE USES OF MEDICAL 
MARIHUANA FACILITIES IN DESIGNATED OVERLAY DISTRICTS. 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

Amend Article 2 Chapters 1 and 2 Section 2.101 Table 1 and Section 2.203 Table 2 Zoning Districts is 

amended to add: 

Abbreviation General Zoning Districts Abbreviation Special Purpose Zoning 
Districts 

To Remain The To Remain The Same -- --
Same -- --

MMOD Medical Marihuana 
Overlay District 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 2 - Section 2.203 Table 2 (Uses Permitted By District) 

Commercial, Office, and Service Uses 

Residential Industrial 
Commercial Districts 

Districts Districts 

R-1 R-2 R-3 C-0 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 IP-1 

Section 
Medical Marihuana Grower 0 0 0 

2.544 

Section 
Medical Marihuana Processor 0 0 0 

2.545 

Medical Marihuana Provisioning Section 
0 0 0 0 0 

2.546 Centers 

Medical Marihuana Safety Section 
0 0 0 0 0 

Compliance Facility 2.547 

Medical Marihuana Secure Section 
0 0 0 0 0 

Transporter 2.548 

o = Permitted by Special Exemption 



Article 2 Chapter 5 - Development Standards for Specific Uses is amended to add Sections 2.544, 

2.545, 2.546, 2.547, and 2.548 as follows: 

Section 2.544 - Medical Marihuana Grower Facilities 

Grower means a commercial entity that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and packages marihuana for 

sale to a processor or provisioning center. As used in this ordinance, grower shall include Class A 

growers, Class B growers, and Class C growers. 

1. Class A grower means a grower license to grow not more than 500 marihuana 

plants. 

2. Class B grower means a grower licensed to grow not more than 1,000 

marihuana plants. 

3. Class C grower means a grower licensed to grow not more than 1,500 

marihuana plants. 

A. General Provisions 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be 

prohibited on the premises of a Medical Marihuana Grower Facility, and a sign 

shall be posted on the premises of each facility indicating that consumption is 

prohibited on the premises; 

2. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by 

City investigators during the stated hours of operation and as such other times 

as anyone is present on the premises 

3. All activity related to the Medical Marihuana growing shall be done indoors; 

4. Any Medical Marihuana Grower Facility shall maintain a log book and/or 

database identifying by date the amount of Medical Marihuana and the number 

of Medical Marihuana plants on the premises which shall not exceed the 

amount permitted under the Grower License issued by the State of Michigan. 

This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that the 

Medical Marihuana Grower does not have more Medical Marihuana than 

authorized at the location and shall not be used to disclose more information 

than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful amount of Medical Marihuana 

at the Facility; 

5. The Medical Marihuana Grower Facility shall comply at all times and in all 

circumstances with the MMMA, MM FLA, and the general rules of the 

department of licensing and regulatory affairs, as they may be amended from 

time to time. 

B. Security 

1. Medical Marihuana Grower Facility shall continuously monitor the entire 

premises on which they are operated with surveillance systems that include 

security cameras that operate 24- hours a day, 7-days a week. The video 

recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site location for a period of 30 

days, and must be coordinated with the O.C. Sherriff Department; 

2. Any usable Medical Marihuana remaining on the premises of a Medical 

Marihuana Grower while the Medical Marihuana Facility is not in operation shall 

be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the premises; 

2 



3. All Medical Marihuana shall be contained within the building in an enclosed, 

locked Facility in accordance with the MMMA and MMFLA, as amended; 

C. Nuisance Prohibited 
1. Medical Marihuana Grower Facilities shall be free from infestation by insects, 

rodents, birds, or vermin or any kind; 

2. Medical Marihuana Grower Facilities shall produce no products other than 

useable Medical Marihuana intended for human consumption; and 

3. No Medical Marihuana Grower shall be operated in a manner creating noise, 

dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the 

boundaries of the property on which the Medical Marihuana Grower is 

operated. 

D. Licensing 

1. The license required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed on the 
premises of a Medical Marihuana Grower Facility 

H. Co-Location 

1. There shall be no other accessory uses permitted within the same facility other 

than those associated with a Processor and Provisioning Center. 

3 



Section 2.545 - Medical Marihuana Processor 

Processor means a commercial entity that purchases marihuana from a grower and that extracts resin 

from the marihuana or creates a Marihuana-infused product for sale and transfer in packaged form to a 

Provisioning Center. 

A. General Provisions 

1. The Processor shall comply at all times and in all circumstances with the MMA, 
MMFLA, and the general rules of the department of licensing and regulatory 

affairs, as they may be amended from time to time; 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be 

prohibited on the premises of Medical Marihuana Processor, and a sign shall be 

posted on the premises of each Medical Marihuana Processor indicating that 

consumption is prohibited on the premises; 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by 

City investigators during the stated hours of operation and as such other times 

as anyone is present on the premises 

4. Any Processor Facility shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by 

date the amount of Medical Marihuana and the number of Medical Marihuana 

plants on the premises which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the 

Processor license issued by the State of Michigan. This log shall be available to 

law enforcement personnel to confirm that the Processor does not have more 

Medical Marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not be used to 

disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

amount of Medical Marihuana at the Facility; 

5. Processor Facilities shall produce no products other than useable Medical 

Marihuana intended for human consumption. 

B. Security 

1. Medical Marihuana Processor Facility shall continuously monitor the entire 

premises on which they are operated with surveillance systems that include 

security cameras that operate 24- hours a day, 7-days a week. The video 

recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site location for a period of 30 

days, and must be coordinated with the O.C. Sherriff Department; 

2. Any usable Medical Marihuana remaining on the premises of a Medical 

Marihuana Processor while the Medical Marihuana Facility is not in operation 

shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the premises; 

3. All Medical Marihuana shall be contained within the building in an enclosed, 

locked Facility in accordance with the MMMA and MMFLA, as amended. 

C. Nuisance Prohibited 

1. Processor Facilities shall be free from infestation by insects, rodents, birds, or 

vermin or any kind; 

2. No Medical Marihuana Processor shall be operated in a manner creating noise, 

dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the 

boundaries of the property on which the Medical Marihuana Processor is 

operated. 

4 



H. Co-Location 

1. There shall be no other accessory uses permitted within the same Facility other 

than those associated with a Grower and Provisioning Center; 

2. The dispensing of Medical Marihuana at the Processor Facility shall be 

prohibited. 

5 



Section 2.546 - Medical Marihuana Provisioning Center 

Provisioning Center means a commercial entity that purchases marihuana from a grower or 

Processor and sells, supplies, or provides marihuana to registered qualifying patients, directly or 

through the patients' registered primary caregivers. Provisioning Center includes any commercial 

property where marihuana is sold at retail to registered, qualifying patients or registered primary 

caregivers. A noncommercial location used by a primary caregiver to assist a qualifying patient 

connected to the caregiver through the department's marihuana registration process in accordance 

with the MMMA is not a Provisioning Center for the purposes of this ordinance. 

A. General Provisions 

1. Medical marihuana Provisioning Centers shall be closed for business, and no 

sale or other distribution of marihuana in any form shall occur upon the 

premises between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be 

prohibited on the premises of a Medical Marihuana Provisioning Center, and a 

sign shall be posted on the premises of each Medical Marihuana Provisioning 

Center indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises; 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by 

City investigators during the stated hours of operation and as such other times 

as anyone is present on the premises. 

B. Security 

1. Medical Marihuana Provisioning Centers shall continuously monitor the entire 

premises on which they are operated with surveillance systems that include 

security cameras that operate 24- hours a day, 7-days a week. The video 

recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site location for a period of 30 

days, and must be coordinated with the O.C. Sherriff Department; 

2. Any usable Medical Marihuana remaining on the premises of a Medical 

Marihuana Provisioning Center while the Medical Marihuana Provisioning 

Center is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

C. Drive-through 

1. Drive-through windows on the premises of a Medical Marihuana Provisioning 

Center shall not be permitted. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited 

1. No Medical Marihuana Provisioning Center shall be operated in a manner 

creating noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal 

senses beyond the boundaries of the property on which the Medical Marihuana 

Provisioning Center is operated. 

E. Co-Location 

1. There shall be no other accessory uses permitted within the same Facility other 

than those associated with a Grower and Processor. 

6 



Section 2.547 - Medical Marihuana Safety Compliance Facilities 

Safety compliance facility means a commercial entity that receives marihuana from a medical marihuana 

facility or registered primary caregiver, tests it for contaminants and for tetrahydrocannabinol and other 

cannabinoids, returns the test results, and may return the marihuana to a medical marihuana facility. 

A. General Provisions 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be 

prohibited on the premises of a Medical Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility, 

and a sign shall be posted on the premises of each Medical Marihuana Safety 

Compliance Facility indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises; 

2. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by 

City investigators during the stated hours of operation and as such other times 

as anyone is present on the premises; 

3. Any Safety Compliance Facility shall maintain a log book and/or database 

identifying by date the amount of Medical Marihuana on the premises and from 

which particular source. The Facility shall maintain the confidentiality of 

qualifying patients in compliance with the Michigan Medical Marihuana Act, as 

amended. 

B. Security 

1. Medical Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility shall continuously monitor the 

entire premises on which they are operated with surveillance systems that 

include security cameras that operate 24- hours a day, 7-days a week. The video 
recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site location for a period of 30 

days, and must be coordinated with the O.C. Sherriff Department; 

2. Any usable Medical Marihuana remaining on the premises of a Medical 

Marihuana Safety Compliance while the Medical Marihuana Safety Compliance 

Facility is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises; 

3. All Medical Marihuana shall be contained within the building in an enclosed, 

locked Facility in accordance with the MMMA and MM FLA, as amended. 

C. Nuisance Prohibited 

1. No Medical Marihuana Safety Compliance shall be operated in a manner 

creating noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal 

senses beyond the boundaries of the property on which the Medical Marihuana 
Safety Compliance is operated. 

7 



Section 2.548 - Medical Marihuana Secure Transporter 

Secure Transporter means a commercial entity located in this state that stores marihuana and 

transports marihuana between medical marihuana facilities for a fee. A Secure Transporter shall comply 

at all times with the Michigan Medical Marihuana Act, the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act, 

the Marihuana Tracking Act and the general rules of the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs. 

A. General Provisions 

1. Consumption and or use of marihuana shall be prohibited at a facility of a 

Secure Transporter; 

2. A vehicle used by a Secure Transporter is subject to administrative inspection by 

a law enforcement officer at any point during the transportation of medical 

marihuana to determine compliance with all state and local laws, rules, 
regulations and ordinances; 

3. A Secure Transporter licensee and each stakeholder shall not have an interest in 

a Growing, Processor, Provisioning Center, or Safety Compliance Facility and 

shall not be a registered qualifying patient or a registered primary caregiver. 

4. A Secure Transporter shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the state into the statewide monitoring system as 

required by law. 

B. Secure Storage 

1. Storage of medical marihuana by a Secure Transporter shall comply with the 

following: 

• The storage facility shall not be used for any other commercial purpose. 

• The storage facility shall not be open or accessible to the general public. 

• The storage facility shall be maintained and operated so as to comply 

with all state and local rules, regulations and ordinance. 

2. All marihuana stored within the facility shall be stored within enclosed locked 

facilities in accordance with the MMMA as amended. 

3. Onsite storage of vehicles is prohibited, except for secure transport vehicles. 

C. Sanitation 

1. All persons working in direct contact with marihuana being stored by a Secure 

Transporter shall conform to hygienic practices while on duty, including but not 
limited to: 

• Maintaining adequate personal cleanliness; 

• Washing hands thoroughly inadequate hand washing areas before 

starting work and at any other time when the hands may have become 

soiled or contaminated; 

• Refrain from having direct contact with marihuana if the person has or 

may have an illness, open lesion, including boils, sores or infected 

wounds, or any other abnormal source of microbial contamination, until 
the condition is corrected. 

8 



E. Transport Driver 

1. A Secure Transporter shall comply with all of the following: 

• Each driver transporting marihuana must have a chauffeur's license 

issued by the state; 

@ Each employee who has custody of marihuana or money that is related 

to a marihuana transaction shall not have been convicted of or released 

from incarceration for a felony under the laws of this state, any other 

state, or the United States within the past five (5) years; 

@ Each vehicle shall be operated with a two person crew with at least one 

individual remaining with the vehicle at all times during the 

transportation of marihuana. 

2. A route plan and manifest shall be entered into the statewide monitoring 

system, and a copy shall be carried in the transporting vehicle and presented to 

a law enforcement officer upon request; 

3. The medical marihuana shall be transported by one or more sealed containers 
and not be accessible while in transit; 

4. A secure transporting vehicle shall not bear markings or other indication that it 

is carrying medical marihuana or a marihuana infused product. 

9 



Article 3- Special Purposes - Zoning District is amended to add Chapter 11 as follows: 

Chapter 11 - Medical Marihuana Overlay District 

Section 3.1101 Intent 

The purpose of the Medical Marihuana Overlay District (MMOD} is to provide for the placement of 

Medical Marihuana related uses as authorized pursuant to MMFLA state regulations, with a goal of 

minimizing potential adverse impacts on adjacent property owners, neighborhoods, and the City. 

Section 3.1102 Medical Marihuana Overlay District Permitted Uses 

The following uses are permitted in the Medical Marihuana Overlay District, provided the development 

also meets the Design & Building Standards set forth in Section 3.11010 of this ordinance. 

1. Provisioning Center 

2. Safety Compliance Facility 

3. Secure Transporter 

4. Grower 

5. Processor 

Section 3.1103 Uses Requiring Planning Commission Special Exception Permit 

All permitted uses of the Medical Marihuana Overlay District are subject to Planning Commission 

approval, the Standards for Approval of Section 6.303 for Special Exception Permits, and the Use 

Standards of the Zoning Ordinance for those specific uses. 

Section 3.1104 Criteria for Special Exemption Approval 

For consideration of Medical Marihuana uses in the overly districts, the Planning Commission in 

compliance with the State of Michigan and Oakland County, may utilize the following criteria to determine 

the compliance of the petition with the Michigan Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act & the local Medical 

Marihuana Zoning Ordinance. 

1. The proposed plan development is submitted with an approved Economic Development Plan 

2. The development of the proposed Medical Marihuana facilities with minimal impact to 

Residential Neighborhoods and surround community. 

3. The proposed facility provides easy access for patients and accessible parking. 

4. The Medical Marihuana facilities must be located in an approved Medical Marihuana Overlay 

district area. 

5. Property is adequately served by utilities with sufficient capacity. 

6. Corridors & streets have the capacity to accommodate potential increases in traffic volumes. 

7. The proposed plan of the petitioner supports a safe and security environment, and upholds the 

public welfare of the community. 

8. The petition does not add unintended or impromptu cost to City and municipal services. 

9. Petitioner's proposed plan indicated collaborative with Public services, i.e. Waterford Fire 

Department, Oakland County Sherriff Department, and Building & Safety Department. 

10. Proposed development plan complies with Section 6.303 Standards for Approval in the Pontiac 

Zoning Ordinance. 

10 



Section 3.1105 licensing 

1. The license required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed on the 
premises of a Medical Marihuana Provisioning Center; 

2. All registered patients must present both their Michigan Medical Marihuana 
patient/caregiver ID card and Michigan state ID prior to entering 
restricted/limited areas or nonpublic areas of the Medical Marihuana 
Provisioning Center. 

3. All operators of medical marihuana facilities must acquire a State of Michigan & 
City of Pontiac License. 

4. All operators of Medical Marihuana Facility state licenses must display them in a 
public common area, or area easily visible from inspectors and city officials. 

Section 3.1106 Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts 

Medical Marihuana Overlay District boundaries are established in the Medical Marihuana Overlay 

District Map (See Figure 21.) in Section 7.301. The certified Medical Marihuana Overlay District Maps 

may be a single sheet or composed of several map sheets, and shall be kept on display in the building 

official's office. Medical Marihuana uses are strictly permitted in the following identified Medical 

Marihuana Overlay Districts. (See Article 7, Chapter 3) 

1. Cesar Chavez Corridor 

2. Silverdome Industrial Park 

3. Walton Blvd 
4. Downtown Pontiac Corridor 

a. In the C-2 District, no more than 3 Provisioning Centers are permitted. 

Section 3.1107 MMOD Buffer Distance Restrictions 

1. The proximity of the proposed medical marihuana facility shall be not less than; 

A. 1,000 feet from an operational public or private school 

B. 500 feet from an operational commercial childcare organization (non

home occupation) that is licensed or registered with the State of 

Michigan Department of Health and Human Services or Its successor 

agency, a public park with playground equipment. 

C. 500 feet from a religious institution that is defined as tax exempt by the 

Oakland County Assessor. 

2. Such distance between the school, childcare center, public park, or religious 

institution and the contemplated location shall be measured along the 

centerline of the street or streets of address between two fixed points on the 

centerline determined by projecting straight lines, at right angles to the 

centerline, from the primary point of ingress to the school, childcare center, or 

religious institution, or from the playground equipment in a public pack, and 

from the primary point of ingress to the medical marihuana facility along the 

centerline to the primary site entrance driveway. 

11 



Section 3.1108 Co-Location 

1. A maximum of two medical marihuana facilities with state operating licenses 

may co-locate on a single parcel; 

2. No two medical marihuana facilities of the same type may be located on the 

same parcel, except where permitted by the MM FLA; 

3. Consistent with the MMFLA, any combination of Grower, Processing, and 

Provisioning Centers may operate as separate medical marihuana facilities in 

a single physical location. 

A. Provided that the Provisioning Center is incidental to the principal use 

and that the total amount of internal floor areas of the structure devoted 

to the Provisioning Center does not exceed 20% of the floor area of the 

total establishment. 

Section 3.1109 Space Separation 

1. Unless permitted by the MMMA, public or non-public areas of the Medical 

Marihuana Provisioning Center must be separated from restricted or non

public areas of the Provisioning Center by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MMMA, no Medical Marihuana is permitted to be 

stored or displayed in an area accessible to the general public; 

3. Medical Marihuana may be displayed in a sales area only if permitted by the 

MMMA. 

Section 3.11010 Building Design, Area, Height, Bulk, & Placement 

1. Building and design improvements must comply with the underlying zoning 

requirements for Article 2, Chapter 4 Private Frontage Deign Standards and 

the Specific Uses Development Standards outlined in Article 2, Chapter 5. 

2. Floors, walls and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they 

may adequately cleaned and kept clean and in good repair; 

3. Any buildings, fixtures and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary 

condition; 

4. All necessary building, electrical plumbing and mechanical permits shall be 

obtained for any portion of the structure in which electrical wiring, lighting 

and/or watering devices that support the cultivation, growing or harvesting 
of marihuana are located. 

5. If the provisions of the MMOD are silent on building and design 

requirements, the requirements of the underlying district shall apply. 

6. If the building and design requirements of the MMOD conflict with the 

requirements of the underlying district, then the building and design 

requirements of the MMOD shall supersede the underlying district 

regulations. 

7. Odor shall be managed through the installation of activated carbon filters 

on exhaust outlets to the building exterior from any rooms used for 

production, processing, testing, research, and warehousing. Negative air 

12 



pressure shall be maintained within the rooms. Exhaust outlets shall be a 

minimum of 25 ft. from a property line. 

8. An alternative odor control system may be approved by the building official 

based on a report by a registered mechanical engineer licensed by the State 

of Michigan, demonstrating that the alternative system will control odor 

equally or better than the required activated carbon filtration system. 

9. Generators must be installed to operate the air filter systems in case of 

power outage or failure. 

10. Exterior site lighting must be installed in site parking areas, egress, and 

ingress areas. Lighting must be compliant with Article 4, Chapter 5 of the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

Section 3.11011 Disposal Of Waste 

1. Disposal of Medical Marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that 

prevents its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess it and 

otherwise in conformance with State law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for 

waste disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the 

City so that they do not constitute a source of contamination in areas where 

medical marihuana is exposed; 

3. That portion of the structure where the storage of any chemicals such as 

herbicides, pesticides, and fertilizers shall be subject to inspection and 

approval by the local Fire Department to ensure compliance with the 

Michigan Fire Protection Code. 

Section 3.11012 Signage 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws 

or regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, 

deceptive, or false, or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of 

LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf or the 

medical "green" cross symbol in any exterior building signage. 

a. The following sign language is not permitted in the MMOD; 

Marihuana/Marijuana, Cannabis, or any other word/phrase with 

similar likeness. 

4. No licensed Medical Marihuana Grower shall place or maintain, or cause to 

be placed or maintained, an advertisement of medical marihuana in any form 

or through any medium: 

a. Within one thousand feet of the real property comprising a 

public or private elementary, vocational or secondary school. 

b. Within one hundred feet of a public or private youth center, 

public swimming pool or a church or other structure in which 

religious services are conducted. 

13 



Section 3.11013 Review Authority & Establishment 

1. The Planning Commission shall be the Special Exception and Site Plan Review 

Authority for the Medical Marihuana uses in the Medical Marihuana Overlay 

Districts; 

2. A Special Exception Permit for medical marihuana uses require Public Notice 

of 500 ft. from the proposed medical marihuana Facility; 

3. All Medical Marihuana uses must be in accordance with the Special 

Exemption Permit Review Standards outlined in Article 6, Chapter 3 the 

Zoning Ordinance; 

4. All Medical Marihuana uses must be in accordance with all applicable 

General Provisions Standards outlined in Article 4 the Zoning Ordinance; 

5. Within the MMOD all requirements of the underlying districts remain in 

effect, except where these regulations provide an alternative to such 
requirements. 

14 



Article 7 - Definitions is amended to add Chapter 2, and Chapter 3 as follows: 

Article 7 - Definitions I Chapter 2 

Section 7.202 Commercial, Office, and Service Uses 

A. Provisioning Center means a commercial entity that purchases marihuana from 

a grower or processor and sells, supplies, or provides marihuana to registered 

qualifying patients, directly or through the patients' registered primary 

caregivers. Provisioning center includes any commercial property where 

marihuana is sold at retail to registered, qualifying patients or registered 

primary caregivers. 

® A noncommercial location used by a primary caregiver to assist a 

qualifying patient connected to the caregiver through the department's 

marihuana registration process in accordance with the MMMA is not a 

provisioning center for purposes of this ordinance. 

B. Safety Compliance Facility means a commercial entity that receives marihuana 

from a medical marihuana facility or registered primary caregiver, tests it for 

contaminants and for tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, returns the 

test results, and may return the marihuana to the medical marihuana facility. 

C. Secure Transporter means a commercial entity located in this state that stores 

marihuana and transports marihuana between medical marihuana facilities for a 

fee. 

Section 7.203 Industrial Uses 

A. Grower means a commercial entity that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and 

packages marihuana for sale to a processor or provisioning center. As. used in 

this ordinance, grower shall include Class A growers, Class B growers, and Class 

C growers. 

® Class A grower means a grower license to grow not more than 500 

marihuana plants. 

® Class B grower means a grower licensed to grow not more than 1,000 

marihuana plants. 

® Class C grower means a grower licensed to grow not more than 1,500 

plants. 

B. Processor means a commercial entity that purchases marihuana from a grower 

and that extracts resin from the marihuana or creates a Marihuana-infused 

product for sale and transfer in packaged form to a provisioning center. 

15 



Article 7 - Definitions I Chapter 3 

Section 7.301 General Definitions 

A. Cesar Chavez Medical Marihuana Overlay District (See Figure 19. Cesar Chavez 

Medical Marihuana Overlay District) 

B. Downtown Medical Marihuana Overlay District (See Figure 20. Downtown 

Medical Marihuana Overlay District) 

C. Medical Marihuana Overlay District Map indicates all areas within the City of 

Pontiac where Medical Marihuana Facilities are permitted. (See Figure 21. 

Medical Marihuana Overlay District Map) 

D. Medical Marihuana Facility means a location at which a grower, processor. 

Provisioning center, secure transporter, or safety compliance facility is licensed 

to operate under the MM FLA. 

E. MMFLA means the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act, Act No. 281 of 

the Public Acts of 2016, being sections 333.27101 to 333.27801 of the Michigan 

Compiled Laws. 

F. MMMA means the Michigan Medical Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2008, 

being sections 333.26421 to 333.26430 of the Michigan Compiled Laws. 

G. Silverdome Industrial Park Medical Marihuana Overlay District (See Figure 22. 

Silverdome Industrial Park Medical Marihuana Overlay District) 

H. Walton Blvd. Medical Marihuana Overlay District (See Figure 23. Walton 

Medical Marihuana Overlay District) 

**To be amended in alphabetical order** 

16 



\ 

\ 

--0 0047!10095 

\ 

---Wti 0)~ 

E 
1 
E 
5 

Kennon 

(/'/ 
CJ 
el 
~ 
5 

CQ1umh1n 

i 
I:'. ~ .:! 

C 
i:). It, l( ,'l, f .J 

:":I 

:!: 

i 
Cl) 
':J 

(Figure 19. Cesar Chavez Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts) 

;c 

i 
(II 

~ 
:, 

ti> 
61 
i 
,,c 

17 



Matth ws tti 
0. 

~# 
\ 

Stf"IJh Cl l~ fa.rgro'l'o 
Q, '5 

bf'/s 

"# ~ ... ~ C', 

C'¾ $' Sr 
~ >< .,.,_ 

~'I). 

~" ~ 9-
~~ W~dward \ ~ 

\. 
oi 

i 
~ i~ If 

~ ,..s-<>' :,,'½>-
'C 

\, 1'a1ril 'ti ~\i ., I';) \)f''~e; 
~ 4 

f, ,(\ I.;~ 

,o,, ,;(\8 ',j\Ji~(f,t\ 

~ C 
:, Meci1ot'ue l ~ b .,, I 

2 ;:) 
I .§ ~ 

\-\1.lfOl'I !I ~ 
Staie~ 

. 
\\{'\QC\ 

\:.,, .. ,.cr-"ce 

~ ~\'!'.C \[llaV•f -i-=-
~ 
ui C' '"" s i I).) 

L.OfT81!\ c8 Ot•-~rd L.al<,e Auburn 
(D 

\ ~ 
Ju!,lSOll 

Elizabcll'> \ ;::, 

~,,'l> \I' 0. 

ys'l> J ,~n 
w1,11\em01'.c 

\ ~~ ~ ~ wess~n ,. ~e~,:;. ii 
" 

\ 1$ 
CQ1tage 1; 0 

:::, 

~- ~ 
'< 

CP iii Pari,; w 
ig_ <--?. 

'< 

s. ~ 
C) 'o Osmun 
ii 
::i He$S ~ E ~\)'o'(\ 

-n 
~ \ t:! g (!) :r ,1rl( 

Wilrn r ~ 

-- "' "' ~,,,.f 
,1 00J~ 001 0 1~ 021 0 :.'e ~ 

(Figure 20. Downtown Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts) 

18 



\ 
I 
{ 
~ 

I 
I 
I 

~"''•""· 

\ 

,, 
~'1. 

... , 
"!a I f t r 

/ "'· .. 
H-lt 

'.J 1 

0-t~~--"' 
' .. 

i 
! 

,,.~ t 
✓.., 

rJ" 

--•Md" 
I • 11:i, 

.,..,.,. 
'l 

\ 
j 

... ' 

-- /(I 
,i• 

\ 
~ ... 

I 
t 

? 
"' 

--

(Figure 21. Medical Marihuana Overlay District Map) 

l 
I 
I 

Au"""'-'.,. 

•-LA•IIO 

19 



~ 
< 

i 
M1ch1gnn 

~ 
l:i 
h.i 

~ &. 
~ p,\-.e 

VJtl1tternore 

:0 G 
C. :Ii 
~ Q 

"" 
Q 

Cottoge 

--<l O OJ75007!1 01!1 

:c q 
~ 

II/. 
a. 

M59 

m 
l}1 
i 
Q) 
'< 

Q) 

'u 
,J 
GJ 
C) 

~ 
B 

___ t,t,, .. 

03 

i .,. 
:, 
'tl 
.E 

t: 
LI 

'P ... 
~ 
(/) 

Aut;urn 

HenthcrwOOd 

(Figure 22. Silverdome lndustrlal Park Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts) 

I 
I 
I 
I 

I I 

o· 
'&.1 
~I n, 

I 

I 
I I 

I I 

I I 
I 

20 



p1a,µooa 
pw:>uo::, 

41 Bellniom 
r Alpine 

! 16 

fj 

I 

& 
i z 

~ 
I 

:, 
-J 

~ 
~ 

8 
POOfMttCH 

() 1 ~ 
i= t u z 

Price 
f, 
% 
~ 

Baldwm 

"P 
r.i 
QJ 
& 
IJ) 

I 
c? 

Carhs'e 

~ I 
$ C c.-, 

s ...... , ;i I : 
Mcsdo1 , .

o •~c Ch rryiawn I! 
0 

CI0'-101 IO 

(Figure 23. Walton Blvd. Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts) 

21 



Pursuant to Pontiac City Charter Provision 3.112(e), this is an EMERGENCY ORDINANCE to regulate the 

proliferation of medical marihuana facilities within the City of Pontiac and thereby ensure the health 

and safety of its residents, and shall be given immediate effect. 

ADOPTED, APPROVED AND PASSED by the City Council of the City of Pontiac this ___ day of 
_ ____ __, 2018. 

Deirdre Waterman, Mayor 

Garland Doyle, Interim City Clerk 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of the Ordinance as passed by the City Council on the 
_ __ day of ______ __, 2018. 

Garland Doyle, Interim City Clerk 

I further certify that the foregoing was published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of 

Pontiac in a manner consistent with the Charter of the City of Pontiac. 

Garland Doyle, Interim City Clerk 

22 



RESOLUTION 
#9 



Information 
Forthcoming 



RESOLUTION 

#10 



WHEREAS, 

WHEREAS, 

Pontiac City Council Resolution 

Revenue and Expenditure reports are provided to the finance subcommittee monthly; and, 

it is in the best interest of the Pontiac City Council body as a whole, to have an opportunity to 
address any issues or concerns that may arise as it relates to expenditures; and, 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Mayor will provide the monthly check register for the prior 
month, to Lhe City Clerk, to be included in the Pontiac City Council Agenda, the first meeting of each month, 

commencing with the March 5, 2019 Agenda. 


	20190201123418202
	20190201123455933
	20190201123557586
	20190201123932426
	20190201124108891
	20190201124225469
	20190201124329898
	20190201124450647



